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People
are pillars ... 
A caryatid is a sculpted female figure serving as an architectural support 
in the form of the column or a pillar supporting an entablature on her head. The Greek 
term karyatides literally means “maidens of Karyai”, an ancient town of Peloponnese. 
Karyai had a famous temple dedicated to the goddess Artemis in her aspect of Artemis 
Karyatis: “As Karyatis she rejoiced in the dances of the nut-tree village of Karyai, 
those Karyatides, who in their ecstatic round-dance carried on their heads baskets 
of live reeds, as if they were dancing plants”.

The best-known and most-copied examples are those of the six figures of the 
Caryatid Porch of the Erechtheion on the Acropolis at Athens (421–407 BC). 
Although of the same height and build, and similarly attired and coiffed, the six 
Caryatids are not the same: their faces, stance, draping, and hair are carved 
separately; the three on the left stand on their right foot, while the three on the 
right stand on their left foot. Their bulky, intricately arranged hairstyles serve 
the crucial purpose of providing static support to their necks, which would 
otherwise be the thinnest and structurally weakest part.

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Entablature
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Greek_language
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Karyes
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Peloponnese
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Artemis
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Caryatis
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Porch
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Erechtheion
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Acropolis,_Athens
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MANAGEMENT’S STATEMENT
OF RESPONSIBILITY

The Management Board confirms that the Annual Report of Triglav Re d.d. with all its components is written in accordance 
with the Companies Act and International Financial Reporting Standards.The Management is responsible for preparing the 
annual report so that it gives a true and fair view of the Company’s financial position and its operating results for the year 
ended 31 December 2015.

The Management Board also confirms that the appropriate accounting policies have been consistently applied and that 
accounting estimates have been prepared with due care and diligence. Furthermore, the Management Board affirms that 
the financial statements together with related notes have been prepared on the basis of the assumption on further operating 
activities of the Company and in accordance with the applicable law and International Accounting Standards.

The Management is also responsible for keeping proper and adequate accounting, for taking reasonable asset protection 
measures and measures for prevention and detection of fraud and irregularities.

The tax authorities may at any time within five (5) years from the date on which the tax was charged, check the Company’s 
operations, which may result in additional tax liabilities, interest on arrears, penalties from corporate income tax or other taxes 
and duties. The Management Board further states that they are not aware of any circumstances which may give rise to any 
potential material liability in this respect.

Ljubljana, 13 March 2016

Member of the 
Management Board
Stanislav VRTUNSKI

President of the
Management Board
Gregor STRAŽAR, MBA 
(Econ) 

Member of the 
Management 
Board
Tomaž ROTAR
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MANAGEMENT’S STATEMENT OF 
RESPONSIBILITY

The Management Board confirms that the Annual Report of Triglav Re d.d. with all its components is written in accordance with 
the Companies Act and International Financial Reporting Standards.

The Management is responsible for preparing the annual report so that it gives a true and fair view of the Company’s financial 
position and its operating results for the year ended 31 December 2014.

The Management Board also confirms that the appropriate accounting policies have been consistently applied and that ac-
counting estimates have been prepared with due care and diligence. Furthermore, the Management Board affirms that the finan-
cial statements together with related notes have been prepared on the basis of the assumption on further operating activities 
of the Company and in accordance with the applicable law and International Accounting Standards.

The Management is also responsible for keeping proper and adequate accounting, for taking reasonable asset protection mea-
sures and measures for prevention and detection of fraud and irregularities.

The tax authorities may at any time within five (5) years from the date on which the tax was charged, check the Company’s 
operations, which may result in additional tax liabilities, interest on arrears, penalties from corporate income tax or other taxes 
and duties. The Management Board further states that they are not aware of any circumstances which may give rise to any 
potential material liability in this respect.

 

Ljubljana, 13 March 2015

Member of the 
Management Board
Stanislav VRTUNSKI

President of the
Management Board
Gregor STRAŽAR, MBA (Econ) 

Member of the 
Management Board
Tomaž ROTAR
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Our company’s building made by the 
world famous Slovenian architect Jože 

Plečnik with people statues visualy 
supporting the roof.
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OPERATING PERFORMANCE    
AND EVENTS IN 2015

1.1 Financial highlights of Triglav Re

1.2	 Significant	events	in	2015
 
JUNE
After fulfilling the regulatory requirements and other conditions specified in the contract for sale of 
shares of 19 December 2014, Triglav INT, a subsidiary in the Triglav Group, sold on 4 June 2015 the 
Czech insurance company Triglav Pojišt’ovna a.s., Brno to VIGO Finance a.s., Prague, which is a 
part of the VIGO Investments Group.

JULY
At the regular annual review in July 2015, the credit rating agency Standard & Poor’s Ratings 
Services confirmed the existing long-term credit rating “A -” (positive) and financial strength rating 
“A -” (positive) to Zavarovalnica Triglav d.d. and its subsidiary Triglav Re, and thus to the whole 
Triglav Group. The Agency has upgraded the medium-term outlook from stable to positive for both 
companies.

OCTOBER
At the regular annual review on 16 October 2015, the credit rating agency A. M. Best again granted 
the financial strength rating “A -” (positive) and the credit rating of the issuer’s creditworthiness “A 
-” (positive) and thus confirmed the key role and preformance of Triglav Re in the implementation of 
strategic objectives of the Triglav Group. Both ratings have a stable medium-term outlook.

012345678910111213

in EUR

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014 INDEX

Gross reinsurance premium written 116,839,911 105,198,717 111
Gross claims paid 56,982,465 50,526,261 113

Gross operating expenses* 3,117,791 2,868,277 109
Technical provisions 141,588,235 139,034,656 102
Equity 75,557,215 68,170,304 111
Net profit 10,108,076 7,544,759 134

Number of employees at the year-end 46 45 102

*Gross operating expenses by functional groups
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1.3	 Significant	events	after	the	end	of	2015

After the end of 2015, there were no significant events that could affect the Company’s performance.

1.4	 Address	by	the	President	of	the	Management	Board

Dear Friends,

Faced again with challenging business environment in 2015, we focused on the Company’s quality 
and efficiency, made every effort to increase the profit and to control the costs, and thereby maintaining 
the Company’s reliable performance. Taking into account the achieved results, I can safely say that 
the year 2015 was another successful year for Triglav Re. The year finished with the net profit of 
EUR 10.1 million and a solid 14.1 percent return on equity. We managed to improve the technical 
result by approximately 40 percent and in the instable macro-economic conditions achieved an 11 
percent growth in the gross premiums written amounting to EUR 116.8 million. The combined ratio 
amounting to 93.6 percent also slightly improved which together with other indicators provides good 
prospects for the Company’s future.

In the past year, the economic growth in the European Union was strengthening, but there were 
considerable differences in the growth in each Member State. In addition to the trend of low inflation, 
the year 2015 was marked by the record-low interest rates. The forecasts are however encouraging 
and the economic growth in 2016 is expected to continuously rise mainly due to the increased 
domestic and foreign demand. In 2016, the Slovenian economy is expected to continue with 2.4 
percent growth, which will be mainly driven by the exports and investment.

Results of the reinsurance companies are highly dependent on the occurrence of natural catastrophes, 
and it must be pointed out that in 2015, the amount of approximately USD 35 billion of such losses 
worldwide was significantly below the average of the last 15 years. The biggest catastrophe, in which 
our Company was involved, was the extremely violent explosion of dangerous and explosive materials 
in the Chinese port of Tianjin with many deaths and enormous material damage. According to the 
current estimates, the disaster is considered to be the largest insured loss in the Asian continent, 
affecting various lines of insurance including property, liability, transport, accident and life insurance 
covers. The catastrophe is estimated as one of the most complex insurance claims in history.

Over the year, a lot of our attention was also focused on the preparations for a new solvency regime, 
which came into force in January 2016. In accordance with the requirements of the European 
directive, we successfully introduced the effective risk management system into our business 
processes, carried out the required activities in the field of governance and compliance of operations 
and timely prepared the new reporting system. We estimate that we properly defined our risk profile 
structure and balanced it so that in the long run it will provide a stable and profitable business. A 
change in the organizational structure and in the manner of making business decision was probably 
our biggest challenge in 2015, since both changes are closely linked to valuations based on the 
risk profile. At the end of the year, we were fully prepared to meet new requirements from both 
management and capital aspect. Our efforts are also reflected in the favourable credit rating of “A -” 
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by Standard and Poor’s as well as by A. M. Best, which ensures positive prospects for the future and 
upgraded medium-term outlook from stable to positive given by the Standard and Poor’s.

We have again proved that we are a harmonious team with extremely committed and professional 
employees who significantly contributed to the achieved strategic objectives of the Company. Despite 
the fact that many new and different challenges await us in the future we can be optimistic and I truly 
believe in our strength and success.

Gregor Stražar (MBA)
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REPORT OF THE 
SUPERVISORY BOARD
on the Verification of the Annual Report of
Triglav Re, d.d. for 2015

1. Introduction

In 2015, the Supervisory Board actively monitored and supervised the operations of Triglav Re, 
d.d. (hereinafter: the Company). It regularly examined reports on various aspects of the Company’s 
business, adopted appropriate decisions and followed their implementation. Special attention was 
paid to the transition of operations of the Company to the new Solvency II governance system, which 
came into effect in 2016.

The Supervisory Board performed its work within the scope of its powers and competences set out 
by law, the Articles of Association and its own Rules of Procedure and it took into consideration the 
Guidelines of the corporate governance of Zavarovalnica Triglav d.d., as the parent company of the 
Triglav Group.

Pursuant to the provision of Article 282 of the Companies Act and the fourth paragraph of Article 
165 of the Insurance Act, the Supervisory Board reviewed the Company’s Annual Report for 2015 
and hereby presents its Report of the Supervisory Board on the Verification of the Annual Report. It 
was also briefed on the Opinion of certified actuary and discussed and adopted the Annual Report 
on the internal audit of the Company.

2.	 General	information	

In 2015, the Supervisory Board was made up of the following members:
 •  the shareholder representatives:
  - Andrej Slapar (Chairman),
  - Tomaž Žust (Vice Chairman),
 •  the employee representative:
  - Sebastjan Debevc. 

In 2015, the Supervisory Board held four sessions and had one committee, i.e. the Audit Committee. 

012345678910111213
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3.	 Operations	of	the	Supervisory	Board	and	the	scope	of		
	 supervision	over	the	Company’s	governance	in	2015

The description of the Supervisory Board’s operations and the scope of monitoring and supervision 
over the governance of the Company in 2015 are based on the supervision of the Company’s 
operations performed by the Supervisory Board in 2015, acting within its powers. The Supervisory 
Board’s duty is to supervise how the Company conducts its business and to perform other tasks in 
accordance with the Companies Act, the Insurance Act, the Articles of Association and the Rules of 
Procedure of the Supervisory Board. 

With regard to its core competences, in 2015 the Supervisory Board:

• adopted the Business policy and the Business plan of the Company for 2016;
• adopted the Audited Annual Report of Triglav Re, d.d. for 2014, the Report by the Supervisory  
   Board of Triglav Re, d.d. on the verification of the Annual report of Triglav Re d.d. for 2014, and  
   the Opinion of the Supervisory Board of Triglav Re d.d. on the Annual Internal Audit Report for  
   2014, submitted a proposal on the distribution of the net profit and proposed to the General  
   Meeting the appointment of the auditor for 2015;
• granted discharge to the Company’s Management Board for 2014 and agreed with the proposal  
   to the General Meeting on the distribution of the net profit as at 31 December 2014; 
• was briefed on the Management report of Triglav Re d.d. for the period 1 January  2014 to 31 
   December 2014 and on the quarterly performance reports  for  2015; 
• was briefed on the Auditor’s report,  Report of the certified actuary to the Annual report for 2014,  
   and Auditor’s remarks to the Annual Report for 2014; 
• adopted the Annual report on the internal audit  in 2014 and monitored  the quarterly reports on  
   performed internal auditing in 2015;
• gave its consent to the medium-term plan of the Internal audit of Triglav Re d.d. for the period  
   2015 - 2017 and to the Annual report on the performance of the Internal audit  of  Triglav Re, d.d. 
   for the years 2015 and 2016;
• was briefed on the Report of the certified actuary and the Report on risk dispersion;
• was briefed on the quarterly reports on the Company’s liquidity, solvency, capital adequacy and  
   relation between technical provisions and investments; 
• was briefed on the review of changes to the Company’s operations due to the introduction of  
   Solvency II and its requirements; 
• was briefed on the Report on the review of implementation of measures based on the findings  
   provided by the Insurance Supervision Agency related to the performance review of  Triglav Re, d.d.;
• agreed with the Company’s governance policy and with the key internal acts which regulate  
   risk management, with the internal audit, actuary policy and compliance policy, with the policy on  
   qualification and suitability assessment, internal control system,  outsourcing and  revenues;
• agreed with special powers given to the holders of key functions in line with the  Insurance  
   Companies Act. 
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3.1.		 Audit	Committee	

The members of the Audit Committee were as follows in 2015: Tomaž Žust (Chairman), Sebastjan 
Debevc and Mojca Lahajner  (independent external expert, since 29 May 2015). The committee held 
four meetings.

The duties and competences of the Audit Committee are set out in the Companies Act, the Rules 
of Procedure of the Supervisory Board, the Rules of Procedure of the Audit Committee and the 
Supervisory Board’s resolutions. Among others, the Audit Committee: 

• monitored and discussed financial reporting procedures;
• monitored the functioning of internal controls, internal audit and of risk management systems;
• monitored the statutory audits of annual and consolidated financial statements;
• monitored and reviewed the auditor’s independence for the Company’s annual report, in   
   particular the type and scope of non-auditing services;
• proposed to the Supervisory Board the appointment of an auditor of the Company’s Annual Report;
• monitored and controlled the integrity of financial information provided by the Company;
• assessed the preparation of the annual report including  the formation of proposal for the   
   Supervisory Board;
• participated in determining the important scopes of auditing;
• participated in drawing up the contract between the auditor and the Company;
• reported on its work to the Supervisory Board at its sessions.

The Audit Committee conducted a performance self-assessment with the aim of ensuring continued 
improvement and quality of its work. 

3.2.	 Performance	Self-Assessment

In accordance with the Companies Act, the Supervisory Board established the Audit Committee. 
The Chairman of the Audit Committee regularly reported on the work of the Committee to the 
Supervisory Board on its sessions, where the decisions taken, the recommendations and opinions 
were discussed, and based on a careful assessment, the Supervisory Board adopted the appropriate 
decisions.

All members of the Supervisory Board were involved in its work. With their attendance at the sessions 
and active participation in discussions and decision-making, they contributed to the effective 
performance of the Supervisory Board’s duties. The Rules of Procedure of the Supervisory Board 
include the rules regulating the procedures in potential conflicts of interest. The Supervisory Board 
within the scope of its duties also adopted the Rules on managing the conflicts of interest pertaining 
to the Supervisory Board and its members.



TRIGLAV RE  Business Report 201516

The Supervisory Board is of the opinion that its cooperation with the Management Board was 
adequate, in line with the applicable legislation and good practice. To its best knowledge, the 
Supervisory Board was informed of all events of material significance to the assessment of the 
situation and its consequences and also to the supervision of the Company’s operations. The 
Supervisory Board regularly monitored the implementation of its own resolutions and of the Audit 
Committee. In 2016, the Supervisory Board performed a self-assessment.

The Supervisory Board is of the opinion that its composition in 2015 was proportionate to the 
Company’s size, business activities and set objectives, and that an appropriate level of independence 
or dependence of its members in the sense of the Corporate Governance Code is ensured, which 
allowed the Supervisory Board to make quality decisions.

Based on the above, the Supervisory Board is of the opinion that its work and the work of the Audit 
Committee in 2015 were successful.

4.		 Annual	Report

The Supervisory Board of the Company examined the legal aspects relating to the annual report of 
the Company for the year 2015.

The Supervisory Board ascertained that the Annual Report for 2015 was compiled within the legally 
prescribed period. Following the assurance from the Management Board, appointed external auditor 
Ernst & Young, d.o.o., Ljubljana and the certified actuary Milan Stjepanović (MSc), the Supervisory 
Board confirmed that the Annual report covers all the parts prescribed by the Companies Act, the 
Insurance Act and implementing regulations.

The annual report includes: 
• Financial report: financial statements (balance sheet, income statement, statement of changes in  
   equity, cash flow statement) and the notes to the financial statements, 
• Management report.  

The Annual Report also includes the following reports: 
• Auditor’s report, 
• Opinion of the certified actuary.

All the minimum components prescribed by law are contained in the annual report.  

The Company set up the insurance technical provisions and other provisions from the profit. Regularity 
and sufficiency of technical provisions was approved by the certified actuary and the external auditor.

The external auditor, the firm Ernst & Young, d.o.o., Dunajska 111, Ljubljana, based on the decision 
of the General Meeting on the appointment of the auditor for the year 2015, carried out the audit of 
the balance sheet as at 31 December 2015, income statement, statement of changes in equity and 
cash flow statement for the year then ended, of the summary of significant accounting policies and 
of other explanatory notes. On this basis, the Auditor’s report was issued on 31 March 2016.  
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In accordance with the requirements of the Insurance Act, the certified actuary Milan Stjepanović 
(MSc) examined the Company’s performance in 2015.  The Report of the certified actuary and the 
Opinion of the certified actuary to the Annual Report 2015 were made on 10 March 2016.

In accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, the Management Board submitted the 
Annual report 2015 with the Auditor’s report and Opinion of the certified actuary to the Supervisory 
Board to examine it.

5.		 Proposal	for	the	distribution	of	the	net	profit	as	at	31		 	
	 December	2015

The Supervisory Board examined the Management Board’s proposal for the distribution of 
accumulated profits as at 31 December 2015.  

The Supervisory Board approved the Management Board’s proposal on the distribution of accumulated 
profits and will propose to the General Meeting to adopt a decision on the profit distribution. 

6.  Opinion	on	the	Annual	report	by	the	Internal	Audit		 	
	 Department

At its meeting on 3 March 2016, the Supervisory Board discussed and approved the Annual report 
on internal audit in 2015 prepared by the internal audit service on the basis of the work performed in 
2015. The Supervisory Board is of the opinion that the Company’s internal audit service carried out 
its duties in accordance with the adopted Work program of the internal audit service.

7.		 Management	Board’s	Reporting

The Supervisory Board is of the opinion that based on the reports provided by the Management 
Board it was able to monitor and supervise the governance and performance of the Company. The 
cooperation with the Management Board is appropriate and in accordance with the law.

8.	 Auditor’s	report	and	Report	on	relations	with	affiliated		
	 companies

In accordance with its competences under the law and with the Articles of Association, the Supervisory 
Board was briefed on the Auditor’s report whereby the auditor confirms that the Company’s financial 
statements for 2015 in all respects present a true and fair picture of the financial position of Triglav Re 
and that are prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards.

The Supervisory Board took note of and examined the Report on relations with affiliated companies 
and the Statement prepared by the Company’s Management Board in the context of this Report. 
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and the Statement prepared by the Company’s Management Board in the context of this Report. 
The Supervisory Board had no objections on the Management Board’s Statement. The Supervisory 
Board was also briefed on the Report on relationships with affiliated companies prepared by the 
independent auditor whereby he confirms that the information provided in the Report is accurate and 
true in all material respects.

9.		 Opinion	of	the	certified	actuary

In accordance with its competence under the law and the Articles of Association, the Supervisory 
Board took note of the Opinion of the certified actuary who confirmed that the level of premiums 
written by the Company in 2015 and the level of technical provisions as at 31 December 2015 
are appropriate and that within the reasonable actuarial expectations they ensure the Company’s 
continuous fulfillment of all obligations from reinsurance contracts and  that the assets which exceed 
technical provisions are invested and dispersed in accordance with the regulations. The actuary 
also confirmed that the Company meets the regulatory requirements on the capital adequacy. He 
presented his opinion on the Company’s performance in 2015 to the Supervisory Board. 

10.  Observations	of	the	Supervisory	Board	to	the	Annual		 	
 Report for 2015

The Supervisory Board has no objections to the Annual Report for 2015 which would retain the 
adoption of a decision to approve the Company’s Annual Report.

11.		 Approval	of	the	Annual	Report	for	2015

The Supervisory Board approved the Annual report for the year 2015 within the prescribed period, 
that is, before the expiry of one month since the submission of the Annual report 2015 to the 
Supervisory Board.

                                    Andrej Slapar  
Chairman of the Supervisory Board

of Triglav Re d.d.

Ljubljana, 30 May 2016   
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The origins of the term Caryatid are unclear. It was first recorded in its Latin form 
caryatides by the Roman architect Vitruvius. He stated in his 1st century BC work 
De architectura (I.1.5) that the female figures of the Erechtheion represented the 
punishment of the women of Karyæ, a town near Sparta in Laconia, who were 
condemned to slavery after betraying Athens by siding with Persia in the Greco-
Persian Wars. However, Vitruvius’ explanation is doubtful; well before the Persian 
Wars, female figures were used as decorative supports in Greece and the ancient 
Near East. Whatever the origin may have been,
Jože Plečnik made Ljubljana’s Watergate on three pillars with females heads.

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Latin
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Vitruvius
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/De_architectura
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Erechtheion
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Karyes
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Sparta
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Laconia
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Athens
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Persia
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Greco-Persian_Wars
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Greco-Persian_Wars
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GENERAL INFORMATION
ON TRIGLAV RE, D.D

3.1	 Company	Profile

Company Name: Pozavarovalnica Triglav Re, d.d.                         

Short name: Triglav Re, d.d.

Legal form: Company limited by shares

Registered office: Miklošičeva 19, 1000 Ljubljana, Slovenia

Website: www.triglavre.si

E-mail address: mail@triglavre.si

Company identification number: 13 62 992

Tax number: 16465423

Entry into the Companies Register: District Court in Ljubljana, Entry No. 1/31/403/00

Share capital: EUR 4,950,000.00

President of the Management Board: Gregor Stražar, M.Sc. (Econ)

President of the Supervisory Board: Andrej Slapar

Activity according to the Standard Classification of 
Activities:

K65.200 - Reinsurance

Credit rating: Standard & Poor’s: A - 

A.M. Best: A -

Ownership structure: Triglav Insurance Company, Ltd. (100 %).

Triglav Re forms a part of Triglav Group.

3.2	 Basic	data	on	Triglav	Re	

3.2.1	 History	of	Triglav	Re	

Triglav Re was founded in 1998. In the first year of its operations the Company reinsured only the 
portfolio of Zavarovalnica Triglav and reached a positive operating result.  Thus, the Company fulfilled 
the founders’ expectations and had a significant impact on the risk equalisation and risk management 
in the Slovenian market. In 2000, the Company started its operations on the international market for 
the first time. 
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012345678910111213 Taking into account a prudent and conservative policy of the risk assumption and management and 
the recapitalisation in 2001, the Company has in the following years developed into a reliable partner 
in the European reinsurance market, especially in the area of Central Europe. 

The year 2008 was crucial for the company’s future performance, since Standard & Poor’s Rating 
Services assigned it an “A -” rating. In 2009 the rating was upgraded to “A” with stable outlook, 
which the Company retained in 2011 despite tense market conditions. In 2012, Standard & Poor’s 
downgraded the credit rating to “A -” as a consequence of the drop in the credit rating of the 
Republic of Slovenia. In November 2012, Standard and Poor’s issued a warning about the potential 
negative change in the credit rating of the Republic of Slovenia, and consequently also a warning 
about the potential negative outlook for Triglav Re. 

In February 2013, Standard and Poor’s actually downgraded the long-term credit rating “A -” of 
Triglav Re by one notch to “BBB +”, and removed the warning about a possible downgrade. But 
already in July 2013, Standard and Poor’s upgraded the Company by one notch to “A-” with a stable 
medium-term outlook. In 2013, Triglav Re was also assessed by the rating agency A.M. Best and so 
the Company obtained the credit rating “A -” with stable medium-term outlook

In 2014, Standard & Poor’s reaffirmed the existing long-term credit rating  “A -” and financial strength 
rating “A -” Both ratings have a stable medium-term outlook. At the regular annual review in October 
2014, the credit rating agency A.M. Best also confirmed the financial strength rating  “A -” and credit 
rating of the issuer “a – “. Both assessments have a stable medium-term outlook.

At the regular annual review in July 2015, Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services confirmed the existing 
long-term credit rating “A -” (positive) and financial strength rating “A -” (positive) to Zavarovalnica 
Triglav d.d. and its subsidiary Triglav Re, and thus to the whole Triglav Group. The Agency has 
upgraded the medium-term outlook from stable to positive for both companies, which provides 
good prospects for the future.

On 16 October 2015, in the regular annual review, the credit rating agency A. M. Best again granted 
the financial strength rating “A -” (positive) and the credit rating of the issuer’s creditworthiness “A 
-” (positive) and thus confirmed the key role and performance of Triglav Re in the implementation of 
strategic objectives of the Triglav Group. Both ratings have a stable medium-term outlook.

3.2.2	 Anticipated	development	of	Triglav	Re	in	2016

Despite challenging market and economic conditions over the last few years, Triglav Re expects a 
favourable future development. One of the Company’s goals in 2016 is to maintain the current credit 
rating of “A -” as assessed by Standard and Poor’s and A. M. Best. The assigned ratings are essential 
for the Company, since the credit rating “A -” enables the access to the reinsurance markets, in 
which the cooperation with the appropriate level of credit rating either due to the requirements of the 
local insurance market regulator or due to the internal rules of a company is historically conditioned.

In accordance with the business plan for 2016, Triglav Re will, along with the realisation of the 
reinsurance programme within the Triglav Group both in Slovenia and abroad, continue to increase 
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the reinsurance operations with the Cedants outside the Group. As in the previous years, the growth 
will be focused on the conservative underwriting policy and further maintenance of a stable and 
profit-generating portfolio.

3.3	 Triglav	Group

Triglav Re is a subsidiary of Zavarovalnica Triglav, d.d., Ljubljana, Miklošičeva 19.  

In addition to Triglav Re, the Triglav Group consists of the following companies:

• Zavarovalnica Triglav, d.d., Ljubljana (controlling company)
• Triglav, Zdravstvena zavarovalnica, d.d., Koper, Slovenia
• Skupna pokojninska družba, d.d.,
• Triglav Skladi, družba za upravljanje, d.o.o., Ljubljana, Slovenia
• Triglav, Upravljanje nepremičnin d.d., Ljubljana, Slovenia 
• Slovenijales, d.d., Ljubljana, Slovenia 
• Triglav INT, d.d., Holding company, Slovenia
• Triglav Svetovanje, zavarovalno zastopanje, d.o.o., Domžale, Slovenia
• Triglav Avtoservis, d.o.o., Ljubljana, Slovenia 
• TriglavKo, zavarovalno zastopniška družba, d.o.o., 
• Triglav Osiguranje, d.d.,  Zagreb, Croatia 
• TRI-LIFE, d.o.o., Zagreb, Croatia
• Triglav Osiguranje, d.d., Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina
• Triglav Osiguranje, a.d., Banja Luka, Bosnia and Herzegovina
• PROF-IN, d.o.o.
• TRI-PRO BH, d.o.o., Bosnia and Herzegovina
• Triglav Auto, d.o.o.
• Autocentar BH, d.o.o., Bosnia and Herzegovina
• Unis automobili i dijelovi, d.o.o., Bosnia and Herzegovina
• Triglav Osiguranje, a.d.o., Novi  Beograd, Serbia
• Pista, d.o.o.
• Lovćen Osiguranje, a.d., Podgorica, Montenegro 
• Lovćen životna osiguranja, a.d., Podgorica, Montenegro 
• Triglav Osiguruvanje AD, Skopje, Macedonia

3.4	 Shareholders’	equity	and	shareholders	of	Triglav	Re	

As at 31 December 2015, the equity of Triglav Re amounted to EUR 75,557,215. The share capital of 
EUR 4,950,000 is divided into 15,000 ordinary registered no-par value shares. Each share amounting 
to EUR 330.00 represents an equal portion and corresponding amount in the share capital.
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Shareholders	of	Triglav	Re	as	at	31	December	2015

3.5	 Credit	rating	of	Triglav	Re

At the regular annual review in July 2015, Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services confirmed the existing 
long-term credit rating “A -” (positive) and financial strength rating “A -” (positive) to Zavarovalnica 
Triglav, d.d. and its subsidiary Triglav Re, and thus to the whole Triglav Group. The Agency has 
upgraded the medium-term outlook from stable to positive for both companies, which provides 
good prospects for the future.

On 16 October 2015, in the regular annual review, the credit rating agency A. M. Best again granted 
the financial strength rating “A -” (positive) and the credit rating of the issuer’s creditworthiness “A 
-” (positive) and thus confirmed the key role and performance of Triglav Re in the implementation of 
strategic objectives of the Triglav Group. Both ratings have a stable medium-term outlook.

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 
(in %) NUMBER OF SHARES

Zavarovalnica Triglav, d.d. 100.00 15,000

TOTAL 100.00 15,000
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These draped figures of stone, often supporting acanthus baskets, visually 
hold the weight of architecture above them and enduringly offer a tribute to the 
female form and the link to the ancient past.
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GENERAL ECONOMIC 
ENVIRONMENT IN 2015

4.1	 Economic	Environment1  

In 2015, the global economic growth is expected to be 2.4 percent, which is considerably less than 
announced in mid-2015. More than seven years after the global financial crisis, the global policy and 
economy still face the major challenges in fostering the investments and reviving the global growth. 
The world economy is faced with significant negative effects, i.e. the ongoing macroeconomic 
uncertainty and instability, low commodity prices, a decline in trade flows, constant fluctuations 
in exchange rates and capital flows, investment stagnation, declining growth in productivity and a 
constant gap between the financial and real sector.

Although the expected economic growth in 2015 is positive in all Member States of the European 
Union, and in recent quarters, the recovery continues to expand, the disparities in economic 
performance within the European Union are likely to continue. This is partly due to the differences 
between Member States in terms of progress in deleveraging the banks, and the public and private 
sectors. The positive effect of low oil prices on the growth will also vary in respect of the energy 
capacity of each country. Flexible monetary conditions may have a greater positive impact in 
countries with tighter financing conditions. A support for exports due to the lower value of the euro 
will depend on the orientation of a national trade and patterns of specialization. In 2015, as expected, 
the differences in growth in Member States were still considerable, namely, the growth rates ranged 
from 0.2% (Croatia) to 3.5% (Ireland).

The majority of the short-term indicators of economic activity in Slovenia towards the end of 2015 
remained at the achieved level. The real export of goods and the volume of production increased by 5.0 
percent in the first eleven months of 2015. In the previous year, they also increased under the influence 
of positive effects from abroad and improved competitiveness of the Slovenian economy over the 
recent years. Furthermore, they positively contributed to the gradual strengthening of turnover in the 
service sector, which is a consequence of a higher private consumption associated with the prolonged 
recovery of the labour market. The economic trends at the beginning of 2016 slightly deteriorated, but 
remained rather high and indicate a continuation of the gradual recovery in the economic sector.

Growth in the number of persons employed in Slovenia continued in 2015, but the number of 
registered unemployed by the year end increased and at the beginning of 2016 remained at a similar 
level. Nevertheless, the number decreased by 4.9 percent compared to 2014. Deflation continued to 
be a consequence of lower energy prices and durable goods, taking also into account modest price 
rises in other product groups.
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In 2015, the main goal in the Slovenian fiscal planning was to reduce the state’s deficit below 3.0 
percent of GDP. According to the recent estimates, the objective was achieved; the official annual 
figures will be known at the end of March 2016. The State revenue during the first three quarters of 
2015 increased by 3.8 percent due to the favourable macroeconomic conditions and an increase in 
certain taxes and contributions. The State expenditure after the exclusion of one-off events remained 
at the same level throughout the year.

Forecast	of	economic	development
  

Source: IMF, World Economic Outlook, October 2015.

The macroeconomic environment in Slovenia shows that the economy in 2016 will not yet fully 
recover, which will have a negative impact on the Slovenian insurance market and hence the lower 
reinsurance premium income of the Company. However, the rest of the world is emerging from the 
recession, which enables the global markets to increase the premium growth. Since there were no 
major catastrophes over the past few years, the reinsurance capacity will continue to increase, but 
the profitability will decrease despite the higher insurance premium volume.

4.2	 Capital	markets2

In 2015, the Ljubljana Stock Exchange recorded a few drops and also some encouraging figures. 
After three positive years, the SBI TOP index finished the year 2015 negatively, and compared to 
2014, the turnover and market capitalization of shares also decreased. But 2015 is considered as 
one of the most successful in terms of issuing bonds and commercial papers. The total turnover 
amounted to EUR 393.06 million, which is 42.7 percent less than in 2014. The largest part of turnover 

Real GDP Growth Consumer Price Index Unemployment Rate
2014 2015 2016 2014 2015 2016 2014 2015 2016

Advanced Economies 1.8 2.0 2.2 1.4 0.3 1.2 7.3 6.8 6.5
Euro Area 0.9 1.5 1.6 0.4 0.2 1.0 11.6 11.0 10.5

Spain 1.4 3.1 2.5 -0.2 -0.3 0.9 24.5 21.8 19.9

Sweden 2.3 2.8 3.0 0.2 0.5 1.1 7.9 7.7 7.6

Slovenia 3.0 2.3 1.8 0.2 -0.4 0.7 9.7 8.7 8.1

Israel 2.6 2.5 3.3 0.5 -0.1 2.0 5.9 5.3 5.2

South Korea 3.3 2.7 3.2 1.3 0.7 1.8 3.5 3.7 3.5

Germany 1.6 1.5 1.6 0.8 0.2 1.2 5.0 4.7 4.7

Italy -0.4 0.8 1.3 0.2 0.2 0.7 12.7 12.2 11.9

Austria 0.4 0.8 1.6 1.5 1.0 1.7 5.6 5.8 5.6

China 7.3 6.8 6.3 2.0 1.5 1.8 4.1 4.1 4.1

Croatia -0.4 0.8 1.0 -0.2 -0.4 1.1 17.1 16.6 16.1

Montenegro 1.5 3.2 4.9 -0.7 1.7 1.4 / / /

Iran 4.3 0.8 4.4 15.5 15.1 11.5 10.6 11.7 12.3

Turkey 2.9 3.0 2.9 8.9 7.4 7.0 9.9 10.8 11.2
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was in shares, namely EUR 333.67 million or 84.9 percent of the total turnover, followed by bonds 
with 14.2 percent and commercial papers with a 0.9 percent share in the total turnover. In 2015, the 
most traded shares were again the shares of Krka (KRKG) with a 36.8 percent share in the turnover 
structure, followed by the shares of Zavarovalnica Triglav (ZVTG) with a 10.8 percent share and 
Pivovarna Laško (PILR) with a 9.4 percent share.

In 2015, the conditions in the banking system improved due to the effects of the stabilization measures 
and slightly more favourable macroeconomic environment. Credit risk was reduced, but remained 
one of the most significant risks in the system due to some portfolio segments, which are still heavily 
burdened with non-performing receivables. The decline in credit risk has a favourable effect on the 
banks’ profitability; however, operating in an environment of low interest rates and further reductions 
in income balance, maintains the profit risk at a rather high level. Credit activity is still weak, but the 
pace of reduction of credits is slowing down. The structure of bank financing sources is gradually 
improving due to deleveraging in foreign markets and increased confidence in the banking system.

4.3	 Insurance	market3  

After the sharp recovery in 2014, the insurance industry has grown at a steady pace in 2015. The 
premium growth slowed down slightly in both developed economies and emerging markets. The 
global life insurance premium increased by 3.3 percent (in 2014 by 4.7 percent) and the non-life 
premium by 2.5 percent (in 2014 by 2.8 percent). Growth in non-life insurance premiums in emerging 
markets has slowed down significantly as a result of the weaker economic growth.

Growth of insurance premiums will depend on the development in emerging markets and developing 
economies. Nevertheless, it is likely to face the reduced growth in the coming years which will affect 
the demand for life and non-life insurance products. Developed economies in Europe, the US and 
Japan still expect a rather high economic growth. In addition, the higher value of real estate and 
financial investments will allow the insurance companies to create higher premiums, which will result 
in a higher level of protection.

Historically low interest rates, vague financial markets and low GDP growth negatively affect the 
profitability of the insurance industry. In addition, the ongoing regulatory and accounting changes 
continue to pose a challenge to the insurers who have to adjust the risk management procedures and 
increase the control functions. In Europe, the Insurers and supervisors are involved in the preparation 
and implementation of the Solvency II project, which shall enter into force at the beginning of 2016.
The European share in the global insurance market has been somewhat strengthened. According 
to the latest available data provided by the reinsurance company Swiss Re, Europe collected about 
35.5 percent of the total insurance premium in 2014 or by 3.5 percentage points more than the year 
before. North and South America collected by 1.1 percentage point higher premium volume than in 
the last year and had a 33.3 percent global share. In 2015, Asia has considerably strengthened its 
role in the global insurance scale and its share grew by 6.5 percentage points and amounted to 27.6 
percent. Africa and Oceania also slightly increased the position, and collected nearly 4 percent of 
the global insurance premium. On global scale insurance for the year 2014, the Slovenian insurance 
market was positioned at the 55th place and represents a 0.05 percent share in the total world 
market (in 2013: 0.06 percent). Considering the premium per capita in 2014, Slovenia is ranked 
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29th on the global scale (the same as in the previous year) and 31th considering the insurance 
penetration, i.e. a share of premium in GDP (five places lower than the previous year).
 

4.4	 Insurance	market	in	Slovenia

In 2015, fourteen (14) insurance companies and four (4) foreign branches operated in the Slovenian 
insurance market. Among the traditional insurance companies, there were ten composite companies 
and seven specialized (life, health and property insurance). Traditional insurance companies together 
collected the insurance premium of EUR 1.971 billion, which is slightly more than the previous year 
(index 101.7). In the collected premium volume, the non-life premium represents a share of 71.5 
percent and the life insurance premium of 28.5 percent. Thus, the non-life insurance premium 
as well as the life insurance premium slightly increased compared with the previous year (index 
100.5 and 105.0). The figures do not include insurance business performed directly by insurance 
companies from other EU Member States. Their proportion is rising, but according to our estimation 
still negligible.

The four largest insurance companies controlled 71.3 percent of the Slovenian insurance market (in 
2014: 72.1 percent). Zavarovalnica Triglav, d.d. maintained a leading position with a market share of 
29.7 percent. Insurance companies with majority foreign capital (Generali, Merkur, Grawe, Wiener 
Städtische Group, Allianz, Ergo, Ergo Life Insurance Arag SE) together collected a premium volume 
of EUR 220.2 million and thus increased their market share from 10.9 percent in 2014 to 11.2 
percent in 2015.

As at 31 December 2015, the market share of Triglav Re amounted to 43.5 percent and decreased 
by 1.0 percentage point compared to 2014.

Triglav Ltd
29.7%

Triglav Re 
43.5%

Market	shares	of	insurance	
companies	operating	in	
Slovenia in 2015         

Market	shares	of	reinsurance	
companies	operating	in	
Slovenia in 2015      

1 Source: United Nations, World Economic Situation and Prospects 2016; Central Bank of Slovenia, The economic and financial developments, 
January 2016; European Commission: Economic forecast, February 2016; UMAR, Economic mirror, No. 1/2016.
2Source: Ljubljana Stock Exchange, Central Bank of Slovenia, Economic and financial developments, January 2016.
3Source: Swiss Re, Sigma No. 4/2015; IAIS, Global Insurance Market Report (GIMAR), January 2016.
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The later male counterpart of the caryatid 
is referred to as an atlas (also known as an 
atlant) – the name refers to the legend of 
Atlas, who bore the sphere of the heavens 
on his shoulders. Not only did the Caryatids 
precede them, but similar architectural figures 
had already been made in ancient Egypt out 
of monoliths. Atlantes originated in Greek 
Sicily and in Magna Graecia, southern Italy. 
Atlantes have played a more significant role 
in Mannerist and baroque architecture like the 
Atlantes on the doorway of Theological college 
in Ljubljana, made by Angelo Putti.

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Atlas_(architecture)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Atlas_(mythology)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Ancient_Egypt
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Monolith
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Magna_Graecia
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Mannerism
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Baroque_architecture
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RISK MANAGEMENT

The basic characteristic of the (re)insurance business is a risk assumption in return of the (re) insurance 
premium payment. Risk management has always been an essential part in the performance of each 
(re)insurance company, and with the introduction of Solvency II it is gaining in importance. In 2015, 
full attention was paid to the implementation of risk management into all business processes.

In the year 2015:
• involvement of the management and supervisory bodies in the risk management process,
• Triglav Re has successfully implemented the requirements of the new regulatory regime of Solvency II;
• Triglav Re has successfully maintained the high capital adequacy, as the available capital always
   enabled to meet the capital requirements in accordance with the applicable and new legislation of 
   Solvency II;
• Triglav Re continued with the conservative policy of risk assumption.

The new Solvency II regime is covered by three pillars:
Pillar 1: Required volume and quality of capital should reflect the risk profile to which a (re) insurance 
company is exposed in its operations.
Pillar 2: There must be a strong and consistent system of risk management including a reliable and 
comprehensive internal control. A part of the second pillar also includes own risk assessment which 
must be taken into account when making business decisions.
Pillar 3: The Company shall provide the necessary reporting to supervisory bodies and public 
disclosure of information.

In 2015, Triglav Re with the assistance of the Committee which was set up for the implementation of 
the Solvency II successfully completed the planned activities:
- successfully performed a quantitative reporting of capital adequacy in accordance with the 

requirements of Solvency II as at 31 December 2014 and 30 September 2015,
- carried out regular reporting to the supervisor,established a process of regular evaluation of 

the technical provisions, investments and other balance sheet items in accordance with the 
requirements of Solvency II,completed the process of own risk and solvency assessment (ORSA) 
for the year 2015,

- established a centralised risk management system,
- implemented a centralised administration and management of loss events and incidents arising 

from operational risk,
- adopted new and/or updated old internal rules in the field of governance, risk management and 

compliance, which in detail define the powers and responsibilities and the management system of 
a certain type of risks,

- upgraded the existing IT system due to new regulatory requirements in order to ensure the timely, 
comprehensive and accurate reporting.

012345678910111213
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012345678910111213 5.1	 	Risk	management	system	

Risk management can be described as a system that supports a reasonable exposure to diversified 
risks, depending on the Company’s ability to risk assumption. To ensure a safe and successful 
operating performance it is necessary to establish an effective and comprehensive risk management 
system that provides appropriate manners of risk management and risk control, thereby enabling 
better business decisions.

Company’s key principles of risk assumption and management are:
- involvement of the Management and Supervisory bodies in the risk management process,
- assumption of risks within the Company’s capabilities and/or with regard to the capital strength,
- timely settlement of all liabilities,
- appropriate organizational structure with clear mandates and responsibilities,
- securing and spreading the appropriate risk management culture,acting in accordance with the 

law and regulations.

Risk management strategy (hereinafter: Strategy) and Declaration on the risk appetite (hereinafter: 
Risk appetite) are the basic documents which represent the basis for subordinate internal documents 
in the form of policies, methodologies and guidelines of risk management.

Strategy defines the powers and responsibilities in the risk management process, risk management 
system and the main principles of risk management. Risk appetite quantitatively determines the level 
to which the Company may be exposed to a particular type of risk, taking into account the capital 
strength and business strategy.

In order to ensure effective risk management, the Company has developed the risk management 
system at three levels:

-	 The	first	level	
 It is represented by the Company’s Management Board and individual departments which are 

responsible for active management operational risk, appropriate and effective internal controls 
and performance of business operations within the prescribed limits, policies and strategic goals. 
Risk identification and risk assumption is considered to be the most important duty.

-	 The	second	level	
 The second level is represented by the risk management committee, organisational unit responsible 

for risk management and a key person responsible for compliance of operations. The role of the 
second level is to implement the effective risk management system which includes coordination 
of activities related to risk management, preparation of methodologies for risk identification, risk 
measurement and assessment, controlling and monitoring the exposure to risk and verifying the 
compliance with the valid regulations.

-	 The	third	level	
 The third level is represented by the internal audit department which is independent form all other 

organisational units in the Company. The main task is to provide the independent opinions on the 
risk management system and to carry out the regular controls of the effectiveness of the internal 
controls. Furthermore, it controls the activities from the first and the second level.
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There are four key functions in the Company that are separate and independent organizational units. 
These four key functions are: risk management function, compliance function, internal audit function 
and the actuarial function. They are included in the Company’s organizational structure so that none 
of them are subjected to any influences that may threaten the ability to perform his duties in an 
objective, fair and independent manner. They are allowed to have unlimited access to all information 
they may require to carry out their responsibilities.

The Company has established the internal regulations in the field of risk management, internal control, 
compliance and internal audit and, if appropriate, outsourcing service provider, with clearly defined 
responsibilities, objectives, processes and reporting procedures which must be used in accordance 
with the general business strategy.

The	risk	management	function is responsible for:
- supporting management and supervisory bodies and other functions in the effective implementation 

of the risk management system,
- participating in the establishment and performance of the appropriate risk management system,
- participating in important decisions regarding risk management,
- coordinating and supervising activities in the field of risk management,
- development of methodologies for risk measuring and assessing,
- implementation of risk analysis,monitoring the Company’s risk profile,
- coordination and reporting of capital adequacy according to the standard formula of Solvency II 

and other capital models,
- preparation of own risk and solvency assessment (ORSA),
- preparation of reports on the risks for internal and external users.

The	compliance	function is a part of the Company’s control system, whose duties include:
- evaluation of the possible impact of changes in the legal environment on the Company’s 

performance and informing the Company’s Management as well as other departments, services 
and functions,

- identification and assessment of the risks related to the non-compliance of operations,regular 
reporting to the Management and Supervisory Board on compliance of operations, including on 
the non-compliance risk, and providing the guidelines and recommendations,

- participation in establishing and updating the compliance programs in the certain fields, including 
internal controls.

The	internal	audit	function is responsible for the continuous and comprehensive control of the 
Company’s operation, which includes a review of compliance with all applicable requirements, both 
in the field of risk management and business areas. Internal audit examines and evaluates whether 
the processes of risk management, of control and of Company’s management are adequate and 
whether operate in a manner which ensures:
- Company’s overall performance is effective and efficient, including the goals of the business and 

financial performance, and the protection of assets against loss,
- internal and external accounting and non-accounting reporting that covers consistency, timeliness, 

transparency and other conditions,
- compliance with laws and regulations and internal rules.
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Management Board, Audit Committee and Supervisory Board must be regularly informed on the 
mentioned activities and findings.

The most important part of the actuarial	function is related to the calculation of technical provisions, 
thus ensuring:
- use of appropriate methods and assumptions for the calculation of technical provisions,
- assessing the suitability, adequacy and quality of the data for the calculation of technical provisions,
- verification of the Company’s general policy of risks assumption and reinsurance program,
- preparation of the actuarial report which determines whether the amount of technical provisions is 

sufficient to cover all contractual obligations.

Actuarial function is closely linked to the risk management function, as it participates in the implementation 
and execution of the risk management system, in particular in the identification of insurance risks and 
development of new methods of risk measuring, in application and monitoring the adequacy of capital 
requirement models and performance of own risk and solvency assessment (ORSA).

The	Supervisory	Board gives the approval to the key rules of risk management systems, which 
include Strategy and Risk appetite, and subordinate policies for managing specific types of major risks.

The	Management	Board is responsible for the establishment and performance of a solid and 
reliable system of internal governance, which also includes the effective process of risk assumption 
and management in accordance with the applicable law. It adopts all internal documents and 
important papers in the field of risk management. The Management Board is committed to achieve 
optimal profitability within the agreed Risk Appetite.

Within the Management Board, the advisory body Risk	Management	Committee	operates to 
which the Management Board has delegated its powers in the field of risk management. Its key 
duties include: monitoring the exposure to key risks, monitoring capital adequacy, liquidity position 
and results of capital models, validation of internal regulations and methodologies in the field of risk 
management, monitoring the adequacy of the risk management system, verifying the adequacy of the 
control system and controlling the compliance between the Company’s operations and regulations 
in the field of risk management.

5.2	 Process	of	risk	management

Process of the effective risk management system consists of the following parts:

Risk	identification is the process to identify and understand all the risks that occurred or could 
occur in the business. The Company has for this purpose established a register of risks which 
contains a list and description of existing and potential risk types.

Risk	 measurement	 and	 assessment: Measurable risks are assessed by using adopted 
methodologies based on mathematical and statistical techniques. Risks which are difficult to be 
measured are estimated by using qualitative techniques. On the basis of risk levels, the Company can 
take and implement appropriate risk management measures and monitor movements in exposure 
to a particular risk.
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Risk	management	and	control: Company’s response to the risk depends on its capital strength, 
risk appetite, business and regulatory environment and economic point of view. The costs of using the 
risk mitigation techniques shall be lower than the amount of loss occurrence and its consequences, 
taking into account the probability of its occurrence. The Company can choose between:
- Risks avoiding (avoiding those business activities that may lead to an unacceptable exposure to 

risk),
- Risk assumptions (investment in business activities with acceptable risk costs),
- Risk mitigation (limitation of a risk to an acceptable exposure),
- Transfer of risk (different reinsurance covers for potential losses).

Management of the Company shall ensure that the risk exposure remains within the risk appetite, 
that the choice of reinsurance program for assumed risks is appropriate and that the assets and 
investment management provides capital adequacy and liquidity of the Company’s operations.

Risk	reporting	shall allow the efficient and timely access to information on the risks required for 
optimal functioning and response. In accordance with legal regulations, the Company calculates and 
reports to the supervisory bodies on the capital adequacy, the level of technical provisions; on the 
amount, type and diversification of assets covering technical provisions and other statistics.

5.3	 Own	risk	and	solvency	assessment	(ORSA)

In 2015, the Company carried out its own risk and solvency assessment (hereinafter: the ORSA 
process) for the first time. The purpose of the ORSA process is to ensure that the Company has 
sufficient quantitative and qualitative capital in relation to its risk profile and to ensure the adequate 
capital reserve which will protect the Company against the negative future effects of the possible 
financial or economic crisis.

The ORSA process is carried out at least once per year. On the basis of business strategy and 
future expectations, it is necessary to identify the key risks and stress scenarios, which could have a 
negative impact on the achievement of the planed objectives. All organizational units are included in 
the ORSA process and are regularly informed of the results.

Within the ORSA process, the Company identifies the risks, classifies the stress scenarios according 
to probability of occurrence and the extent of impact. At the same time, the Company evaluates 
the adequacy of the standard formula of calculating capital requirements, as required under Pillar 
I of Solvency II. If it is established that the standard formula is not sufficient to cover the key risks 
identified, the Company shall make additional capital requirements which are set by the Company.

The results of the ORSA process are shown in the ORSA report. The Management Board and the 
Senior Management must be informed on the obtained results.

Implementation of the ORSA process in 2015 confirmed that the Company has a strong capital base 
in relation to the identified risks assumed.
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5.4	 Capital	management

Equity represents the prime criterion for assessing the Company’s solvency, as in its operations 
the Company must permanently possess the adequate capital in order to protect investors’ and 
contractual partners’ assets. An adequate capital base represents a safety margin for various risks 
the Company is exposed to. It is like a shield that protects the Company against any unexpected 
adverse events. The Company is obliged to hold sufficient assets that match the exposure to 
assumed risks and business strategy.

Capital adequacy is also determined as a key indicator in the Risk appetite and it requires that 
the Company shall dispose with sufficient capital for the settlement of its liabilities and that the 
Company’s capital is in accordance with the strategic objectives at all times. In 2015, Triglav Re was 
a very competitive and well capitalized company.

The available capital is calculated using the standard formula for calculation of capital requirements 
under the applicable law, the requirements of Pillar 1 of Solvency II, internal ORSA process and 
capital models of Standard & Poor’s and A. M. Best, because capital adequacy is the essential 
criterion for assessing a Company’s credit rating.

Results of the capital adequacy calculated in accordance with regulatory requirements and of capital 
models must be taken into account when making decisions about capital management. At the 
same time the Company must consider the fact that the legal requirements are binding, and that 
continuous compliance with the capital adequacy requirements of the credit rating agencies is one 
of our main strategic goals.

5.5	 Types	of	risks	and	their	management	system

The overall Company’s risk comprises the insurance risk, market, credit, operational and strategic 
risk and reputational risk.

A brief description of each risk including also its management system is presented below.

Underwriting	risk
Underwriting risks are risks arising from the Company’s core business. They relate to the risk of 
loss or the increase in insurance liabilities due to an inadequate premium volume and inappropriate 
assumptions applied in the calculation of technical provisions, inadequate risk assumption, changes 
in loss occurrences, and also changes in the natural, economic, political, technological, social and 
cultural environment. Underwriting risks are the risk of inadequate provisions, premium risk, retention 
risk and risk of natural catastrophes.

Risk	of	insufficient	technical	provisions
Triglav Re sets aside technical provisions for all assumed reinsurance business in order to cover future 
liabilities from reinsurance contracts and possible losses arising from assumed risk. The risk related to 
technical provisions is the possible risk that the volume of technical provisions is lower than it should be 
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to cover all liabilities. This risk is managed primarily by comparing the previous provisions for outstanding 
claims and subsequent actual liabilities incurred, by applying actuarial methods in formation of specific 
technical provisions and by prudent formation of provisions for outstanding claims.

Pursuant to the Insurance Act and implementing regulations on the more detailed rules and minimum 
standards for the calculation of technical provisions, Triglav Re makes provisions for unearned 
premiums, provisions for outstanding claims, equalisation provisions for credit insurance which 
are recorded under equity, provisions for bonuses, rebates and cancellations, and other technical 
provisions, such as provisions for unexpired risks. Such calculated provisions constitute the basis 
for the preparation of financial statements in compliance with the IFRS. The level of the set-aside 
technical provisions is verified with the liability adequacy test (LAT). In case of non-life insurance, 
liabilities are subject to a liability adequacy test only for unearned premium provisions, while the 
provisions for outstanding claims and provisions for bonuses and rebates are deemed to be made 
in an adequate amount and therefore the application of LAT is not needed. In non-life insurance, the 
provisions for unearned premiums are regularly reviewed considering the difference between the 
amount of expected claims and expenses and provisions for unearned premium.
At least once per year, the Company reviews the adequacy of technical provisions by the so-called 
runoff analysis, which ensures that the originally estimated technical provisions are sufficient for 
future liabilities. The accuracy of the analysis increases with the distance from previous years.

The thus formed technical provisions shall be adequate and sufficient to ensure a permanent capacity 
to meet all liabilities of Triglav Re from reinsurance contracts and has to comply with statutory 
requirements. The adequacy of the provisions is also audited and approved by the appointed certified 
actuary of Triglav Re.

Inadequate	premium	risk
Inadequate premium risk is the risks that the reinsurance claims are higher than expected and/or that 
premiums earned are lower than expected.

Premium risk management is the responsibility of the heads of departments who underwrite reinsurance 
business. They take care that all the procedures related to the conclusion of the reinsurance contracts 
are carried out at a very highly professional level. In addition, they are responsible for establishing a 
strategy regarding the reinsurance portfolio exposure to particular catastrophe events and regions.  

A crucial reinsurance risk faced by Triglav Re is the concentration of reinsurance risks arising from a 
particular event or series of events. Such a concentration may arise through a number of reinsurance 
contracts with the same territorial scope of cover. It could also arise from the accumulation of risks 
within a number of different insurance classes. Concentration of risks can arise from loss events with 
low frequency (e.g. natural disasters), situations in which the Company is exposed to unexpected 
changes in trends (e.g. unexpected changes in human mortality) or unexpected changes in legislation 
that could have an impact on the amount of indemnities and compensations.

Retention	Risk
Retention risk is a risk that a large number of net (aggregate) losses would occur due to an catastrophic 
event or concentrated loss events. Therefore, the Company needs to regulate those parts of the 
assumed risks which are in excess of the Company’s retention limits which are determined in the 



37TRIGLAV RE  Business Report 2015

Maximum retention lines. Maximum retention lines are set for each insurance class wherein the maximum 
amount of coverage varies between classes. The Company manages retention risk by professional 
underwriting, measuring the exposure to various natural hazards by geographic areas, and especially 
by setting appropriate net retention limits and establishing the appropriate reinsurance programs.

Major	loss	risk	as	a	result	of	natural	catastrophes
The Company concludes reinsurance contracts with the companies in different regions worldwide. 
According to the guidelines, the Company is focused primarily on the short-term non-life business. 
Non-life reinsurance business generally includes the covers for losses caused by a variety of natural 
catastrophes. The most exposed risks to natural catastrophes are involved in the fire, technical, 
motor and crop insurance lines of business.

Natural catastrophes are considered to be the events with a low frequency and devastating effects, 
e.g. earthquakes, floods, storms, hail, sleet. A risk is influenced by various factors such as: certain 
regions which are exposed to frequent occurrence of natural disasters, business performance in 
certain regions, the volume of reinsurance cover in a particular region, geographic dispersion of 
reinsurance portfolio, reinsurance terms and conditions related to natural catastrophes.

In assessing the potential loss resulted from natural disasters, some models and methods can be 
used that simulate various catastrophes on the basis of which the amount of loss is estimated taking 
into account different return periods for a particular part of reinsurance portfolio. The Company is 
monitoring its exposure using a reference loss event with a return period of 200 years

The Company regularly monitors its exposure to natural catastrophes by individual risks and by 
geographical regions. Outward reinsurance contracts (retrocession contracts) concluded to cover a 
part of already assumed risk provides better control of the Company’s exposure, thereby protecting 
the Company’s own assets. The previous reinsurance programs have proved to be appropriate, as 
the Company fulfilled all obligations under insurance contracts without any increased risk of liquidity.

Market	risks

Investment	risk is the risk of a loss arising from adverse changes in market risk factors (price of 
equities, interest rates, exchange rates, credit spreads, etc.), which may adversely affect the value 
of investments.

Investment risk derives from the investment portfolio, the purpose of which is to provide security for the 
holders of reinsurance policies, and therefore it is required that technical provisions are totally covered 
by investments.

The basic rules for the management of investment risk are based on:
- adequate dispersion of investments so as to avoid excessive dependence on an individual type of 

investment, individual issuer, group of companies, geographical area and excessive accumulation 
of risk in the portfolio as a whole,

- good credit quality of the credit portfolio and
- high investment liquidity.
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The use of derivatives is permitted only when they contribute to the reduction of risks or facilitate 
efficient portfolio management.

By using sensitivity analyses and stress scenarios, the Company regularly verifies its vulnerability to 
changes in the various risk factors and adjusts them accordingly. 

Interest	 rate	 risk is the risk of loss due to changes in the value of interest-sensitive financial 
instruments resulting from adverse changes in the interest rates and inadequate interest rate 
consistency with assets and liabilities.

A key tool for limiting exposure to interest rate risk represents the limit system, which prescribes the 
maximum permissible interest rate mismatch between assets and liabilities; it also restricts the type 
of permitted debt instruments in the investment portfolio and disallows the speculations with interest 
rate derivatives.

The Company manages interest rate risk by buying or selling financial instruments with appropriate 
maturity and interest rates, by various deposits, by choosing the appropriate duration of the interest 
rate periods and by adjusting the maturity of reinsurance contracts.

By using sensitivity analyses and stress scenarios, the Company regularly verifies its vulnerability to 
changes in the interest rates and adjusts accordingly.

Foreign	currency	risk is the risk of loss due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates and 
inadequate currency matching of assets and liabilities.

The Company continuously regulates the currency risk by monitoring:
- movements in all balance sheet and off-balance sheet items that can affect the currency positions,
- mismatch of assets and liabilities as well as inflows and outflows by each foreign currency separately,
- forecast trends in foreign exchange rates and
- forecasts of foreign exchange rates.

Liquidity	risk
Liquidity risk is the risk of providing liquidity sources. This is the risk of a loss if the Company is not able 
to timely pay all accounts payable or if the Company cannot provide the sufficient funds to settle the 
liabilities at maturity and is therefore forced to ensure the needed funds at significantly higher costs than 
normal. Liquidity risk also includes the market liquidity risk, which is the risk of a possible loss when 
the positions in financial instruments cannot be sold or replaced in a short period of time without a 
significant impact on the market price due to insufficient market depth, due to market imbalances and 
other causes.

The main objective of liquidity management is to ensure that the Company has at any time sufficient 
liquid assets to pay all current liabilities within the prescribed terms and conditions.

Liquidity risk management is carried out mainly by weekly calculations of the liquidity position and 
liquidity ratio, by regular monitoring of inflows and outflows and also of some others liquidity indicators. 
Liquidity risk is reduced through diversified maturity of deposits, which provide cover for daily liquidity 
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needs, as well as through high liquidity of covering assets which in normal market conditions can 
be realised quickly and without higher costs. In the case of calls to make the payment of large 
losses occured to the Cedant (i.e. cash-calls), liquidity risk is controlled by the outward reinsurance 
business, i.e. by a retrocession contract with the appropriate amount of cash calls. Usually, a longer 
period of time is needed to settle the extensive claims.

Credit	risk

Counterparty	default	risk is defined as a risk of losses affecting the Company as a result of changes 
in the financial situation of business partners, issuers of securities and other debtors.

The Company manages credit risk in accordance with the Insurance Act, with implementation of 
regulations adopted by the Agency for Insurance Supervision and also internal rules to impose the 
surplus funds in bank deposits or debt securities of the companies with proper credit rating which 
is regularly monitored. In accordance with the internal rules, the credit rating of the Reinsurers 
(Retrocessionaires) generally should not be lower than “BBB +” by Standard and Poor’s, respectively 
“B ++” by A. M. Best, except for the outward reinsurance of liability and motor liability lines of business 
where a credit rating shall not be lower than “A –“ by Standard and Poor’s or “a-“ by A. M. Best.

Concentration	 risk is a risk associated with the excessive concentration of exposure to a single 
counterparty or a group of connected clients (including financial conglomerates). To avoid the Company’s 
over-dependence on a specific business partner, retrocessionaire, issuers of financial investments, 
geographical areas and certain industries, the corresponding dispersion of credit risk is required.

Operational	risk
The Company pays continual attention to the management of operational risk. Operational risk is 
defined as a risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed:
- implementation of internal processes (causes of the risk of inadequate organization and 

inappropriate business processes can result in business interruptions, lack of information, 
inadequate cost management, poor document management and control, inadequacy in internal 
change management, etc.),

- activities of employees (causes of human resources risks can be found in inadequate human 
resource management, staffing mistakes, inadequate internal regulations, etc.),

- functioning of the implemented systems (risk of inadequate information technology, which includes 
applications and infrastructure, technical aids, etc.) and

- management of external events and their effects (legal risk, loss of credit ratings, unfair competition, 
etc.).

Operational risk does not include the strategic and reputation risk.

Efficient management of operational risks is based on a system of internal controls that must 
be improved and updated from year to year. Triglav Re manages the organisational and business 
process risks by the adjustments to internal organisation, strict definition of responsibilities and gradual 
computerisation of business processes. The staffing risk is managed by applying the knowledge 
transfer system among the employees and by consistent education and planned training. The key 
element of managing information technology risk is the restructuring and upgrading of the information 
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system that will additionally support all reinsurance processes; while the key element of the legal risk 
management is the continuous monitoring of current legislation and the active participation of a legal 
expert in all business decisions.

The Company has also established a system for reporting and for centralized management of loss 
events and incidents arising from operational risk. Reporting is carried out by an appointed employee 
from each organizational unit, and the possibility of anonymous reporting was also introduced. Losses 
are recorded in the central database of loss events, which is controlled by the independent Risk 
management service. Database of loss events includes a description of a loss, its cause, consequences, 
prevention measures and estimation of the costs for each registered loss.

Strategic	and	reputational	risk

Strategic	risk is the risk of a loss arising from making poor business decisions, substandard execution 
of decisions, inadequate asset allocation, or a failure to react effectively to changes in the business 
environment. The Company’s Management Board and Senior Management promptly exchange 
information relevant for making business decisions, for achieving the short-term and long-term goals 
and to make decisions regarding the strategic risk management.

Identifying and assessing a strategic risk is carried out at least once a year, when the actual and 
potential strategic risks to which the Company is exposed are identified and assessed. The Company’s 
professional services are responsible for the preparation of professional documents based on the 
comparison between planned and realised business operations.

Reputational	 risk, often called reputation risk is the risk of a loss resulting from damages to the 
Company’s reputation; which may result in the lost revenue, increased operating, capital or regulatory 
costs, destruction of shareholder value, etc.

This risk may result in legal disputes which can cause the loss of clients and consequently financial loss. 
The management of reputation risk is a duty of all employees of Triglav Re, including its supervisory 
bodies.

Identification of reputation risk is made through reporting of loss events arising from the operational risk 
as well as through internal workshops that are also intended to the self-identification of risks.

5.6	 Future	challenges	in	risk	management

In 2016, the Company will continue to improve the risk management system and follow the 
requirements and guidelines specified in the new Solvency II regime, and will also closely monitor the 
changes in the external and internal environment and adapt to them within the risk appetite.

Great attention is also paid to deliberate coordination of the risk management system with the 
parent company, which provides practically uniform methods of risk measuring, implementation of 
the own risk and solvency assessment and reporting on risk exposures. In doing so, the Company 
must not forget the specifics of reinsurance business, own risk profile, extent and complexity of the 
transaction, which the Company performs.
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Atlantes in chains	from	the	
Oloron Cathedral in France 
express	extreme	effort	in	their	
function:	heads	bent	forward	
to	support	the	weight	of	the	
structure	above	them	and	
forearms	lifted	to	provide	
additional	support.
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FINANCIAL RESULTS 

In 2015, Triglav Re generated net profit amounting to EUR 10,108,076 which primarily results from 
the favourable claims developments on the global scale and high return on investments.

6.1	 Reinsurance	premiums

In 2015, the gross reinsurance premium amounted to EUR 116,839,911 and in comparison with 
2014, it increased by 11.1 percent.

Reinsurance	premium	in	2015	and	2014
 

Breakdown	of	gross	reinsurance	premium	by	territories

Central and West Asia 6.7%

East Asia 9.8%

South and South-East Asia 1.8%
South Africa 0.5%

Eastern Europe 5.6%

Northern Europe 4.1%

Southern Europe 63.4%

Western Europe7.5 %

Caribbean and  Central America 0.7%

in EUR

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014 INDEX PLAN 2015 INDEX TO PLAN

GROSS PREMIUM TOTAL 116,839,911 105,198,717 111.1 108,061,175 108.1
NET PREMIUM TOTAL 68,611,778 57,890,385 118.5 61,423,326 111.7

012345678910111213
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Compared to the previous year, the net premium volume increased by 18.5 percent as a consequence 
of the reduction in outward reinsurance operations in 2015.

Note: Gross reinsurance premium by lines of business is presented in the Chapter on Performance indicators. 

The largest portion in the structure of gross reinsurance premium is represented by the non-life 
reinsurance which in 2015 increased by 1.4 percentage point compared to 2014 and the share of 
marine and aviation reinsurance by 0.1 percentage point. On the other hand, the portion of other 
liability reinsurance decreased by 0.9 percentage point and motor reinsurance by 0.7 percentage 
point. The shares of other lines of business remained at approximately the same level as in 2014.

In the net reinsurance premium structure, the share of property reinsurance increased by 2.3 
percentage points and of marine and aviation reinsurance by 1.3 percentage point while the share 
of motor reinsurance decreased by 2.2 percentage points, of other liability reinsurance by 1.3 
percentage point and of other lines by 0.2 percentage point.

Net reinsurance premium income (calculated from gross reinsurance premiums reduced by reinsurers’ 
share and adjusted by the change in gross unearned premium corrected for the reinsurers’ share 
in unearned premium) amounted to EUR 66,737,038 in 2015 and it increased by 15.6 percent 
compared to 2014.

Property reinsurance 
65.8%

Other liability 
reinsurance 
7.1%

Other liability 
reinsurance 
8.4%

Other 
reinsurance
2.9%

Motor reinsurance 
19.6%

Marine and Aviation 
reinsurance 
 7.3%

Property reinsurance
61.8%

Other 
reinsurance
4.1%

Motor reinsurance 
17.3%

Marine and Aviation 
reinsurance 
 5.7%

Structure	of	gross	reinsurance	
premium	in	2015							

Structure	of	net	reinsurance	
premium	in	2015    
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6.2	 Reinsurance	claims

In comparison with the preceding year, the gross claims increased by 12.8 percent and amounted 
to EUR 56,982,465 and were by 1.3 percent higher than planned; while the net claims were by 8.3 
percent higher than planned.

Settled	claims	in	2015	compared	to	2014

  
Note: Gross reinsurance claims by lines of business are presented in the Chapter on Performance indicators

In 2015, the majority of gross claims occurred in the property and motor reinsurance. Compared 
to 2014, the highest increase in gross claims, i.e. by 4.8 percentage points, was recorded in motor 
and other liability reinsurance, while the share of gross claims in property reinsurance fell by 4.4 
percentage points.

The structure of net claims is similar since the majority of net claims is also related to the property 
reinsurance (59.7 percent) and 21.7 percent to motor reinsurance.

In 2015, net claims incurred (gross claims incurred, reduced by reinsured share and adjusted by the 
change in gross claims provisions corrected for the reinsurers’ share in these provisions) amounted 
to EUR 46,343,082 and were by 14.0 percent higher than the net claims incurred in 2014.

in EUR

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014 INDEX PLAN 2015 INDEX TO PLAN

GROSS CLAIMS TOTAL 56,982,465 50,526,261 112.8 56,263,944 101.3
NET CLAIMS TOTAL 42,063,596 37,900,687 111.0 38,847,967 108.3

Property reinsurance 
60.9%

Other liability 
reinsurance 
7.1%

Other liability 
reinsurance 
8.9%

Other 
reinsurance
2.0%

Motor reinsurance 
21.7%

Marine and Aviation 
reinsurance 
7.8%

Property reinsurance
59.7%

Other 
reinsurance
3.3%

Motor reinsurance 
22.7%

Marine and Aviation 
reinsurance 
6.0%

Structure	of	gross	reinsurance	
claims	in	2015							

Structure	of	net	reinsurance	
claims	in	2015    
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6.3 Gross loss ratio

Gross loss ratio representing the ratio of gross claims paid and gross premiums written, increased 
by 0.8 percentage point in 2015, mainly due to higher amount of claims paid in 2015 compared to 
2014.

 

6.4	 Commission	income	and	expenses

Commission income in 2015 amounted to EUR 9,973,032 and compared to the previous year 
decreased by 0.3 percent. On the other hand, commission expenses amounting to EUR 23,080,119 
in 2015 increased by 4.8 percent, so that the net commission expenses in 2015 amounted to EUR 
13,107,087.

6.5	 Financial	income	and	expenses

As at 31 December 2015, the financial investments amounted to EUR 159,924,382 and in comparison 
with the previous year increased by 8.3 percent, i.e. by EUR 12,196,122.

Structure	of	financial	investments

The Company reported the following investment structure by maturity as at 31 December 2015:
• long-term financial investments amounting to EUR 149,349,896;
• short-term financial investments amounting to EUR 4,422,529;
• financial investments in the Triglav Group companies amounting to EUR 2,225,125;
• retained premiums at Cedants, earned from reinsurance contracts amounting to EUR 3,926,832.

2016

2015

0                      20,000,000            40,000,000                60,000,000               80,000,000              100,000,000             
 GROSS REINSURANCE PREMIUMS       GROSS CLAIMS PAID       GROSS LOSS RATIO

0                                     20.0 %                                40.0 %                               60.0 %                                80.0 %                       

48.8%

in EUR

48.0%

in EUR

31/ 12/ 2015 STRUCTURE 
2015 31/ 12/ 2014 STRUCTURE 

2014 INDEX

Shares and other variable yield securities 2,041,710 1% 1,311,878 1% 155.6

Debt and other fixed yield securities 149,523,152 93% 140,515,709 95% 106.4

Shares in investment funds 159 0% 1,182,412 1% 0.0

Bank deposits 4,422,529 3% 1,026,208 1% 431.0

Financial derivatives 0 0% 0 0% /

Other financial investments 10,000 0% 10,000 0% 100.0

Reinsurers' investments from reinsurance 
contracts 3,926,832 2% 3,682,052 2% 106.6

TOTAL FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS 159,924,382 100% 147,728,260 100% 108.3
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The Company reported the following investment structure by maturity as at 31 December 2015:
- long-term financial investments amounting to EUR 149,349,896;
- short-term financial investments amounting to EUR 4,422,529;
- financial investments in the Triglav Group companies amounting to EUR 2,225,125;
- retained premiums at Cedants, earned from reinsurance contracts amounting to EUR 3,926,832.

The largest part of investments is represented by debt securities, followed by deposits with banks. 
The portion of financial investments of Reinsurers from reinsurance contracts and of shares represents 
the lowest amount in the investment structure.

The structure of an individual type of investments remains the similar to that of the previous year. The 
share of deposits with banks increased by 2.0 percentage points; while the share of debt securities 
decreased by 2.0 percentage points and the share of investment funds by 1.0 percentage point. The 
share of financial investments from reinsurance contracts and of shares remained at the level of t he 
previous year.

The book value return of the entire investment portfolio amounted to 5.4 percent in 2015, while in 
2014 to 5.2 percent.

Investment	income,	investment	expenses	and	return	on	investments	

Financial income in 2015 amounted to EUR 13,172,200, while financial expenses to EUR 4,946,225. 
Total return amounted to EUR 8,225,975, which is by 14.7 percent more than in the previous year.

Company’s investment policy in 2015 remained conservative, and taking into account the principles 
of security, profitability and marketability, the structure of investment portfolio has been optimized 
by the appropriate, diversified and spread investments of the assets covering technical provisions 
and own resources. In 2016, the Company will continue to regularly monitor the unstable financial 
situation and accordingly invest the funds in less risky and correspondingly profitable investments.

 INVESTMENT INCOME      INVESTMENT EXPENSES      RETURN ON INVESTMENTS

0.00       2,000,000     4,000,000      6,000,000    8,000,000    10,000,000   12,000,000   14,000,000

in EUR

2015 8,225,975

2014 7,127,927
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6.6 Operating expenses

Gross operating expenses in 2015 compared to the previous year increased by 8.6 percent. 
Amortisation and depreciation costs compared to 2014 increased by 9.7, labour costs by 9.4 percent 
and other operating expenses by 6.7 percent. Asset management expenses for 2015 amounted to 
EUR 248,427 (in 2014 to EUR 230,218) and are recognized in the income statement under “financial 
expenses”.

Breakdown	of	operating	expenses

6.7	 Financial	result	indicators

in EUR

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014 INDEX

Depreciation of operating assets 64,196 58,509 109.7
Labour costs 2,534,775 2,316,600 109.4

Costs of services provided by individuals not 
engaged in business activity, including 
contributions

4,031 8,336 48.4

Other operating expenses 763,215 715,051 106.7

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 3,366,218 3,098,496 108.6

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014

Retention rate 58.7% 55.0%

Share of gross premium written outside the Group 
to gross premium total 38.4% 35.2%

Share of net operating expenses to gross 
premium 2.9% 2.9%

Loss ratio* 69.0% 70.1%

Expense ratio* 24.6% 26.6%
Combined ratio* 93.6% 96.7%

*Calculated according to the S&P methodology 
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Both the caryatids of the Erechtheion and the column statues of Chartres 
depict figures holding up other pieces of architecture. The caryatids of 
Chartres are Biblical figures and the clothing that is draped on the bodies is 
flowing and loose, but the impressions of each caryatid’s stomach, breasts, 
hips, thighs and knees are still evident.
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FINANCIAL POSITION 

As at 31 December 2015, the Company’s balance sheet total amounted to EUR 260,568,740 and 
increased by 3.1 percent compared to 31 December 2014. 

7.1 Financial assets

As at 31 December 2015, the financial assets, which constitute 79.1 percent of the total assets, 
increased by 4.5 percent and other assets which constitute 0.2 percent of the total assets also 
increased compared to 31 December 2014, whereas the receivables which represent 20.7 percent 
of the total assets decreased by 2.2 percent.

Structure	of	financial	assets	

 

7.2	 Financial	liabilities

The largest portion of liabilities represents gross technical provisions, reaching as much as 54.3 
percent. As at 31 December 2015, the total equity of the Company amounted to EUR 75,557,215 
and increased by 10.8 percent in comparison to 31 December 2014. The substantial portion of 
liabilities (16.1 percent) is represented by other liabilities which amounted to EUR 42,042,103 at 31 
December 2015 and were mainly related to the liabilities from the reinsurance operations.

450,09954,020,554

266,701

0     30,000,000      60,000,000      90,000,000     120,000,000      150,000,000     180,000,000     210,000,000   240,000,000     

 INVESTMENTS      RECEIVABLES      OTHER

in EUR

31. 12. 2015 206,098,087

31. 12. 2014 197,200,490 55,208,962
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Structure	of	liabilities

 

7.3	 Financial	position	indicators

0     30,000,000      60,000,000      90,000,000     120,000,000      150,000,000     180,000,000     210,000,000   

 EQUITY      GROSS TECHNICAL PROVISIONS      OTHER LIABILITIES       OTHER LIABILITIES

in EUR

31. 12. 2015 1,381,18742,042,10375,557,215 141,588,235

31. 12. 2014 1,892,17244,587,97068,170,304 139,034,656

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014

Share of capital in total liabilities 29.0% 27.0%
Return on equity 14.1% 12.5%

Share of gross technical provisions in total liabilities 54.3% 55.0%

Share of financial assets in total assets 61.4% 58.5%
Capital surplus 41,224,326 35,073,948
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012345678910111213
SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER 
THE END OF ACCOUNTING 
PERIOD AND TRANSPARENCY 
OF FINANCIAL RELATIONS

8.1	 Significant	events	after	the	end	of	the	accounting	period

There were no significant events that could affect the Company’s position after the end of accounting 
period.

8.2	 Transparency	of	financial	relations

According to the Act on transparency of financial relations and separate accounts for various 
activities, the Company is listed in the public companies group and public credit institutions.

In 2015, the Company did not receive any public funds set out in the said Act.
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ACCOUNTING REPORT 2015
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in EUR

Note Balance as at 
31. 12. 2015

Balance as at 
31. 12. 2014

ASSETS 260,568,740 252,676,152

Intangible assets 11.1 26,649 15,015

Property, plant & equipment 11.2 239,210 171,959

Financial investments in Group's companies 11.4 2,225,125 1,893,147

Financial investments in other companies 11.4 157,699,257 145,835,113

- loans and deposits 8,359,361 4,718,261

- available for sale 149,339,896 140,989,550

- recognized at fair value 0 127,302

Technical provisions ceded to Reinsurers 11.5 46,173,706 49,472,230

Receivables 11.6 54,020,554 55,208,962

- receivables from reinsurance and co-insurance 54,014,893 55,205,257

- other receivables 5,661 3,705

Other assets 11.7 77,020 74,909

Cash and cash equivalents 107,220 4,816

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 260,568,740 252,676,152

Equity 11.8 75,557,215 68,170,304

- share capital 4,950,000 4,950,000

- share premium 1,146,704 1,146,704

- reserves from profit 3,116,733 2,955,378

- revaluation surplus 7,548,376 10,269,542

- retained earnings 48,848,681 41,431,130

- net profit for the year 9,946,721 7,417,550

Technical provisions 11.9 141,588,235 139,034,656

- unearned premiums 23,489,335 20,648,887
- provisions for outstanding claims 117,984,249 117,968,995
- other technical provisions 114,651 416,775

Other provisions 11.10 178,089 163,081
Deferred tax liabilies 11.3 1,203,099 1,729,091

Operating liabilities 11.11 41,177,909 42,858,879

- liabilities from reinsurance and co-insurance 40,510,652 42,637,649

- current tax liabilities 667,256 221,230

Other liabilities 11.11 864,194 720,141

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

9.1	 Statement	of	financial	position

Notes to financial statements are an integral part of the financial statements and shall be read in conjunction with them.

012345678910111213



TRIGLAV RE  Business Report 201556

in EUR

Note YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014

NET PREMIUMS EARNED  	 12.1   66,737,038 57,716,257 
- gross reinsurance premiums written 116,839,911 105,198,717 

- premiums written ceded for retrocession -48,228,133 -47,308,333 
- change in unearned premiums -1,874,740 -174,127 

TOTAL INCOME FROM FINANCIAL ASSETS  	 12.2   13,172,200 8,857,500 
- income from financial assets in related companies 101,782 98,258 

- income from financial assets in other companies 13,070,418 8,759,242 

OTHER REINSURANCE INCOME  	 12.3   9,973,032 10,002,303 

- commission income 9,973,032 10,002,303 

OTHER INCOME 3,658 3,250 

NET CLAIMS INCURRED  	 12.4   -46,343,082 -40,526,546 

- gross claims paid -56,982,465 -50,526,261 

- retrocessionaires' share of claims paid 14,918,868 12,625,574 

- change in provisions for outstanding claims -4,279,486 -2,625,858 

CHANGE IN OTHER TECHNICAL PROVISIONS 298,870 61,356 

EXPENSES FOR BONUSES AND REBATES 3,253 8,110 

OPERATING EXPENSES  	 12.5   -3,117,791 -2,868,277 

- insurance acquisition costs -1,278,153 -1,122,585 

- other operating expenses -1,839,638 -1,745,692 

EXPENSES FROM FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES  	 12.2   -4,946,225 -1,684,574 

- Expenses from financial assets in related companies -273,944 -245,867 

- Expenses from financial assets in other companies -4,672,281 -1,438,707 

- impairment of financial assets other than recognized at fair value through     
profit or loss -129 0 

   - losses on disposal of investments -732,759 -36,736 
   - expenses from change in fair value 0 -151,547 
   - other financial expenses -3,939,393 -1,250,424 
OTHER REINSURANCE EXPENSES -23,258,394 -22,174,198 

- commission expenses  	 12.3   -23,080,119 -22,016,606 

- other expenses -178,275 -157,592 

OTHER EXPENSES  	 12.5   -350,693 -308,215 

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 12,171,865 9,086,968 

TAX EXPENSES  	 12.6   -2,063,789 -1,542,209 

NET PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD 10,108,076 7,544,759 

Basic net earnings per share 674 Euros/share 503 Euros/share

Diluted net earnings per share 674 Euros/share 503 Euros/share

9.2	 Income	statement

Notes to financial statements are an integral part of the financial statements and shall be read in conjunction with them.
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in EUR

Note YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014

Net profit/loss for the year after tax 10,108,076 7,544,759 
Other comprehensive income after tax  -2,721,165 7,675,695 

a) Items that may not be reclassified to profit or loss in later periods 0 0 

b) Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss in later periods -2,721,165 7,675,695 
Net gains/losses from the remeasurement of available-for-sale financial assets 11.8 -3,278,512 9,247,825 

- gains/losses recognized in fair value reserve 559,252 9,444,627 

- transfer of gains/losses from fair value reserve to profit or loss -3,837,764 -196,802 

Tax on other comprehensive income 12.6 557,347 -1,572,130 

Comprehensive income for the year after tax 7,386,911 15,220,454 

Basic net earnings per share 674 Euros/share 503 Euros/share

Diluted net earnings per share 674 Euros/share 503 Euros/share

9.3	 Statement	of	comprehensive	income

Notes to financial statements are an integral part of the financial statements and shall be read in conjunction with them.
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in EUR

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Income statement items 8,175,803 2,887,351
Net written premiums for the period 68,611,778 57,890,385
Investment income (excluding financial income), arising from: 1,682,996 693,151

 - technical provisions 1,682,996 693,151
 - other sources 0 0

Other operating income (excluding revaluation and provisions' reductions) and financial income from 
operating receivables 3,658 3,250

Net claims for the period -42,063,596 -37,900,687
Bonuses and rebates paid 
Net operating expenses excluding amortization costs and accrued insurance acquisition expenses -16,688,906 -15,216,615
Investment expenses (excluding amortization and financial expenses) financed from: -1,868,968 -1,156,486

 - technical sources -1,854,726 -1,018,745
 - other sources -14,242 -137,741

Other operating expenses excluding amortization (except for revaluation and without increase in provisions) -135,980 -157,591
Income tax and other taxes excluded from operating expenses -1,365,178 -1,268,056
Changes in net operating assets (insurance receivables, other receivables, other assets and deferred 
tax assets and liabilities) - operating items from the statement of financial position -852,020 462,958

- opening less closing reinsurance receivables 1,190,364 1,689,308
- opening less closing other receivables from (re)insurance operations -1,956 -11,726
- opening less closing other receivables and assets 0 614
- opening less closing deferred tax assets 0 0
- closing less opening reinsurance liabilities -2,126,997 -1,101,732
- closing less opening other business liabilities 86,568 0
- closing less other liabilities (excluding unearned premiums) -113,506
- closing less opening deferred tax liabilities 0 0

Net cash from operating activities 7,323,783 3,350,310
CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Cash inflows from investing activities 155,020,658 157,009,576
Cash infows received from investing activities 4,315,304 4,342,744

 - investments financed from technical provisions 4,298,672 4,275,869
 - other investments 16,631 66,875

Cash inflows from profit sharing related to investing activities 47,324 50,163
 - investments financed from technical provisions 47,324 47,904
 - other investments 0 2,259

Cash inflows from the disposal of intangible assets financed from 0 0
 - technical provisions 0 0
 - other sources 0 0

Inflows from disposal of property, plant and equipment financed from: 9,930 556
 - technical provisions 556
 - other sources 9,930

Inflows from disposal of long-term financial investments financed from: 67,331,003 69,455,317
 - technical provisions 64,906,038 66,690,248
 - other sources 2,424,965 2,765,069

Inflows from disposal of short-term financial investments, financed from: 83,317,097 83,160,796
 - technical provisions 80,915,600 82,676,000
 - other sources 2,401,497 484,796

Cash outflows from investing activities -162,242,037 -160,366,654
Payments for acquisition of intangible assets -14,929 -2,200
Payments for acquisition of property, plant and equipment  financed from: -144,678 -32,660

 - technical provisions -144,678 0
 - other sources 0 -32,660

Payments for acquisition of non-current investments, financed from: -80,124,233 -79,715,686
 - technical provisions -78,542,713 -75,083,220
 - other sources -1,581,520 -4,632,466

Payments for acquisition of current investments, financed from: -81,958,197 -80,616,108
 - technical provisions -79,311,921 -80,616,108
 - other sources -2,646,276 0

Net inflows/outflows from investing activities -7,221,379 -3,357,078
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Cash outflows from financing activities 0 0
Payments for dividends and other shares in profit 0 0
Net inflows/outflows from financing activities  0 0
Closing balance of cash and cash equivalents 4,816
x) Net cash for the period 102,404 -6,768
y) Opening balance of cash and cash equivalents 4,816 11,584

Notes to financial statements are an integral part of the financial statements and shall be read in conjunction with them.

9.4	 Statement	of	cashflow

in EUR

I.         
Share 
capital

II. 

Capital 

reserves

III.Profit reserves IV. 
Revaluation 

surplus

V.  Retained 
Net Profit or 

Loss

VI. Net 
profit/loss

TOTAL 
EQUITY

Legal and 
statutory 
reserves

Credit risk 
reserves

Other 
reserves

Net profit/
loss for the 

year

Opening balance 1 January 2014 4,950,000 1,146,704 519,762 1,688,446 619,961 2,593,847 34,879,665 6,551,466 52,949,850

Comprehensive income for the year after tax 7,675,695 7,544,759 15,220,454

   a) Net Profit or Loss 7,544,759 7,544,759

   b) Other comprehensive income 7,675,695 7,675,695

Subscribed or paid-in additional capital 0

Return on capital 0

Net purchase/sale of treasury shares 0

Payment of dividend/bonus shares 0

Payment of dividends 0

Net profit allocation to profit reserves 127,209 -127,209 0

Covering of losses from previous years 0

Creation and use of reserves for credit risk and cat. losses 0

Transfer of net profit to retained net profit or loss 6,551,465 -6,551,465 0

Closing balance 31 December 2014 4,950,000 1,146,704 519,762 1,815,655 619,961 10,269,542 41,431,130 7,417,550 68,170,304

Opening balance 1 January 2015 4,950,000 1,146,704 519,762 1,815,655 619,961 10,269,542 41,431,130 7,417,550 68,170,304

Comprehensive income for the year after tax -2,721,165 10,108,076 7,386,911

   a) Net Profit or Loss 10,108,076 10,108,076

   b) Other comprehensive income -2,721,165 -2,721,165

Subscribed or paid-in additional capital 0

Return on capital 0

Net purchase/sale of treasury shares 0

Payment of dividend/bonus shares 0

Payment of dividends 0

Net profit allocation to profit reserves 161,355 -161,355 0

Covering of losses from previous years 0

Creation and use of reserves for credit risk and cat. losses 0

Transfer of net profit to retained net profit or loss 7,417,550 -7,417,550 0

Closing balance 31 December 2015 4,950,000 1,146,704 519,762 1,977,010 619,961 7,548,376 48,848,681 9,946,721 75,557,215
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in EUR

I.         
Share 
capital

II. 

Capital 

reserves

III.Profit reserves IV. 
Revaluation 

surplus

V.  Retained 
Net Profit or 

Loss

VI. Net 
profit/loss

TOTAL 
EQUITY

Legal and 
statutory 
reserves

Credit risk 
reserves

Other 
reserves

Net profit/
loss for the 

year

Opening balance 1 January 2014 4,950,000 1,146,704 519,762 1,688,446 619,961 2,593,847 34,879,665 6,551,466 52,949,850

Comprehensive income for the year after tax 7,675,695 7,544,759 15,220,454

   a) Net Profit or Loss 7,544,759 7,544,759

   b) Other comprehensive income 7,675,695 7,675,695

Subscribed or paid-in additional capital 0

Return on capital 0

Net purchase/sale of treasury shares 0

Payment of dividend/bonus shares 0

Payment of dividends 0

Net profit allocation to profit reserves 127,209 -127,209 0

Covering of losses from previous years 0

Creation and use of reserves for credit risk and cat. losses 0

Transfer of net profit to retained net profit or loss 6,551,465 -6,551,465 0

Closing balance 31 December 2014 4,950,000 1,146,704 519,762 1,815,655 619,961 10,269,542 41,431,130 7,417,550 68,170,304

Opening balance 1 January 2015 4,950,000 1,146,704 519,762 1,815,655 619,961 10,269,542 41,431,130 7,417,550 68,170,304

Comprehensive income for the year after tax -2,721,165 10,108,076 7,386,911

   a) Net Profit or Loss 10,108,076 10,108,076

   b) Other comprehensive income -2,721,165 -2,721,165

Subscribed or paid-in additional capital 0

Return on capital 0

Net purchase/sale of treasury shares 0

Payment of dividend/bonus shares 0

Payment of dividends 0

Net profit allocation to profit reserves 161,355 -161,355 0

Covering of losses from previous years 0

Creation and use of reserves for credit risk and cat. losses 0

Transfer of net profit to retained net profit or loss 7,417,550 -7,417,550 0

Closing balance 31 December 2015 4,950,000 1,146,704 519,762 1,977,010 619,961 7,548,376 48,848,681 9,946,721 75,557,215

9.5	 Statement	of	changes	in	equity

Notes to financial statements are an integral part of the financial statements and shall be read in conjunction with them.
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The Townley Caryatid 
is one of the most 
known Romans copies 
of the Erechtheion 
caryatids. She is a 
2.25m high Pentelic 
marble caryatid, 
depicting a woman 
dressed to take part 
in religious rites 
(possibly fertility rites 
related to Demeter 
or Ceres, due to the 
cereal motifs on her 
modius headdress).

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Townley_Caryatid
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Pentelic_marble
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Pentelic_marble
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Caryatid
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Demeter
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Ceres_(Roman_mythology)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Modius_(headdress)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

10.1	 Reporting	entity

Triglav Re is a company limited by shares with its registered office at Miklošičeva ulica 19, Ljubljana. 
The Company is a reinsurance company underwriting non-life and life (only death risk) insurance in 
compliance with the provisions of the Insurance Act.  

The Company’s sole and ultimate shareholder is Zavarovalnica Triglav d.d. with its registered office 
at Miklošičeva 19, in Ljubljana, Slovenia. 

Triglav Re is a member company of the Triglav Group. The consolidated annual report for Triglav 
Group is prepared by Zavarovalnica Triglav d.d. The annual report of the Triglav Group is available at 
the headquarters of Zavarovalnica Triglav d.d., Miklošičeva cesta 19, Ljubljana, Slovenia.

10.2  Basis for preparation

10.2.1	 Statement	of	compliance

The Company’s Management confirmed the Company’s financial statements on 31 March 
2016. The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union, and interpretations adopted by the 
International Financial Reporting Standards Committee (IFRIC) as adopted by the European Union, 
and in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act. At the balance sheet date, taking 
into account the certification process of standards in the European Union, there is no difference 
between the applied IFRS and IFRS adopted by the European Union in the Company’s accounting 
policies.The audited 2015 financial statements shall be adopted by the Supervisory Board of Triglav 
Re in compliance with the Articles of Association, the Companies Act and IAS 10; and together 
with the Report of the Supervisory Board presented to the Shareholders’ Meeting of Triglav Re for 
information. The owner of Triglav Re is allowed to subsequently change the financial statements of 
Triglav Re.The financial statements of Triglav Re represent the separate financial statements.

012345678910111213
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10.2.2	 Functional	and	presentation	currency

Financial statements are presented in euro which is the currency of the primary economic environment, 
i.e. the Republic of Slovenia, in which the Company operates. In the financial statements, the amounts 
are rounded to one euro.

10.2.3	 Basis	of	measurement

Financial statements are based on a historical cost approach, except for financial assets which are 
valued at fair value.

10.2.4	 Use	of	the	accounting	judgements	and	estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires that the Management Board 
provides judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies 
and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are considered to 
be reasonable in the circumstances and on information available at the date of preparation of the 
financial statements, and form the basis of making the judgments on book values of assets and 
liabilities that are not clearly evident from other sources. Such estimates may change the profit or 
loss.

The estimates and assumptions are regularly reviewed. Adjustments of accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate was corrected and in all future periods which will be 
affected.

The accounting judgements and estimates are mostly used in the assessment of premiums, 
commissions and provisions for reinsurance contracts.

10.2.5	 New	standards	and	interpretations	issued	but	not	yet	effective

New	standards	and	interpretations	which	are	not	yet	effective

The standards and interpretations disclosed below have been issued but were not yet effective up 
to the date of issuance of the separate financial statements. The Company intends to adopt these 
standards and interpretations, if applicable, in the preparation of its financial statements when they 
become effective.

IFRS	9	Financial	Instruments
In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, which includes 
the requirements of all phases of the IFRS 9 improvement project and replaces IAS 39 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and all previous versions of IFRS 9. The revised standard 
introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets and liabilities, 
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the recognition of their impairment, and hedge accounting. The revised IFRS 9 is effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with early application permitted. Retrospective 
application is required, but comparative information is not compulsory. Early application of previous 
versions of IFRS 9 issued in 2009, 2010 and 2013 is permitted if an entity made a transition to IFRS 
before 1 February 2015. The standard has not yet been approved by the EU.

The Company does not expect the amendment to have a material impact on the financial statements.

IFRS	14	Regulatory	Deferral	Accounts
IFRS 14 is an optional standard that allows an entity to continue applying most of its existing generally 
accepted accounting principles to accounting for regulatory deferral account balances upon its first-
time adoption of IFRS. Entities that adopt IFRS 14 must present the regulatory deferral accounts as 
separate line items on the statement of financial position and present movements in these account 
balances as separate line items in the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 
The standard requires disclosures on the nature of, and risks associated with, the entity’s rate-
regulation and the effects of that rate-regulation on its financial statements. IFRS 14 is effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. The standard has not yet been approved by 
the EU.

The Company does not expect the amendment to have a material impact on the financial statements. 

IFRS	15	Revenue	from	Contracts	with	Customers
In May 2014, the International Accounting Standards Board issued IFRS 15, which establishes a new 
five-step model for the recognition of revenue arising from contracts with customers. Under IFRS 
15 revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to 
be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. The principles in IFRS 15 
provide a more structured approach to measuring and recognising revenue. The new standard is 
applicable to all entities and supersedes all current revenue recognition requirements under IFRS. 
Either a full or modified retrospective application is required for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2017, with early application permitted. The standard has not yet been approved by the EU.

The Company is currently assessing the impact of the new standard and plans to adopt it on the 
required effective date.

Amendments	to	IFRS	11	Joint	Arrangements:	Accounting	for	Acquisitions	of	Interests
The amendments to IFRS 11 require that a joint operator accounting for the acquisition of an interest 
in a joint operation, in which the activity of the joint operation constitutes a business, must apply the 
relevant IFRS 3 principles for business combinations accounting. The amendments also clarify that 
a previously held interest in a joint operation is not remeasured on the acquisition of an additional 
interest in the same joint operation while joint control is retained. In addition, a scope exception has 
been added to IFRS 11 to specify that the amendments do not apply when the parties sharing joint 
control, including the reporting entity, are under common control of the same ultimate controlling 
party.

The amendments apply to both the acquisition of the initial interest in a joint operation and the 
acquisition of any additional interests in the same joint operation. They are effective for annual 
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periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016, with early application permitted. The amendments to 
the standard have not yet been approved by the EU.

The Company does not expect the amendments to have a material impact on the financial statements.

Amendments	to	IAS	16	and	IAS	38:	Clarification	of	Acceptable	Methods	of	Depreciation	
and	Amortisation
The amendments clarify the principle in IAS 16 and IAS 38 that revenue reflects a pattern of economic 
benefits that are generated from operating a business (of which the asset is part) rather than the 
economic benefits that are consumed through the use of the asset. As a result, a revenue-based 
method cannot be used to depreciate property, plant and equipment and may only be used in 
very limited circumstances to amortise intangible assets. The amendments are effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016, with early application  permitted. The amendments to 
the standard have not yet been approved by the EU.

The Company does not expect the amendment to have a material impact on the financial statements. 

Amendments	to	IAS	27:	Equity	Method	in	Separate	Financial	Statements
The amendments will allow entities to use the equity method to account for investments in subsidiaries, 
joint ventures and associates in their separate financial statements. Entities already applying IFRS 
and electing to change to the equity method in its separate financial statements will have to apply 
that change retrospectively. For first-time adopters of IFRS electing to use the equity method in its 
separate financial statements, they will be required to apply this method from the date of transition to 
IFRS. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016, with 
early application permitted.

These amendments are not expected to have any material impact on the Company’s financial 
statements.

Amendments	to	IFRS	10	and	IAS	28:	Sale	or	Contribution	of	Assets	between	an	Investor	
and	its	Associate	or	Joint	Venture
The amendments address the conflict between IFRS 10 and IAS 28 in dealing with the loss of control 
of a subsidiary that is sold or contributed to an associate or joint venture. The amendments clarify 
that the gain or loss resulting from the sale or contribution of assets that constitute a business, 
as defined in IFRS 3, between an investor and its associate or joint venture, is recognised in full. 
Any gain or loss resulting from the sale or contribution of assets that do not constitute a business, 
however, is recognised only to the extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the associate or joint 
venture. These amendments must be applied prospectively and are effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2016, with early application permitted.

These amendments are not expected to have any impact on the Company’s financial statements.
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Annual	improvements	2012-2014	Cycle

In the period 2012-2014, the Governing Board of the International Accounting Standards published 
a set of changes disclosed below, which are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2016, with early application permitted.

IFRS	5	Non-current	Assets	Held	for	Sale	and	Discontinued	Operations	(Changes	in	methods	
of	disposal)
The amendment clarifies that changing from one of the disposal methods to the other (through sale 
or through distribution to the owners) should not be considered to be a new plan of disposal, rather 
it is a continuation of the original plan. There is therefore no interruption of the application of the 
requirements in IFRS 5. The amendment applies for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2016.

The amendments introduce specific guidance in IFRS 5 for when an entity reclassifies an asset (or 
disposal group) from held for sale to held for distribution to owners (or vice versa), or when held-for-
distribution accounting is discontinued. The amendments state that:
• such reclassifications should not be considered changes to a plan of sale or a plan of distribution 

to owners and that the classification, presentation and measurement requirements applicable to 
the new method of disposal should be applied; and

• assets that no longer meet the criteria for held for distribution to owners (and do not meet the 
criteria for held for sale) should be treated in the same way as assets that cease to be classified 
as held for sale.

The Company does not expect the amendment to have a material impact on the financial statements. 

IFRS	7	Financial	Instruments:	Disclosures	(with	consequential	amendments	to	IFRS	1)
The amendment clarifies that a servicing contract that includes a fee can constitute continuing 
involvement in a financial asset. Also, the amendment clarifies that the IFRS 7 disclosures relating 
to the offsetting of financial assets and financial liabilities are not required in the condensed interim 
financial report.

The amendments provide additional guidance to clarify whether a servicing contract is continuing 
involvement in a transferred asset for the purposes of the disclosures required in relation to 
transferred assets. Paragraph 42C(c) of IFRS 7 states that a pass through arrangement under a 
servicing contract does not, in itself, constitute a continuing involvement for the purposes of the 
transfer disclosure requirements.

Applicability	 of	 the	 amendments	 to	 IFRS	 7	 offsetting	 disclosure	 to	 condensed	 interim	
financial	statements
Amendment clarifies the application of amendments to IFRS 7 for disclosure requirements on 
offsetting financial assets and liabilities in the condensed interim financial statements.
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Amendments to IFRS 7 were made and then adopted by the Governing Board of the International 
Financial Reporting Standards to remove uncertainty as to whether the disclosure requirements 
on offsetting Company’s financial assets and liabilities should be included in its condensed interim 
financial statements on the basis of the requirements that were published in December 2011 and 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.

The amendments apply for future periods in accordance with IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in 
Accounting Estimates and Errors.

The Company does not expect the amendment to have a material impact on the financial statements.

IAS	19	Employee	Benefits	(discount	rate:	regional	market	issue)
Clarifies that the high quality corporate bonds used in estimating the discount rate for post-
employment benefits should be denominated in the same currency as the benefits to be paid. Thus, 
the depth of the market for high quality corporate bonds should be assessed at currency level.

The amendments apply from the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented in the 
financial statements in which the amendments are first applied. Any initial adjustment arising should 
be recognised in retained earnings at the beginning of that period. The amended standard is effective 
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016.

The Company does not expect the amendment to have a material impact on the financial statements. 

IAS	 34	 Interim	Financial	Reporting	 (disclosure	 of	 information	 »elsewhere	 in	 the	 interim	
financial	report«)
The amendments clarify the requirements relating to information required by IAS 34 that is presented 
elsewhere within the interim financial report but outside the interim financial statements. The 
amendments require that such information be incorporated by way of a cross-reference from the 
interim financial statements to the other part of the Interim financial report that is available to users 
on the same terms and at the same time as the Interim financial statements.

The amendments apply for future periods in accordance with IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in 
Accounting Estimates and Errors.

The Company does not expect the amendment to have a material impact on the financial statements. 

Amendments	to	IAS	1:	Disclosure	Initiative
The amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements clarify, rather than significantly 
change, existing IAS 1 requirements. The amendments clarify:
• the materiality requirements in IAS 1,
• that specific line items in the statement(s) of profit or loss and OCI and the statement of financial 

position may be disaggregated,
• that entities have flexibility as to the order in which they present the notes to financial statements,
• that the share of OCI of associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method must 

be presented in aggregate as a single line item, and classified between those items that will or will 
not be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss.
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Furthermore, the amendments clarify the requirements that apply when additional subtotals are 
presented in the statement of financial position and the statement(s) of profit or loss and OCI. 
These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016, with early 
application permitted. 

The Company expects that the amendment will not have a material impact on the financial statements.

Amendments	to	IFRS	10,	IFRS	12	and	IAS	28	Investment Entities:	Applying	the	Consolidation	
Exception
The amendments address issues that have arisen in applying the investment entities exception 
under IFRS 10. The amendments to IFRS 10 clarify that the exemption from presenting consolidated 
financial statements applies to a parent entity that is a subsidiary of an investment entity, when the 
investment entity measures all of its subsidiaries at fair value.

Furthermore, the amendments to IFRS 10 clarify that only a subsidiary of an investment entity that is not 
an investment entity itself and that provides support services to the investment entity is consolidated. 
All other subsidiaries of an investment entity are measured at fair value. The amendments to IAS 28 
allow the investor, when applying the equity method, to retain the fair value measurement applied by 
the investment entity associate or joint venture to its interests in subsidiaries. These amendments are 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016, with early application permitted.

The Company expects that the amendment will not have a material impact on the financial statements.

New	standards

The accounting policies applied in the compilation of financial statements are the same as those 
used in the preparation of financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2014, except for 
adoption of new or amended standards that came into effect for annual periods beginning on 1 
January 2015 and are presented below.

New	standards	and	interpretations	which	came	into	force	on	1	January	2015

Amendments	to	IAS	19	Defined	Benefit	Plans:	Employee	Contributions
IAS 19 requires an entity to consider contributions from employees or third parties when accounting 
for defined benefit plans. Where the contributions are linked to service, they should be attributed 
to periods of service as a negative benefit. These amendments clarify that, if the amount of the 
contributions is independent of the number of years of service, an entity is permitted to recognise 
such contributions as a reduction in the service cost in the period in which the service is rendered, 
instead of allocating the contributions to the periods of service. This amendment is effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014. 

The amendment did not have any material impact on the Company’s financial statements.
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Annual	Improvements	2010-2012	Cycle

IFRS	2	Share-based	Payment
Amendment clarifies various definitions of service conditions related to performance or a specific 
requirement that an employee must remain in the entity’s employ.The amendment did not have any 
material impact on the Company’s financial statements.

IFRS	3	Business	Combinations
The amendment will apply prospectively and clarifies that all contingent consideration arrangements 
classified as liabilities (or assets) arising from a business combination should be subsequently 
measured at fair value through profit or loss whether or not they fall within the scope of IAS 39.

The amendment did not have any material impact on the Company’s financial statements.

IFRS	8	Operating	Segments
The amendments will apply prospectively and clarify that:
•  an entity must disclose the judgements made by management in applying the aggregation criteria 

in paragraph 12 of IFRS 8, including a brief description of operating segments that have been 
aggregated and the economic characteristics (e.g., sales and gross margins) used to assess 
whether the segments are ‘similar’ or not; and

• the reconciliation of segment assets to total assets is only required to be disclosed if the 
reconciliation is reported to the chief operating decision maker, similar to the required disclosure 
for segment liabilities.

The amended standard did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements.

IAS	16	Property,	Plant	and	Equipment	and	IAS	38	Intangible	Assets
The amendment is applied prospectively and clarifies in IAS 16 and IAS 38 that the asset may be 
revalued by reference to observable data by either adjusting the gross carrying amount of the asset 
to market value or by determining the market value of the carrying value and adjusting the gross 
carrying amount proportionately so that the resulting carrying amount equals the market value. In 
addition, the accumulated depreciation or amortisation is the difference between the gross and 
carrying amounts of the asset.

The amended standard did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements, 
because the Company does not value its assets by the revaluation model.

IAS	24	Related	Party	Disclosures
The amendment is applied prospectively and clarifies that a management entity (an entity that provides 
key management personnel services) is a related party subject to the related party disclosures. In 
addition, an entity that uses a management entity is required to disclose the expenses incurred for 
management services.The amended standard did not have a material impact on the Company’s 
reporting.
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Annual	Improvements	2011-2013	Cycle

IFRS	3	Business	Combinations
The amendment is applied prospectively and clarifies for the scope exceptions within IFRS 3 that:
•  joint arrangements, not just joint ventures, are outside the scope of IFRS 3;
• this scope exception applies only to the accounting in the financial statements of the joint 

arrangement itself.

The amended standard did not have a material impact on the Company’s reporting.

IFRS	13	Fair	Value	Measurement
The amendment is applied prospectively and clarifies that the portfolio exception in IFRS 13 can be 
applied not only to financial assets and financial liabilities, but also to other contracts within the scope 
of IAS 39.

The amended standard did not have a material impact on the Company’s reporting.

IAS	40	Investment	Property
The description of ancillary services in IAS 40 differentiates between investment property and owner-
occupied property (i.e., property, plant and equipment). The amendment is applied prospectively and 
clarifies that IFRS 3, and not the description of ancillary services in IAS 40, is used to determine if the 
transaction is the purchase of an asset or a business combination.

The amended standard did not have a material impact on the Company’s reporting.

10.3	 Essential	accounting	policies

The Company shall prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis. This report is a 
summarized version of the Annual report of Triglav Re, d.d. for the year 2015, published in the 
Slovene language. Referring to the full report, it highlights information assessed by the Management 
as significant and important.

10.3.1	 Property,	plant	and	equipment

Recognition	and	measurement
Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at the cost less accumulated depreciation 
adjustment and impairment losses, if any.

Subsequent	costs	 	
The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the book value 
of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the 
Company and its cost can be measured reliably. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, 
plant and equipment are recognised in profit or loss when incurred.
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Amortisation	&	Depreciation
Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of 
each part of an item of property, plant and equipment. The estimated useful lives are as follows: 
                      
• Plant and equipment     4		years	  
• Motor vehicles    8	years	
• Computers and related equipment  2	years	            
 
Depreciation and amortisation methods and useful lives are reassessed and adjusted if appropriate 
at each reporting date. Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with 
book value and are included in the income statement.

10.3.2	 	Intangible	assets	

Recognition	and	measurement
Intangible assets that are acquired by Triglav Re and have finite useful lives are measured at the cost 
less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Subsequent	costs	
Subsequent costs are recognised only when they increase the future economic benefits embodied 
in the specific asset to which they relate. All other expenses are recognised in profit or loss when 
incurred.

Amortisation	&	Depreciation
Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives 
of intangible assets from the date that they are available for use. The estimated useful lives are as 
follows:
                                                                                                     
• Software     5	years

The useful lives of assets are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate at each reporting date. Gains and 
losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amounts and are included 
in the income statement.
 

10.3.3	 Financial	instruments

Classification	and	recognition
The Company classifies its financial instruments in the following categories: financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, available-for-sale financial assets, and operating 
and other financial liabilities measured at amortised cost. The classification depends on the purpose 
for which the financial assets and liabilities were acquired. The Management Board determines the 
classification of financial assets and financial liabilities at initial recognition.
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Financial	assets	and	liabilities	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss	
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets that are classified as held for 
trading or on initial recognition designated by the Company as at fair value through profit or loss. 
Derivative financial instruments are always classified as financial instruments held for trading.

As stated above, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are classified in two sub-
categories: financial instruments held for trading, and those recognised by the Management as at fair 
value through profit or loss at inception. Assets held for trading are those assets that the Company 
acquires or takes over principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term or holds 
as a part of a portfolio that is managed together for short-term profit or position taking.

Loans	and	receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that 
are not quoted in an active market. Loans and receivables arise when the Company provides money 
to a debtor with no intention of trading with the receivable. This group includes: loans to customers, 
deposits with banks and debt securities for which no active market exists and have been reclassified 
into this category in 2008, pursuant to IAS 39.50E. All such securities were disposed or matured by 
the end of 2015.

Available-for-sale	financial	assets	
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated as available-for-
sale financial assets or not classified in any of the other categories. Financial assets designated as 
available for sale are intended to be held for an indefinite period of time, but may be sold in response 
to needs for liquidity or changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rates or equity prices. Available-
for-sale financial assets include debt securities and equity securities.

Recognition	and	derecognition
Purchases and sales of financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, held-to-
maturity investments and available-for-sale financial assets are recognised on the trade date, i.e. the 
date when the Company commits to purchase or sell the instrument. Loans and receivables and 
financial liabilities at amortised cost are recognised when remitted to borrowers or received from 
lenders.

The Company derecognises financial assets (in full or part) when the contractual rights to receive 
cash flows from the financial instrument have expired or when it loses control over the contractual 
rights on those financial assets. This occurs when the Company substantially transfers all the risks 
and rewards of ownership to another business entity or when the rights are realised, surrendered 
or have expired. Triglav Re derecognises financial liabilities only when the financial liability ceases to 
exist, i.e. when it is discharged, cancelled or has expired. If the terms of a financial liability change, 
the Company will cease recognising that liability and will instantaneously recognise a new financial 
liability, with new terms and conditions.

Initial	and	subsequent	measurement
Financial assets and liabilities are recognised initially at their fair value; in the case of a financial asset 
or financial liability not at fair value through profit or loss, they are increased by transaction costs that 
are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial liability.
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After initial recognition, the Company measures financial instruments at fair value through profit or 
loss and available-for-sale instruments at their fair value, without any deduction for selling costs, 
whereby the effects of a change in the fair value are recognised in the statement of comprehensive 
income. Equity instruments classified as available for sale that do not have a quoted market price in 
an active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are stated at cost less impairment, 
unless their value exceeds EUR 500,000. The total value of such assets is lower than 1 percent of 
the Company’s investment in securities.

Loans and receivables and held-to-maturity investments are measured at amortised cost less 
impairment losses, if any.

Gains	and	losses	
Gains and losses arising from a change in the fair value of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair 
value through profit or loss are recognised in the income statement.

Gains and losses from a change in the fair value of available-for-sale assets are recognised directly 
in a fair value reserve within equity and are disclosed in the statement of changes in equity and in the 
comprehensive income statement. Impairment losses, foreign exchange gains and losses, interest 
income and amortisation of premium or discount using the effective interest method on monetary 
items are recognised in the income statement. 

Upon disposal or other derecognition of available-for-sale assets, any accumulated gains or losses 
are recognised in the income statement.

Losses on financial instruments carried at amortised cost are recognised in the income statement, 
when their value is impaired.

Fair	value	measurement	principles	
Fair value is the price that would be reached by the sale of assets or payment for transfer liabilities in 
a regular transaction between market participants at the measurement date. In fair value measuring 
of assets and liabilities, their characteristics shall be taken into account assuming that the asset or 
liability is exchanged in a regular transaction under the current market conditions on the main market 
or most profitable market for those assets or liability.

In the fair value measuring of non-financial assets, the ability of a market participant shall be taken 
into account to generate economic benefits by using the assets according to the highest and best 
possible use or sale of the assets to another market participant that would use the assets according 
to its highest and best use possible.

The Company is measuring all financial assets at fair value, except for those classified as loans and 
receivables, which are recognised in the financial statements at amortized cost; their fair value is 
described in the Disclosures, Item 11.4.

The fair value of financial instruments traded in the organized financial markets is determined based 
on the quoted prices at the reporting date. If a price is not available, the price offered by brokers 
is used as the reference price. If an active market for a financial instrument does not exist, the 
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Company determines the fair value by using valuation method. Valuation methods shall comprise 
the recent market transaction between informed and willing parties, if available, comparison with the 
current fair value of another instrument with the similar essential characteristics, review of discounted 
cash flows and models for option pricing. If there is a valuation method generally used by the market 
participants to determine the price of an instrument and has proved to provide reliable estimates of 
prices got in the actual market transactions, the Company then uses this method.

In the discounted cash flow method, future cash flows and discount rates estimated by the 
Management are used, which reflect the interest rates for comparable instruments. If the fair value 
cannot be measured, the financial instruments shall be valued at cost (paid or received amount) 
increased by the expenses incurred as a result of this transaction.

For the purposes of disclosure of the method for determining the fair values of financial assets, the 
following levels of the fair value hierarchy shall apply:
•  Level 1: Valuation based on the quoted price (unadjusted) in the active markets for the same 

assets or liabilities that the Company can access at the measurement date (stock market prices 
and the quoted prices provided by third parties, e.g. Bloomberg). Fair values are estimated on 
basis of directly observed market data without the use of indirectly observed data, taking into 
account that a part of binding quotations shall amount to 90.00 percent at least and there must 
be three binding quotations at least that are not older than one day.

•  Level 2: Valuation based on prices, which may be less than fully formed on the quoted prices for 
the same asset or liability. Permitted inputs to determine the fair price can also be indirect, i.e. 
indirectly observed data for comparable financial instruments, but their share is strictly limited 
(max. 10.00 percent).

•  Level 3: aluation on the basis of prices that have not reached the standards of Level 1 or Level 2. 
The proportion of unobserved inputs in valuation models is significant.

Impairment	of	financial	assets
The Company quarterly assesses whether there is any objective evidence that financial assets not 
carried at fair value through profit or loss are impaired. Financial assets are impaired when an objective 
evidence demonstrates that a loss event has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and 
that the loss event has an impact on the future cash flows on the asset that can be estimated reliably.

Impairment	of	financial	assets	carried	at	amortised	cost	–	loans	and	receivables
Triglav Re examines evidence of impairment at a specific asset and also at a collective level. All 
individually significant financial assets are individually assessed for signs of impairment at the 
reporting date.

Impairment losses on assets carried at amortised cost (debt securities, receivables and loans) are 
measured as the difference between the carrying amount of the financial assets and the present value 
of estimated future cash flows discounted at the assets’ original effective interest rates. Losses are 
recognised in the profit or loss and reflected in an allowance account against loans and advances. 
Income is recognised at the effective interest rate in the income statement. When a subsequent 
event causes the amount of impairment loss on a debt security to decrease, the impairment loss is 
reversed through profit or loss.
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Impairment	of	financial	assets	classified	as	available	for	sale	
The company permanently impairs those equity securities classified as available-for-sale financial 
assets, the fair value of which decreased substantially below their value at cost, or has remained 
lower than their value at cost for a period of nine months. A decrease of 40 percent (or more) in the 
fair value of a financial asset compared to its initial cost is considered substantial. Reversal through 
profit or loss of impairment losses for equity securities is not possible. 

Debt securities classified as available for sale are impaired in case that their issuer violates contractual 
provisions and fails to meet its coupon liabilities on time or in case of the debtor’s bankruptcy. 
Such impairment is recognised in the income statement. Impairment loss may be reversed if such 
reversal can be objectively linked to an event occurring after the impairment has been recognised. 
The impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.

10.3.4	 	Trade	and	other	payables

Recognition	and	measurement
Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost.

Assets and liabilities in the balance sheet are not balanced.

10.3.5	 Cash	and	cash	equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand and cash at bank.

10.3.6	 Employee	benefits

Employee benefits comprise all forms of compensations that are provided to the employees in return 
for their work in the Company.
Employee benefits include:
1) Short-term employee benefits, which are payable within 12 months after the end of the period of 

the employee’s service, such as salaries and social security contributions, paid annual leave and 
paid sick leave, bonuses and non-monetary benefits (such as cars).

2) Provisions for employees comprise provisions for jubilee benefits, termination benefits upon 
retirement and for untaken holidays. In accordance with IAS 19, the calculation of liabilities to 
employees arising from jubilee benefits and termination benefits upon retirement is based on the 
actuarial calculations using the following actuarial assumptions:

• demographic assumptions (mortality and early terminations of employment),
• financial assumptions:
 - discount rate,
 - wage growth, taking into account inflation, age, promotions and other factors.

Severance payments upon retirement and jubilee benefits are recognised as operating costs 
(labour costs) in the income statement. The changes in those provisions due to payments and new 
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formations are recognised in the same way. The revaluation of provisions arising from an increase or 
decrease in the current value of liabilities due to the change of actuarial calculations and experience 
adjustments are recognised under actuarial gains or losses in  other comprehensive income, but only 
for provisions for severance payments upon retirement.

The Company noted no significant effect on the comprehensive income in 2015.

10.3.7	 Income	tax

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognised in profit 
or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is 
recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous 
years.

Deferred tax is recognised using the balance sheet method, taking into consideration the temporary 
differences between the book amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and 
the amounts used for taxation purposes.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary differences 
when they reverse, based on laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting 
date.

Deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will 
be available against which the deferred tax asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed 
at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax 
benefit will be realised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted and are classified as non-current.

10.3.8 Other provisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Company has a present legal or 
constructive obligation and if it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to 
settle the obligation. The policies for the recognition of employee benefit provisions are explained in 
the Item 10.3.6, as employee benefits. Provisions are made by discounting the expected future cash 
flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects the current market assessments of the time value of money and 
the risks specific to the liability.  
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10.3.9 Capital

Share capital
The share capital of the Company comprises no par value shares. The shares are ordinary shares 
and give the holder a voting right and, based on the decision of the Shareholder’s Meeting, the right 
to dividends. Triglav Re does not record any subscribed shares not paid-in.

Provisions
The Company records the capital reserves which comprise other capital contributions under the 
Articles of Association.

Reserves from profit comprise legal reserve and other reserve from profit, which are set up in 
accordance with the decision of the Management Board of Triglav Re and the resolution of the 
Shareholders’ Meeting, and that strengthen the capital adequacy of the Company in the long term. 
Reserves from the profit comprise statutory reserves and credit insurance equalisation reserves.

Statutory reserves represent accumulated appropriations from retained net profit from the previous 
years in accordance with the Articles of Association and the Companies Act.

Legal and statutory reserves may be used:
• to cover net loss for the period if it cannot be covered by charging it against retained net earnings 

or other reserves from profit;
• to cover retained loss if it cannot be covered by charging it against the net profit for the period or 

other reserves from profit.

In compliance with IFRS, the Company does not set up the equalisation provision as a part of 
insurance contract provisions. In accordance with the Insurance Act, the Company is however 
liable to set up equalisation provision for the credit insurance business. To comply with the statutory 
requirements, Triglav Re thus records this provision as the profit reserves under credit risk equalisation 
reserve. Such reserves are charged against profit in equity.

Fair	value	reserve	
The fair value reserve represents unrealised net gains and losses arising from a change in the fair 
value of available-for-sale financial assets.

10.3.10		Income	

Net	income	from	gross	reinsurance	premiums	written
Premiums on reinsurance assumed are recognised as income and accounted as if the reinsurance 
were considered a direct business, taking into account the appropriate product classification of the 
reinsured business.

Reinsurance premium related to life insurance contracts are accounted for the total duration of 
the underlying insurance policies using assumptions consistent with those used to account for the 
fundamental policies.
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Gross written reinsurance premium from cessions or retrocessions assumed in the observed 
period is the estimated and written reinsurance premium in the observed period on the basis of 
reinsurance contracts concluded with cedants and retrocedants. The retroceded portion of gross 
written reinsurance premiums from assumed cessions or retrocessions is ceded for reinsurance in 
accordance with the retrocession contracts that Triglav Re has concluded with its retrocessionaires. 
The net written reinsurance premium from cessions or retrocessions assumed in the observed 
period is the amount of gross reinsurance premium from assumed cessions or retrocession less 
the amount of gross written reinsurance premium of assumed cessions or retrocessions ceded for 
retrocession of assumed cessions or retrocessions. The criterion for the recognition of income is 
the premium written on the basis of cedants’ or retrocedants’ statements of account with partners 
within the Triglav Group. The criterion for the recognition of income with other partners, however, is 
the estimated premium on the basis of reinsurance contracts made with cedants.

Financial	income
Interest income is recognised in the income statement using the effective interest rate method. 
Dividend income is recognised in the income statement on the date that the dividend is declared. 
The accounting policy relating to the capital gains recognition is disclosed in the Item 10.3.3, under 
gains and losses.

10.3.11	Costs	and	expenses

Triglav Re records its expenses as incurred according to their types. In financial statements, expenses 
are classified by functional groups which are: assessment costs, asset management costs, policy 
acquisition costs and other operating expenses. Due to the manner of claims handling, no costs 
arise in connection with the assessment of the entitlement to the amount of claim; therefore, they 
are not classified under the functional group of assessment costs. A portion of costs by nature may 
be directly classified to a functional group, while other costs are classified to a functional group 
on the basis of a key. The key represents the working time spent for an individual functions by the 
employees and accordingly allocated salary costs. Based on such a structure of salaries, other 
operating costs are allocated to a functional group. Assets management costs forms an integral part 
of investment expenses, while the policy acquisition costs and other operating costs are recognised 
separately in the income statement.

10.3.12		Classification	of	contracts

A reinsurance contract is a contract under which the Company or a Reinsurer accepts, against 
payment, a part or the whole of reinsurance risk from another party (a cedant or a retrocedant) by 
agreeing to compensate the cedant or retrocedant if a specified uncertain future event (the insured 
event) adversely affects the policyholder or other beneficiary. Reinsurance risk is defined as a risk 
other than financial risk. Financial risk is the risk of a possible future change in one or more of a 
specified interest rate, price of securities, commodity price, foreign exchange rate, index of prices or 
rates, a credit rating or credit index or other variable, provided in the case of a non-financial variable 
that the variable is not specific to a party to the contract. Certain financial risk can be thus also 
transferred by the reinsurance contracts.
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Only contracts that give rise to a significant transfer of insurance risk are accounted for as insurance 
contracts. Amounts recoverable under such contracts are recognised in the same year as the 
related claim. All reinsurance contracts of Triglav Re are classified as insurance contracts in the 
sense as provided by IFRS 4. Triglav Re has no liabilities from financial contracts and, thus, the risks 
disclosed only arise from insurance contracts. According to the definition stated above, an insurance 
contract is a contract under which one party (the Insurer) accepts significant insurance risk from 
another party (the policyholder) by agreeing to compensate the policyholder if a specified uncertain 
future event (the insured event) adversely affects the policyholder. A financial contract, however, 
is by definition a contract exposing the issuer to financial risk without a significant insurance risk 
involved. Insurance contracts, thus, transfer a significant portion of risk. When deciding upon the 
classification of contracts pursuant to IFRS 4, Triglav Re defines as contracts transferring significant 
risk all those reinsurance contracts for which uncertainty regarding the future loss event exists, since 
its occurrence is independent of an individual’s will. The risk uncertainty exists as to whether a (re)
insurance event will occur, when it will occur and how much the (re)insurer will need to pay if it occurs. 
According to the IFRS 4 definition, insurance risk is significant if, and only if, an insured event could 
cause an insurer to pay significant additional benefits in any scenario, excluding scenarios that lack 
commercial substance (i.e. have no discernible effect on the economics of the transaction). The (re)
insurance company shall assess the significance of insurance risk on a case-to-case basis and not 
by referring to the significance of financial statements; hence, insurance risk may be significant even 
in cases with minimum probability that the insured event from a (re)insurance contract might occur.

The Company has no contracts with discretionary participation features.

10.3.13	Liabilities	from	reinsurance	contracts

Non-life	reinsurance	provisions	
The liabilities of Triglav Re under reinsurance contracts comprise the unearned premium provisions, 
provisions for reported but not settled claims (RBNS provisions), provision for incurred but not 
reported claims (IBNR provisions), provisions for bonuses, rebates and cancellations, unexpired risk 
provisions and equalisation provision.

Provisions	for	unearned	premiums	
Provisions for unearned premiums comprises the proportion of gross premiums written in the 
reinsurance period after the end of the financial year under review. Unearned premium is computed 
using the pro-rata temporis method or the fraction method adjusted if necessary to reflect any 
variation in the incidence of risk during the period covered by the contract.    

Gross unearned premiums shall be set on the basis of notifications made by cedants. Unearned 
premium provisions for retrocession business and for retrocedants that failed to present the statement 
of account of unearned premium is made in compliance with the Company’s rules and regulations 
and by use of the fraction method. In addition, for reinsurance business with the cedants outside the 
Triglav Group, gross unearned premium is estimated for the part that refers to the estimated part of 
gross written premium calculated according to the fraction method.
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Unexpired	risk	provisions
The provision for unexpired risks is made on the basis and in compliance with Article 6 of the Decision 
on detailed rules and minimum standards to be applied in the calculation of technical provisions 
(Official Gazette of RS, No. 3/2001). The provision is defined as the difference between the actual 
amounts required covering unexpired risks and the unearned premiums. The provision for unexpired 
risks is made for those classes of business in which the average combined ratio in the last three 
years (current year and two previous years) exceeded 100 percent. When computing the unexpired 
risk provision and testing the adequacy of unearned premiums, Triglav Re takes into account that 
net unearned premium multiplied by the average combined ratio has to contain a portion needed 
to cover future or expected expenses; therefore, net unearned premiums are increased by a cost 
margin for the current year.

Provisions	for	outstanding	claims
Provisions for incurred and reported claims are made on the basis of lists submitted by cedants and 
notifications made by retrocedants. Provisions for incurred but not reported claims (IBNR provisions) 
and provision for incurred but not-enough-reported claims (IBNER provisions) are made on the basis 
of notifications made by cedants, while a part of provisions (IBNR and IBNER) is made on the basis of 
the Company’s own calculations. A part of claims provisions for contracts with cedants outside the 
Triglav Group is foreseen on the basis of the estimated loss ratios from reinsurance contracts, while 
the provisions for business within the Triglav Group are made on the basis of using the triangle method 
for cumulative ultimately settled net claims by class of business, or by group of classes of business 
when the volume of premiums or claims is too small. When preparing the triangles with data on 
claims settled by underwriting year for the projection of future payments of claims incurred, extremely 
high claims are eliminated. To supplement the under-developed years, the Company supplements 
the Chain ladder method with the Bornhueter-Ferguson method at the level of an individual class of 
business or group of classes of business. The thus computed IBNR claims by class of business or 
by group of insurance classes are then compared with the IBNR claims computed on the basis of 
data submitted by the cedants from the Triglav Group. As the final result for a class of business or a 
group of classes, Triglav Re considers the higher result.

Provisions	for	bonuses	and	rebates
Provisions for bonuses and rebates are made on the basis of the Cedant’s notifications with whom 
the Company has concluded a contract on export credit reinsurance.

Equalisation	provisions
Pursuant to Article 54 of the Companies Act, the insurance companies shall prepare their financial 
statements in compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU. 
Pursuant to Article 155 of the Insurance Act, insurance companies shall observe the provisions of the 
Companies Act when accounting. Pursuant to Article 133 of the Companies Act, technical provisions 
also include equalisation provisions. The requirements defined under Article 113 and Article 118 of 
the Insurance Act are in contradiction with the requirements of International Financial Reporting 
Standards as adopted by the European Union. In compliance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards as adopted by the European Union, the Company presents equalisation provisions under 
reserves in the item of equity.
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Life	reinsurance	provisions	
Triglav Re does not make any mathematical provisions for life reinsurance since in the Company’s 
portfolio there are no classes of business classified in the items 20 to 24 under Article 2, paragraph 
2 of the Insurance Act (marriage assurance or birth assurance, life assurance related to investment 
fund units, tontines, capital redemption insurance, loss of income insurance due to accident or 
illness). In its life reinsurance portfolio, the Company has only a type of life reinsurance classified in 
item 19 under Article 2, paragraph 2 of the Insurance Act (life assurance), but endowment risk is not 
reinsured. Only death risk, critical illness risk and supplementary accident insurance are reinsured. 
For this reason, the Company makes only the provisions for unearned premiums and claims due to 
death risk, critical illness risk and supplementary accident insurance.

10.3.14	Outward	reinsurance

Triglav Re cedes reinsurance in the normal course of business for the purpose of risk dispersion and 
limitation of its net loss potential. However, outward reinsurance arrangements do not relieve Triglav 
Re from its direct obligations to the cedants and retrocedants. 

Premiums ceded and reimbursement claims are presented in the income statement and balance 
sheet on a gross basis.

Receivables recoverable under the reinsurance contracts are assessed for impairment at each 
balance sheet date. Such assets are deemed impaired if there is objective evidence, as a result of 
an event that occurred after its initial recognition, that Triglav Re cannot recover all amounts due and 
that the event has a reliably measurable impact on the amounts that Triglav Re will receive from the 
reinsurer.

Amounts recoverable under the reinsurance contracts are assessed in a manner consistent with the 
outstanding claims provisions or settled claims associated with the reinsured policy. Reinsurance 
assets comprise the actual or estimated amounts, which, under contractual reinsurance arrangements, 
are recoverable from Reinsurers in respect of reinsurance contract provisions. Reinsurance assets 
relating to reinsurance contract provision are established based on the terms of reinsurance contracts 
and valued on the same basis as the related reinsured liabilities. Triglav Re records an adjustment for 
estimated irrecoverable reinsurance assets, if any.

10.3.15	Liabilities	and	their	related	assets	under	liability	adequacy	test	(LAT)

Reinsurance contracts shall be tested for the liability adequacy. If a deficit is established, an additional 
provision is made, and Triglav Re recognises the deficiency in the income statement.

The assumptions of the liability adequacy test and the test itself are described in detail in the Item 10.7.

10.4	 Changes	in	accounting	policies

Triglav Re did not change any accounting policies in 2015.
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10.5	 Accounting	judgements	and	estimates	

These disclosures supplement the notes on financial risk management (Item 13.4) and reinsurance 
risk management (Item 13.1).

The Company makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting 
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and judgements 
that have a significant impact on financial statements are discussed below.

10.5.1	Key	sources	of	estimation	uncertainty		

Impairment	of	financial	assets
Impairments of loans and receivables are evaluated individually on the basis of the best estimate 
Impairments of loans and receivables are evaluated individually on the basis of the best estimate 
of the present value of the cash flows that are expected to be received. In estimating these cash 
flows, the Management Board makes judgements about counterparty’s financial situation and the 
net realisable value of any underlying collateral. Each impaired asset is assessed separately.

Equity securities classified as available-for-sale are impaired if their fair value falls below their value at 
cost or remains below that value for a period of at least nine months. A decrease of 40 percent (or 
more) in the fair value of a financial asset compared to its initial cost is considered substantial. Such 
impairment is recognised in the income statement.

Determining	the	fair	values	for	non-marketable	financial	assets	and	liabilities
The determination of fair value for financial assets and liabilities for which there is no observable 
market price requires the use of valuation techniques as described in accounting policy under the 
Item 10.3.3. For financial instruments that are not traded on the organised market, the determination 
of fair value is less objective and requires varying degrees of judgement depending on liquidity, 
concentration, uncertainty of market factors, pricing assumptions and other risks affecting the 
specific instrument.

Estimation	uncertainty	related	to	recognition	of	 income	and	expenses	from	reinsurance	
contracts
One of the key sources of estimation uncertainty in relation to the financial statements of the 
Company relates to the recognition of income and expenses from reinsurance contracts with 
cedants outside the Triglav Group. In 2009, the Company changed its accounting policy and started 
to estimate a part of income and expenses on the basis of concluded reinsurance contracts with 
cedants outside the Triglav Group. The amounts of individual accounting items, i.e. gross premium, 
commission paid, amount of claims incurred, provisions for claims outstanding and the amount of 
unearned premiums, are estimated on the basis of each individual contract concluded with a cedant 
outside the Triglav Group. Income and expenses are recognised in the accounting period to which 
the reinsurance contract relates and no longer depend on the time lag in reporting from business 
partners. Reinsurance risk management is described in detail in the Item 13.1, while reinsurance 
contract provisions are analysed in the Item 13.2.
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Estimation	uncertainty	related	to	recognition	of	liabilities	from	reinsurance	contracts
The most significant estimates in relation to the financial statements of Triglav Re relate to provisioning 
for reinsurance contracts and to the estimation of the amounts of reserve for reinsurance business 
with cedants outside the Triglav Group. The Company verifies the sufficiency of provisions made 
by applying Liability adequacy tests (LAT); in addition, the run-off results are regularly analysed. 
In setting up its reserve for liabilities from reinsurance contracts, Triglav Re applies the regulations 
issued by the Insurance Supervision Agency. A certified actuary is also employed in the Company. 
The Management Board of Triglav Re believes that the present amount of provisions for liabilities 
from reinsurance contracts is sufficient.

10.5.2	 Key	accounting	judgements	in	applying	the	Company’s	accounting	polices

Key accounting judgements in applying the accounting policies of the Company include:

Classification	and	reclassification	of	financial	assets	and	liabilities	
The Company’s accounting policies provide scope for assets and liabilities to be designated on their 
inception into different accounting categories of assets and liabilities in certain circumstances. In 
classifying financial assets or liabilities as “trading”, the Company has confirmed that they meets the 
description of trading assets and liabilities set out in accounting policy, Item 10.3.3. In designating 
financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, the Company has determined that it 
has met one of the criteria for this designation set out in accounting policy, Item 10.3.3. In designating 
financial assets or liabilities classified under “loans and receivables”, Triglav Re has decided on such 
classification if the financial instrument meets one of the criteria set out in accounting policy, Item 
10.3.3.

10.6	 Principal	assumptions	with	the	greatest	impact	on	the		
	 recognised	net	reinsurance	assets,	liabilities,	income	and		
 expenses

10.6.1	 Non-life	reinsurance

At the date of reporting, provisions are made for claims reported but not settled. In addition, Triglav 
Re made provisions for claims incurred but not reported (IBNR provisions).

The liability for claims reported but not settled (RBNS provisions) is recorded separately on a case-
by-case basis and based on the statement of account. Claims provisions are monitored regularly 
and are updated as and when new information arises. 

In 2015, Triglav Re continued to estimate the incurred but not reported claims (IBNR provisions) on 
the basis of specific data or estimates for reinsurance contracts with cedants outside the Triglav 
Group; in addition, Triglav Re created an adequate amount of IBNR provisions for business within 
the Triglav Group, as assessed by the Company’s certified actuary. 
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The Chain Ladder method and the Bornhuetter-Ferguson method use settled claims’ development 
information and assume that the historical claims development pattern will occur again in the future. 
There are reasons this may not be the case, which, insofar as they can be identified, have been 
allowed for by deducting major settled claims arising from catastrophic or irregular events that are 
not expected to reoccur from year to year from settled claims taken into account as they developed.

The assumption with the greatest effect on the measurement of non-life reinsurance liabilities is the 
expected claims ratio. 

The expected claims ratio represents the ratio of expected claims incurred to reinsurance premiums 
earned. The assumptions in respect of expected claims ratios for the most recent accident year, 
per class of business, have the most influence on the level of IBNR provisions. The ultimate loss 
ratio, in contrast, has the most influence on the estimate of provisioned claims in the assessment of 
reinsurance business abroad. Further impact, in addition to claims ratio, is the result of expense ratio 
(which affects the commission amount) and the amount of estimated gross reinsurance premiums 
for reinsurance contracts with cedants outside the Triglav Group.

10.6.2	 Life	reinsurance

Since the Company has not assumed any risks so far that would require the setting-up of mathematical 
provisions, any information relating to the life reinsurance is disclosed together with the information 
on non-life reinsurance.

10.7	 Liability	adequacy	test	(LAT)

10.7.1	 Non-life	reinsurance

Triglav Re makes provisions for unexpired risks, thus complying, inter alia, with the criteria of the LAT 
test. For non-life insurance, the liabilities are subject to a liability adequacy test only for unearned 
premium provisions, while the provisions for claims outstanding and the provisions for bonuses and 
rebates are deemed to be made in the adequate amount; therefore, the application of the liability 
adequacy test is not needed. Equalisation provisions are used as a buffer in adverse cases and are 
not a liability under the reinsurance contracts in force in compliance with IFRS 4. Unexpired risk 
provisions are made on the basis of the liability adequacy test for unearned premium liability, since 
additional provisions are higher than unearned premium provisions by the amount set aside with 
respect to risks to be borne after the end of the accounting period and to provide for all claims and 
expenses in connection with reinsurance contracts in force.

The Company undertakes the liability adequacy test for unearned premium provisions to determine 
the difference between the sum of expected claims and expected expenses, i.e. in this case between 
the combined ratio and unearned premium provisions. Unexpired risk provisions are calculated in 
compliance with the internal Regulations on establishing other technical provisions. In line with these 
Regulations, provisions are made for those classes of business with an average combined ratio 
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in the last three years (the current period and the previous two periods are taken into account) 
exceeding 100 percent. The combined ratio consists of the claims ratio and the expense ratio; 
therefore, it is a relevant indicator of a possible inadequacy of provisioning. When computing the 
unexpired risk provisions and carrying out the liability adequacy test for unearned premiums, Triglav 
Re took into account that the net unearned premium multiplied by the average combined ratio has to 
contain a portion needed to cover future or expected expenses; therefore, net unearned premiums 
are increased by a cost margin for the current year. Triglav Re applies the liability adequacy test to 
calculate the provision for unexpired risks, and the deficit is recognised as an increase in liabilities 
(provisions) in the profit or loss for the current accounting period.

10.7.2	 Life	reinsurance

Triglav Re carried out the adequacy test of life reinsurance provisions within the frame of its non-life 
reinsurance and found that there was no need yet to set up any additional life reinsurance provisions.

10.8	 Sensitivity	of	the	present	value	of	future	liabilities	to	a		
	 change	in	significant	variables

10.8.1	 Non-life	reinsurance

In non-life reinsurance, the insurance variables that would have the greatest impact on insurance 
liabilities relate to the motor liability court claims. Liabilities under the court related claims are sensitive 
to legal, judicial, political, economic and social trends. The Management believes it is not practical to 
quantify the sensitivity of non-life provisions to changes in these variables.

10.8.2	 Life	reinsurance

The sensitivity of the present value of future liabilities to changes in the significant variables of life 
reinsurance is not calculated, because none of the classes of business set out under the Items 20 
through 24 of Article 2, Paragraph 2 of the Insurance Act (marriage assurance or birth assurance, 
unit-linked life assurance, tontine, capital redemption insurance, insurance of loss of income due 
to accident or illness) is recorded in the Company’s portfolio. In its life reinsurance portfolio, Triglav 
Re has only the type of life reinsurance classified in the Item 19 under Article 2, Paragraph 2 of the 
Insurance Act, i.e. life assurance, but endowment risk is not reinsured. Only death risk, critical illness 
risk and supplementary accident insurance are reinsured.
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10.9	 Reinsurance	contracts	having	significant	impact	on	the		
	 future	cash	flow	uncertainty	

10.9.1	 Non-life	reinsurance

Triglav Re offers all types of non-life reinsurance covers such as motor, property, liability, marine, 
aviation, transport and accident reinsurance covers. Contracts may be concluded for a fixed term of 
one year or on a permanent basis with either party having the option to cancel a contract with three 
months’ notice of cancellation. Triglav Re is therefore able to reassess the risk under a contract at 
intervals of not more than one year. Reinsurance claims are the main source of uncertainty, which 
influences the amount and the timing of future cash flows. The amount of particular claim payments 
is limited by the limit of coverage, which is defined in the reinsurance contract.

A special attention is paid to the motor reinsurance and different liability reinsurance covers as 
described below.

Motor	reinsurance
Motor reinsurance portfolio comprises both motor third party liability and motor own damage 
reinsurance. Motor third party liability reinsurance covers bodily injury claims and property claims in 
the cedant’s country (i.e. domestic claims) as well as the claims caused abroad by the Policy-holders 
(Green Card System).

Property damage (e.g. on a vehicle) is generally reported and also settled within a short period from 
the accident occurring. Reporting and payments relating to bodily injury claims, however, take longer 
period of time to finalise and are more difficult to estimate. Such claims may be settled in the form of 
a lump-sum settlement or an annuity.

Liability	reinsurance
Liability reinsurance covers different types of liability: general third party liability (GTPL), product liability 
and product recall, different professional liability covers including directors and officers’ liability (D&O).

10.9.2	 Life	reinsurance

Triglav Re has not set up any mathematical provisions for life reinsurance, because none of the 
following lines of business is included in its portfolio: marriage assurance or birth assurance, unit-
linked life assurance, tontine, capital redemption insurance, insurance of loss of income due to 
accident or illness. Only life reinsurance is recorded in the Company’s life reinsurance portfolio. Pure 
endowment risk cannot be reinsured; only death risk, critical illness risk and supplementary accident 
insurance are reinsured. For this reason, the unearned premium provisions and claims provisions for 
death risk, critical illness risk and supplementary accident insurance are made.
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Sculpted caryatid stools of the Luba people (The Kingdom of Luba was a 
pre-colonial Central African state what is now the Southern Democratic 
Republic of Congo) serve symbolically as seats of power and sites of 
memory for deceased kings and chiefs rather than serve as places to sit. 
Therefore, they are metaphorical seats of kingship. Those incorporating 
caryatids give expression to the Luba conception of the body as a 
spiritual receptacle that supports divine kingship.

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Kingdom_of_Luba
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DISCLOSURES TO THE 
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 
POSITION  

11.1	 Intangible	assets

Depreciation and amortisation costs are recognised under the operating expenses in the income 
statement. Liabilities arising from the acquired intangible fixed assets are not recognised under 
liabilities, and moreover, the Company did not pledge its assets in order to cover the settlements 
of liabilities. The Company still uses the intangible assets that have already been fully depreciated.

in EUR

SOFTWARE
COST

Balance at 1 January 2014 449,392

- acquisitions 2,200
- disposals 0

Balance at 31 December 2014 451,592
- acquisitions 16,353

- disposals 0
Balance at 31 December 2015 467,945

VALUE ADJUSTMENT

Balance at 1 January 2014 424,706

- increases 11,871

- disposals 0

Balance at 31 December 2014 436,577

- increases 4,719

- disposals 0

Balance at 31 December 2015 441,296

CARRYING VALUE

Balance at 31 December 2014 15,015

Balance at 31 December 2015 26,649

012345678910111213
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11.2	 	Property,	plant	and	equipment		

Depreciation and amortisation costs are recognised under the operating expenses in the income 
statement. Liabilities arising from the acquired tangible fixed assets (i.e. property, plant and equipment) 
are not recognised under liabilities, and moreover, the Company did not pledge its assets in order 
to cover the settlements of liabilities. The Company still uses the tangible assets that have already 
been fully depreciated.

in EUR

MOTOR 
VEHICLES

EQUIPMENT & 
FURNITURE

ASSETS UNDER 
ACQUISITION TOTAL

COSTS OF PURCHASE

Balance at 1 January 2014 262,420 224,407 0 486,827

- acquisitions 20,331 9,330 6,454 36,115

- disposals 0 -9,140 0 -9,140

Balance at 31 December 2014 282,751 224,597 6,454 513,802

- transposition into use 3,000 3,454 -6,454 0

- acquisitions 74,790 34,284 34,636 143,710

- disposals -54,399 -659 0 -55,058

Balance at 31 December 2015 306,143 261,676 34,636 602,454

VALUE ADJUSTMENT

Balance at 1 January 2014 97,272 207,072 0 304,344

- increases 33,861 12,778 0 46,639

- disposals 0 -9,140 0 -9,140

Balance at 31 December 2014 131,133 210,710 0 341,843

- increases 55,329 21,130 76,459

- disposals -54,399 -659 0 -55,058

Balance at 31 December 2015 132,063 231,181 0 363,244

CARRYING VALUE

Balance at 31 December 2014 151,618 13,887 6,454 171,959

Balance at 31 December 2015 174,080 30,494 34,636 239,210
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in EUR

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014

Available for sale 151,565,020 142,882,697
At fair value in profit or loss 0 127,302

Loans and receivables 8,359,361 4,718,261

TOTAL 159,924,382 147,728,260 0

in EUR

YEAR 2015 AVAILABLE FOR 
SALE

AT FAIR VALUE 
THROUGH 

PROFIT OR 
LOSS

LOANS AND 
RECEIVABLES TOTAL

Equity securities 2,041,710 0 0 2,041,710

- listed 2,041,710 0 0 2,041,710

- unlisted 0 0 0 0

Debt securities 149,523,152 0 0 149,523,152

- government securities 90,270,939 0 90,270,939

- corporate securities 59,252,213 0 0 59,252,213

Investment funds 159 0 0 159

- open-end 0 0 0 0

- closed-end 159 0 0 159

Loans and receivables 0 0 8,349,361 8,349,361

- bank deposits 0 0 4,422,529 4,422,529
- financial investments from reinsurance 

contracts with       cedants 0 0 3,926,832 3,926,832

Financial derivatives 0 0 0 0

Other investments 0 0 10,000 10,000

TOTAL 151,565,020 0 8,359,361 159,924,382

in EUR

YEAR 2014 AVAILABLE FOR 
SALE

AT FAIR VALUE 
THROUGH 

PROFIT OR 
LOSS

LOANS AND 
RECEIVABLES TOTAL

Equity securities 1,311,878 0 0 1,311,878

- listed 1,311,878 0 0 1,311,878

- unlisted 0 0 0 0

Debt securities 140,388,407 127,302 0 140,515,709

- government securities 84,997,593 127,302 0 85,124,895

- corporate securities 55,390,814 0 0 55,390,814

Investment funds 1,182,412 0 0 1,182,412

- open-end 663,728 0 0 663,728

- closed-end 518,684 0 0 518,684

Loans and receivables 0 0 4,708,260 4,708,260

- bank deposits 0 0 1,026,208 1,026,208
- financial investments from reinsurance 

contracts with cedants 0 0 3,682,052 3,682,052

Financial derivatives 0 0 0 0

Other investments 0 0 10,000 10,000

TOTAL 142,882,697 127,302 4,718,260 147,728,260

in EUR

YEAR 2015 Level 3 
Available for sale

Opening balance at 1 January 2015 165,554

Total profit/loss 8,113

-  in profit or loss 0

-  in comprehensive income 8,113

Acquisitions 0

Disposals 0

Reclassification from Level 3 to other Levels 0

Reclassification from other Levels to Level 3 0

Closing balance at 31 December 2015 173,667

11.3	 Deferred	tax	assets	and	liabilities

In 2015, Triglav Re decreased the deferred tax assets for non-recognised investment impairments 
which amounted to EUR 321,261.07 (in 2014 to EUR 361,487.00), and increased for the provisions 
for jubilee and termination benefits in the amount of EUR 7,273 (in 2014 of EUR 5,762); the Company 
also increased the deferred tax assets from impairment of receivables to EUR 14,420 (in 2014 to 
EUR 7,060). In 2015, the Company set up the deferred tax liabilities for the investment revaluation 
surplus in the amount of EUR 1,546,053 (in 2014 of EUR 2,103,400). Deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are calculated at a tax rate of 17.0 percent.

11.4	 Financial	investments

in EUR

YEAR 2014 Changes YEAR 2015

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS
Recognized in profit or loss 374,309 -31,355 342,954

Recognized in equity 0 0 0
BALANCE at 31 December 374,309 -31,355 342,954
DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

Recognized in profit or loss 0 0 0

Recognized in equity 2,103,400 -557,347 1,546,053
BALANCE at 31 December 2,103,400 -557,347 1,546,053

OFFSET OF ASSETS/LIABILITIES   

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS 0

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 1,729,091 -525,993 1,203,099
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in EUR

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014

Available for sale 151,565,020 142,882,697
At fair value in profit or loss 0 127,302

Loans and receivables 8,359,361 4,718,261

TOTAL 159,924,382 147,728,260 0

in EUR

YEAR 2015 AVAILABLE FOR 
SALE

AT FAIR VALUE 
THROUGH 

PROFIT OR 
LOSS

LOANS AND 
RECEIVABLES TOTAL

Equity securities 2,041,710 0 0 2,041,710

- listed 2,041,710 0 0 2,041,710

- unlisted 0 0 0 0

Debt securities 149,523,152 0 0 149,523,152

- government securities 90,270,939 0 90,270,939

- corporate securities 59,252,213 0 0 59,252,213

Investment funds 159 0 0 159

- open-end 0 0 0 0

- closed-end 159 0 0 159

Loans and receivables 0 0 8,349,361 8,349,361

- bank deposits 0 0 4,422,529 4,422,529
- financial investments from reinsurance 

contracts with       cedants 0 0 3,926,832 3,926,832

Financial derivatives 0 0 0 0

Other investments 0 0 10,000 10,000

TOTAL 151,565,020 0 8,359,361 159,924,382

in EUR

YEAR 2014 AVAILABLE FOR 
SALE

AT FAIR VALUE 
THROUGH 

PROFIT OR 
LOSS

LOANS AND 
RECEIVABLES TOTAL

Equity securities 1,311,878 0 0 1,311,878

- listed 1,311,878 0 0 1,311,878

- unlisted 0 0 0 0

Debt securities 140,388,407 127,302 0 140,515,709

- government securities 84,997,593 127,302 0 85,124,895

- corporate securities 55,390,814 0 0 55,390,814

Investment funds 1,182,412 0 0 1,182,412

- open-end 663,728 0 0 663,728

- closed-end 518,684 0 0 518,684

Loans and receivables 0 0 4,708,260 4,708,260

- bank deposits 0 0 1,026,208 1,026,208
- financial investments from reinsurance 

contracts with cedants 0 0 3,682,052 3,682,052

Financial derivatives 0 0 0 0

Other investments 0 0 10,000 10,000

TOTAL 142,882,697 127,302 4,718,260 147,728,260

in EUR

YEAR 2015 Level 3 
Available for sale

Opening balance at 1 January 2015 165,554

Total profit/loss 8,113

-  in profit or loss 0

-  in comprehensive income 8,113

Acquisitions 0

Disposals 0

Reclassification from Level 3 to other Levels 0

Reclassification from other Levels to Level 3 0

Closing balance at 31 December 2015 173,667
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Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss were classified into the group when acquired.

In 2015, Triglav Re made the impairment of financial assets available for sale in the amount of EUR 
129.00 (in 2014 of EUR 0.00).

The book value represents a fair value at the reporting date in the available-for-sale financial assets 
and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

At the end of 2015, there were no debt securities classified in “loans and receivables”. In 2015, no 
reclassification of securities to an other group was made.

Movements	in	financial	assets

in EUR

YEAR 2015 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 TOTAL

FINANCIAL ASSETS 24,449,110 131,364,773 4,110,499 159,924,382
Assets measured at fair value 24,449,110 126,942,244 173,667 151,565,021

Available for sale 24,449,110 126,942,244 173,667 151,565,021
    - debt securities 22,580,908 126,942,244 0 149,523,152
    - equity securities 1,868,202 0 173,667 2,041,869
Recognized at fair value through profit or loss 0 0 0 0

    - debt securities 0 0 0 0

    - derivative securities 0 0 0 0

Assets for which fair value is disclosed 0 4,422,529 3,936,832 8,359,361

Loans and deposits 0 4,422,529 3,936,832 8,359,361

    - debt securities 0 0 0 0

    - bank deposits 0 4,422,529 0 4,422,529

    - investments from reinsurance contracts 
with cedants 0 0 3,926,832 3,926,832

    - other investments 0 0 10,000 10,000

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 0 0 141,588,235 141,588,235

Technical provisions 0 0 141,588,235 141,588,235

in EUR
YEAR 2014 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 TOTAL

FINANCIAL ASSETS 90,145,267 53,725,387 3,857,606 147,728,260
Assets measured at fair value 90,145,267 52,699,179 165,554 143,009,999

Available for sale 90,145,267 52,571,877 165,554 142,882,697

    - debt securities 87,816,530 52,571,877 0 140,388,407

    - equity securities 2,328,737 0 165,554 2,494,290
Recognized at fair value through profit or loss 0 127,302 0 127,302
    - debt securities 0 127,302 0 127,302
    - derivative securities 0 0 0 0

Assets for which fair value is disclosed 0 1,026,208 3,692,052 4,718,260

Loans and deposits 0 1,026,208 3,692,052 4,718,260

    - debt securities 0 0 0 0

    - bank deposits 0 1,026,208 0 1,026,208

    - investments from reinsurance contracts 
with cedants 0 0 3,682,052 3,682,052

    - other investments 0 0 10,000 10,000

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 0 0 139,034,656 139,034,656

Technical provisions 0 0 139,034,656 139,034,656

in EUR
2015 

Book value
2015 

Fair value
2014 

Book value
2014 

Fair value
FINANCIAL ASSETS 159,924,382 159,924,359 147,728,260 147,728,237

Financial assets 157,699,256 157,699,256 145,835,112 145,835,112

Available for sale 149,339,895 149,339,895 140,989,550 140,989,550

Recognized at fair value in profit or loss 0 0 127,302 127,302

In loans and deposits 8,359,361 8,359,361 4,718,260 4,718,260

Financial Investments in Group Companies 2,225,125 2,225,102 1,893,147 1,893,125

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 141,588,235 141,588,235 139,034,656 139,034,656

Technical provisions 141,588,235 141,588,235 139,034,656 139,034,656

Other financial liabilities 0 0 0 0

in EUR

AVAILABLE FOR 
SALE

AT FAIR VALUE 
THROUGH 

PROFIT OR 

LOANS AND 
RECEIVABLES TOTAL

Balance at 1 January 2014 118,036,172 211,039 9,288,204 127,535,415

Acquisitions 77,429,076 1,497,353 0 78,926,429

Disposals -57,101,901 -1,535,647 0 -58,637,548

Maturities -12,245,542 -113,829 -4,676,431 -17,035,802

Amounts transferred from equity on disposals -196,802 0 0 -196,802

Evaluation through profit or loss 0 30,138 -14,671 15,467

Evaluation through equity 11,748,582 0 0 11,748,582

Interest income 4,078,238 38,248 121,159 4,237,645

Exchange differences 1,134,875 0 0 1,134,875

Balance at 31 December 2014 142,882,697 127,302 4,718,261 147,728,260

Acquisitions 80,170,933 0 81,639,724 161,810,657

Disposals -62,832,973 -141,614 -78,317,097 -141,291,684

Maturities -9,965,765 0 0 -9,965,765

Amounts transferred from equity on disposals -3,837,764 0 0 -3,837,764

Evaluation through profit or loss 0 13,989 0 13,989

Evaluation through equity 559,252 0 0 559,252

Interest income 3,836,866 323 172,910 4,010,098

Exchange differences 751,776 0 145,563 897,339

Balance at 31 December 2015 151,565,020 0 8,359,361 159,924,382
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Fair	value	of	financial	assets	and	liabilities
In accordance with IFRS 13, the Company discloses the market price levels of financial assets and 
liabilities.

When measuring the fair value of assets and liabilities, the Company followed the following levels of 
fair value:
•  Level 1: Valuation based on the quoted price (unadjusted) in the active markets for the same 

assets or liabilities that the Company can access at the measurement date (stock market prices 
and the quoted prices provided by third parties, e.g. Bloomberg). Fair values are determined on 
basis of directly observed market data without the use of indirectly observed data, taking into 
account that a part of binding quotations must amount to 90.00 percent at least and there must 
be three binding quotations at least that are not older than one day.

•  Level 2: Valuation based on prices, which may be less than fully formed on the quoted prices for 
the same asset or liability. Permitted inputs to determine the fair price can also be indirect, i.e. 
indirectly observed data for comparable financial instruments, but their share is strictly limited 
(max. 10.00 percent).

•  Level 3: Valuation on the basis of prices that have not reached the standards of Level 1 or Level 
2. The proportion of unobserved inputs in valuation models is significant.

In 2015, the Company did not change the method for recognizing the fair value level; only the 
required share of binding quotations from Level 1 was increased from 50.0 percent at the end of 
2014 to 90.0 percent at the end of 2015. The revised method of calculating the fair value level was 
irrelevant as regards the level of financial assets, but it affected the classification of financial assets 
by the fair value hierarchy.

In accordance with IFRS 7, the table below shows the assets and liabilities at book value and fair 
value. The Company’s Management estimates that the book values of the assets on accounts, short-
term deposits, receivables, operating liabilities and other receivables and liabilities are the same as 
the market values of these instruments, mainly due to their short-term maturity.

Assets	and	liabilities	at	fair	value

in EUR

YEAR 2015 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 TOTAL

FINANCIAL ASSETS 24,449,110 131,364,773 4,110,499 159,924,382
Assets measured at fair value 24,449,110 126,942,244 173,667 151,565,021

Available for sale 24,449,110 126,942,244 173,667 151,565,021
    - debt securities 22,580,908 126,942,244 0 149,523,152
    - equity securities 1,868,202 0 173,667 2,041,869
Recognized at fair value through profit or loss 0 0 0 0

    - debt securities 0 0 0 0

    - derivative securities 0 0 0 0

Assets for which fair value is disclosed 0 4,422,529 3,936,832 8,359,361

Loans and deposits 0 4,422,529 3,936,832 8,359,361

    - debt securities 0 0 0 0

    - bank deposits 0 4,422,529 0 4,422,529

    - investments from reinsurance contracts 
with cedants 0 0 3,926,832 3,926,832

    - other investments 0 0 10,000 10,000

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 0 0 141,588,235 141,588,235

Technical provisions 0 0 141,588,235 141,588,235

in EUR
YEAR 2014 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 TOTAL

FINANCIAL ASSETS 90,145,267 53,725,387 3,857,606 147,728,260
Assets measured at fair value 90,145,267 52,699,179 165,554 143,009,999

Available for sale 90,145,267 52,571,877 165,554 142,882,697

    - debt securities 87,816,530 52,571,877 0 140,388,407

    - equity securities 2,328,737 0 165,554 2,494,290
Recognized at fair value through profit or loss 0 127,302 0 127,302
    - debt securities 0 127,302 0 127,302
    - derivative securities 0 0 0 0

Assets for which fair value is disclosed 0 1,026,208 3,692,052 4,718,260

Loans and deposits 0 1,026,208 3,692,052 4,718,260

    - debt securities 0 0 0 0

    - bank deposits 0 1,026,208 0 1,026,208

    - investments from reinsurance contracts 
with cedants 0 0 3,682,052 3,682,052

    - other investments 0 0 10,000 10,000

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 0 0 139,034,656 139,034,656

Technical provisions 0 0 139,034,656 139,034,656

in EUR
2015 

Book value
2015 

Fair value
2014 

Book value
2014 

Fair value
FINANCIAL ASSETS 159,924,382 159,924,359 147,728,260 147,728,237

Financial assets 157,699,256 157,699,256 145,835,112 145,835,112

Available for sale 149,339,895 149,339,895 140,989,550 140,989,550

Recognized at fair value in profit or loss 0 0 127,302 127,302

In loans and deposits 8,359,361 8,359,361 4,718,260 4,718,260

Financial Investments in Group Companies 2,225,125 2,225,102 1,893,147 1,893,125

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 141,588,235 141,588,235 139,034,656 139,034,656

Technical provisions 141,588,235 141,588,235 139,034,656 139,034,656

Other financial liabilities 0 0 0 0

in EUR

AVAILABLE FOR 
SALE

AT FAIR VALUE 
THROUGH 

PROFIT OR 

LOANS AND 
RECEIVABLES TOTAL

Balance at 1 January 2014 118,036,172 211,039 9,288,204 127,535,415

Acquisitions 77,429,076 1,497,353 0 78,926,429

Disposals -57,101,901 -1,535,647 0 -58,637,548

Maturities -12,245,542 -113,829 -4,676,431 -17,035,802

Amounts transferred from equity on disposals -196,802 0 0 -196,802

Evaluation through profit or loss 0 30,138 -14,671 15,467

Evaluation through equity 11,748,582 0 0 11,748,582

Interest income 4,078,238 38,248 121,159 4,237,645

Exchange differences 1,134,875 0 0 1,134,875

Balance at 31 December 2014 142,882,697 127,302 4,718,261 147,728,260

Acquisitions 80,170,933 0 81,639,724 161,810,657

Disposals -62,832,973 -141,614 -78,317,097 -141,291,684

Maturities -9,965,765 0 0 -9,965,765

Amounts transferred from equity on disposals -3,837,764 0 0 -3,837,764

Evaluation through profit or loss 0 13,989 0 13,989

Evaluation through equity 559,252 0 0 559,252

Interest income 3,836,866 323 172,910 4,010,098

Exchange differences 751,776 0 145,563 897,339

Balance at 31 December 2015 151,565,020 0 8,359,361 159,924,382
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in EUR

YEAR 2015 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 TOTAL

FINANCIAL ASSETS 24,449,110 131,364,773 4,110,499 159,924,382
Assets measured at fair value 24,449,110 126,942,244 173,667 151,565,021

Available for sale 24,449,110 126,942,244 173,667 151,565,021
    - debt securities 22,580,908 126,942,244 0 149,523,152
    - equity securities 1,868,202 0 173,667 2,041,869
Recognized at fair value through profit or loss 0 0 0 0

    - debt securities 0 0 0 0

    - derivative securities 0 0 0 0

Assets for which fair value is disclosed 0 4,422,529 3,936,832 8,359,361

Loans and deposits 0 4,422,529 3,936,832 8,359,361

    - debt securities 0 0 0 0

    - bank deposits 0 4,422,529 0 4,422,529

    - investments from reinsurance contracts 
with cedants 0 0 3,926,832 3,926,832

    - other investments 0 0 10,000 10,000

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 0 0 141,588,235 141,588,235

Technical provisions 0 0 141,588,235 141,588,235

in EUR
YEAR 2014 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 TOTAL

FINANCIAL ASSETS 90,145,267 53,725,387 3,857,606 147,728,260
Assets measured at fair value 90,145,267 52,699,179 165,554 143,009,999

Available for sale 90,145,267 52,571,877 165,554 142,882,697

    - debt securities 87,816,530 52,571,877 0 140,388,407

    - equity securities 2,328,737 0 165,554 2,494,290
Recognized at fair value through profit or loss 0 127,302 0 127,302
    - debt securities 0 127,302 0 127,302
    - derivative securities 0 0 0 0

Assets for which fair value is disclosed 0 1,026,208 3,692,052 4,718,260

Loans and deposits 0 1,026,208 3,692,052 4,718,260

    - debt securities 0 0 0 0

    - bank deposits 0 1,026,208 0 1,026,208

    - investments from reinsurance contracts 
with cedants 0 0 3,682,052 3,682,052

    - other investments 0 0 10,000 10,000

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 0 0 139,034,656 139,034,656

Technical provisions 0 0 139,034,656 139,034,656

in EUR
2015 

Book value
2015 

Fair value
2014 

Book value
2014 

Fair value
FINANCIAL ASSETS 159,924,382 159,924,359 147,728,260 147,728,237

Financial assets 157,699,256 157,699,256 145,835,112 145,835,112

Available for sale 149,339,895 149,339,895 140,989,550 140,989,550

Recognized at fair value in profit or loss 0 0 127,302 127,302

In loans and deposits 8,359,361 8,359,361 4,718,260 4,718,260

Financial Investments in Group Companies 2,225,125 2,225,102 1,893,147 1,893,125

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 141,588,235 141,588,235 139,034,656 139,034,656

Technical provisions 141,588,235 141,588,235 139,034,656 139,034,656

Other financial liabilities 0 0 0 0

in EUR

AVAILABLE FOR 
SALE

AT FAIR VALUE 
THROUGH 

PROFIT OR 

LOANS AND 
RECEIVABLES TOTAL

Balance at 1 January 2014 118,036,172 211,039 9,288,204 127,535,415

Acquisitions 77,429,076 1,497,353 0 78,926,429

Disposals -57,101,901 -1,535,647 0 -58,637,548

Maturities -12,245,542 -113,829 -4,676,431 -17,035,802

Amounts transferred from equity on disposals -196,802 0 0 -196,802

Evaluation through profit or loss 0 30,138 -14,671 15,467

Evaluation through equity 11,748,582 0 0 11,748,582

Interest income 4,078,238 38,248 121,159 4,237,645

Exchange differences 1,134,875 0 0 1,134,875

Balance at 31 December 2014 142,882,697 127,302 4,718,261 147,728,260

Acquisitions 80,170,933 0 81,639,724 161,810,657

Disposals -62,832,973 -141,614 -78,317,097 -141,291,684

Maturities -9,965,765 0 0 -9,965,765

Amounts transferred from equity on disposals -3,837,764 0 0 -3,837,764

Evaluation through profit or loss 0 13,989 0 13,989

Evaluation through equity 559,252 0 0 559,252

Interest income 3,836,866 323 172,910 4,010,098

Exchange differences 751,776 0 145,563 897,339

Balance at 31 December 2015 151,565,020 0 8,359,361 159,924,382

Market	prices	for	financial	assets	and	liabilities	by	the	Levels
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Movements in investments, which are classified in the Level 3 and measured at fair value, are shown 
in the below table. In 2015, no reclassification from Level 1 or Level 2 to Level 3 was made. At the 
reporting date, two investments in equity securities were classified in the Level 3, one of which 
represents only one share of EUR 23,00. To calculate the price of the other investment classified in 
the Level 3, the methods of Comparative companies and of discounted cash flow (DCF) were used. 
Based on the sensitivity analyses carried out, the expected result of uncertainty was calculated which 
showed that the value of the first investment can be reduced by EUR 28,632 taking into account a 
pessimistic scenario, or increased by EUR 37,324 taking into account an optimistic scenario.

Development	of	investments	(Level	3)

Reclassification	of	financial	assets	between	different	levels	in	2015

In 2015, the following reclassifications were made:
•  From Level 1 to Level 2: debt securities amounting to EUR 54,633,628 (in 2014 to EUR 31,631,565). 

The reclassification was made due to the change in the method of determining the fair value as 
described earlier in this chapter.

•  From Level 2 to Level 1: debt securities amounting to EUR 276,379 (there was no such 
reclassification in 2014).

11.5	 Amount	of	technical	provisions	transferred	to	Reinsurers	

in EUR

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014

Available for sale 151,565,020 142,882,697
At fair value in profit or loss 0 127,302

Loans and receivables 8,359,361 4,718,261

TOTAL 159,924,382 147,728,260 0

in EUR

YEAR 2015 AVAILABLE FOR 
SALE

AT FAIR VALUE 
THROUGH 

PROFIT OR 
LOSS

LOANS AND 
RECEIVABLES TOTAL

Equity securities 2,041,710 0 0 2,041,710

- listed 2,041,710 0 0 2,041,710

- unlisted 0 0 0 0

Debt securities 149,523,152 0 0 149,523,152

- government securities 90,270,939 0 90,270,939

- corporate securities 59,252,213 0 0 59,252,213

Investment funds 159 0 0 159

- open-end 0 0 0 0

- closed-end 159 0 0 159

Loans and receivables 0 0 8,349,361 8,349,361

- bank deposits 0 0 4,422,529 4,422,529
- financial investments from reinsurance 

contracts with       cedants 0 0 3,926,832 3,926,832

Financial derivatives 0 0 0 0

Other investments 0 0 10,000 10,000

TOTAL 151,565,020 0 8,359,361 159,924,382

in EUR

YEAR 2014 AVAILABLE FOR 
SALE

AT FAIR VALUE 
THROUGH 

PROFIT OR 
LOSS

LOANS AND 
RECEIVABLES TOTAL

Equity securities 1,311,878 0 0 1,311,878

- listed 1,311,878 0 0 1,311,878

- unlisted 0 0 0 0

Debt securities 140,388,407 127,302 0 140,515,709

- government securities 84,997,593 127,302 0 85,124,895

- corporate securities 55,390,814 0 0 55,390,814

Investment funds 1,182,412 0 0 1,182,412

- open-end 663,728 0 0 663,728

- closed-end 518,684 0 0 518,684

Loans and receivables 0 0 4,708,260 4,708,260

- bank deposits 0 0 1,026,208 1,026,208
- financial investments from reinsurance 

contracts with cedants 0 0 3,682,052 3,682,052

Financial derivatives 0 0 0 0

Other investments 0 0 10,000 10,000

TOTAL 142,882,697 127,302 4,718,260 147,728,260

in EUR

YEAR 2015 Level 3 
Available for sale

Opening balance at 1 January 2015 165,554

Total profit/loss 8,113

-  in profit or loss 0

-  in comprehensive income 8,113

Acquisitions 0

Disposals 0

Reclassification from Level 3 to other Levels 0

Reclassification from other Levels to Level 3 0

Closing balance at 31 December 2015 173,667

in EUR

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014

Share in unearned premiums reserve 8,009,532 7,043,824
Share in provisions for reported but not settled claims 35,262,018 36,452,727

Share in provisions for incurred but not reported claims 2,902,156 5,975,679

TOTAL 46,173,706 49,472,230
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Changes in the Reinsurers’ shares are shown in the Item 11.9. The Company assesses the need 
for impairment of the amounts in technical provisions transferred to Reinsurers on the basis of a 
separate estimate of the financial position and solvency of an individual Reinsurer. In 2015, the 
Company did not make any impairment of these amounts.

11.6	 Receivables

The Company assesses the need for the impairment of receivables on the basis of a separate 
estimate of the financial position and solvency of an individual debtor whose receivables are already 
due.

Movements	in	value	adjustments	of	receivables

Maturity structure of receivables is shown in the Item 13.4.6.

in EUR

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014

Receivables from reinsurance and co-insurance 54,014,893 55,205,257
Current tax assets 0 0

Other receivables 5,661 3,705

TOTAL 54,020,554 55,208,962

in EUR

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014

Revaluation of receivables from reinsurance

Value adjustment of receivables at 1 January 41,531 0

Increase in value adjustments of receivables 42,057 41,531

Decrease in value adjustments of receivables 0 0

Write-off of receivables 0 0

Value adjustment of receivables at 31 December 83,588 41,531

Revaluation of other receivables

Value adjustment of receivables at 1 January 0 0

Increase in value adjustments of receivables 1,238 1,450

Decrease in value adjustments of receivables 0 -356

Write-off of receivables 0 -1,094

Value adjustment of receivables at 31 December 1,238 0

in EUR

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014

Short-term deferred costs of services 77,020 74,084

Other short-term deferred costs 0 825

TOTAL 77,020 74,909

in EUR

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014

Receivables from reinsurance and co-insurance 54,014,893 55,205,257
Current tax assets 0 0

Other receivables 5,661 3,705

TOTAL 54,020,554 55,208,962

in EUR

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014

Revaluation of receivables from reinsurance

Value adjustment of receivables at 1 January 41,531 0

Increase in value adjustments of receivables 42,057 41,531

Decrease in value adjustments of receivables 0 0

Write-off of receivables 0 0

Value adjustment of receivables at 31 December 83,588 41,531

Revaluation of other receivables

Value adjustment of receivables at 1 January 0 0

Increase in value adjustments of receivables 1,238 1,450

Decrease in value adjustments of receivables 0 -356

Write-off of receivables 0 -1,094

Value adjustment of receivables at 31 December 1,238 0

in EUR

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014

Short-term deferred costs of services 77,020 74,084

Other short-term deferred costs 0 825

TOTAL 77,020 74,909
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11.7 Other assets

11.8 Capital

11.8.1 Share capital

The share capital of Triglav Re is denominated in euro. It is divided into 15,000 no-par value shares, 
and no new shares were issued in 2015. All shares have been fully paid. The ownership structure is 
presented in the Item 3.4 of the Management report.

In 2015, there were no dividends paid. Decision on the amount of dividends paid was adopted by 
the Annual General Meeting of Triglav Re which will also decide on the amount of dividends to be 
paid for the financial year 2015.

In line with the applicable legislation, the Company quarterly calculates its capital adequacy, and 
throughout the year 2015, Triglav Re was operating with the adequate capital.

11.8.2	 Revaluation	surplus

in EUR

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014

Share capital 4,950,000 4,950,000
Capital reserves 1,146,704 1,146,704

Reserves from profit 3,116,733 2,955,378
Revaluation surplus 7,548,376 10,269,542
Retained net profit or loss 48,848,681 41,431,130
Net profit for the year 9,946,721 7,417,550

TOTAL 75,557,215 68,170,304

in EUR

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014

Share premium account 543,044 543,044
Other capital payments under the Article of Association 603,661 603,661

TOTAL 1,146,704 1,146,704

in EUR

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014

BALANCE at 1 January 2015 10,269,542 2,593,847

Increase/decrease due to revaluation 559,252 9,444,627

Transfer to profit or loss due to impairment 129 0

Increase/decrease due to disposals -3,837,893 -196,802

Tax 557,347 -1,572,130

BALANCE at 31 December 2015 7,548,376 10,269,542

in EUR

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014

Legal reserves 261,598 261,598

Statutory reserves 258,164 258,164

Credit risk equalization reserves 1,977,010 1,815,655

Other reserves from profit 619,961 619,961

TOTAL 3,116,733 2,955,378

in EUR

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014

Receivables from reinsurance and co-insurance 54,014,893 55,205,257
Current tax assets 0 0

Other receivables 5,661 3,705

TOTAL 54,020,554 55,208,962

in EUR

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014

Revaluation of receivables from reinsurance

Value adjustment of receivables at 1 January 41,531 0

Increase in value adjustments of receivables 42,057 41,531

Decrease in value adjustments of receivables 0 0

Write-off of receivables 0 0

Value adjustment of receivables at 31 December 83,588 41,531

Revaluation of other receivables

Value adjustment of receivables at 1 January 0 0

Increase in value adjustments of receivables 1,238 1,450

Decrease in value adjustments of receivables 0 -356

Write-off of receivables 0 -1,094

Value adjustment of receivables at 31 December 1,238 0

in EUR

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014

Short-term deferred costs of services 77,020 74,084

Other short-term deferred costs 0 825

TOTAL 77,020 74,909
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Surplus from revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets at fair value is evident from the revaluation 
surplus. In 2015, the Company made a permanent impairment of financial assets available-for-sale 
amounting to EUR 129.00 (no permanent impairment was made in 2014).

Realised net gains from available-for-sale financial assets are, upon the disposal of such assets, 
transferred from the fair value reserve and recognised in the profit or loss in the amount of EUR 
3,837,893 (in 2014 of EUR 196,802).

The effects of net gains from remeasuring of available-for-sale financial assets, respectively of fair 
value reserves, are disclosed in the statement of comprehensive income.

11.8.3 Capital reserves

11.8.4	 Profit	reserves

In accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU, equalisation 
provisions are recorded in the financial statements under the profit reserves in the item “equity”. 
The Insurance Act, however, requires that the equalisation provisions shall be a part of technical 
provisions. This represents an inconsistency between the requirements of the Insurance Act and the 
International Financial Reporting Standards.

11.8.5 Earnings per share

The earnings per share shall be calculated as a net profit for the year attributable to the equity holders 
of the Company. In 2015, the earnings per share amounts to EUR 674 (in 2014 to EUR 503). The 
number of ordinary shares is the weighted average number of ordinary shares issued during the 

in EUR

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014

Share premium account 543,044 543,044
Other capital payments under the Article of Association 603,661 603,661

TOTAL 1,146,704 1,146,704

in EUR

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014

BALANCE at 1 January 2015 10,269,542 2,593,847

Increase/decrease due to revaluation 559,252 9,444,627

Transfer to profit or loss due to impairment 129 0

Increase/decrease due to disposals -3,837,893 -196,802

Tax 557,347 -1,572,130

BALANCE at 31 December 2015 7,548,376 10,269,542

in EUR

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014

Legal reserves 261,598 261,598

Statutory reserves 258,164 258,164

Credit risk equalization reserves 1,977,010 1,815,655

Other reserves from profit 619,961 619,961

TOTAL 3,116,733 2,955,378

in EUR

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014

Share premium account 543,044 543,044
Other capital payments under the Article of Association 603,661 603,661

TOTAL 1,146,704 1,146,704

in EUR

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014

BALANCE at 1 January 2015 10,269,542 2,593,847

Increase/decrease due to revaluation 559,252 9,444,627

Transfer to profit or loss due to impairment 129 0

Increase/decrease due to disposals -3,837,893 -196,802

Tax 557,347 -1,572,130

BALANCE at 31 December 2015 7,548,376 10,269,542

in EUR

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014

Legal reserves 261,598 261,598

Statutory reserves 258,164 258,164

Credit risk equalization reserves 1,977,010 1,815,655

Other reserves from profit 619,961 619,961

TOTAL 3,116,733 2,955,378
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year reduced by the number of ordinary treasury shares. The number of ordinary shares used for the 
calculation of the basic net earnings per share was 15,000 (the same as in 2014). Given that there 
is no effect of options, convertible bonds or similar effect, the diluted earning per share is the same 
as the basic earning per share. 

Net	profit	in	accordance	with	the	decision	by	Insurance	Supervision	Agency

The Shareholders’ Meeting of Triglav Re will decide on the allocation of the net profit for 2015.

11.9	 Liabilities	from	reinsurance	contracts

Retrocessionaires’ shares in the provisions for reinsurance contracts are presented in the Item 11.5 
of this Report.

Due to the specific nature of reinsurance business, the movements in provisions for unearned 
premiums, provisions for claims reported but not settled, and provisions for claims incurred but not 
reported (IBNR) are disclosed as a change (positive or negative) in the individual provisions and not 
as an increase or decrease of each item separately.

in EUR

31. 12. 2015 31. 12. 2014

Net profit or loss for the period 10,108,076 7,544,759
Retained net profit(+)/retained net loss(-) 48,848,681 41,431,130

Increase in profit reserves by Decision of Management Board 161,355 127,209

- increase in reserves for credit risks 161,355 127,209
Profit allocated by the General Meeting 58,795,402 48,848,681
 - to shareholders 0 0

 - carried forward to the following year 0 48,848,681
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in EUR

GROSS 
AMOUNT

REINSURER'S 
SHARE NET AMOUNT

PROVISION FOR UNEARNED PREMIUM

Balance at 1 January 2014 21,093,821 7,662,885 13,430,935

Increase in 2014 174,127

Use in 2014 -444,934 -619,062

Release in 2014

Balance at 31 December 2014 20,648,887 7,043,824 13,605,063

Increase in 2015 2,840,448 965,708 1,874,740

Use in 2015

Release in 2015

Balance at 31 December 2015 23,489,335 8,009,532 15,479,803

PROVISION FOR CLAIMS REPORTED BUT NOT SETTLED  

Balance at 1 January 2014 66,970,981 34,030,246 32,940,735

Increase in 2014 3,609,309 2,422,482 1,186,827

Use in 2014

Release in 2014

Balance at 31 December 2014 70,580,290 36,452,727 34,127,562

Increase in 2015

Use in 2015 -3,905,709 -1,190,710 -2,715,000

Release in 2015

Balance at 31 December 2015 66,674,580 35,262,018 31,412,563

PROVISION FOR CLAIMS INCURRED BUT NOT REPORTED  

Balance at 1 January 2014 42,879,391 2,905,395 39,973,996

Increase in 2014 4,509,315 3,070,284 1,439,031

Use in 2014

Release in 2014

Balance at 31 December 2014 47,388,706 5,975,679 41,413,027
Increase in 2015 3,920,963 6,994,486
Use in 2015 -3,073,523

Release in 2015

Balance at 31 December 2015 51,309,669 2,902,156 48,407,512

OTHER PROVISIONS

Balance at 1 January 2014 486,241 0 486,241

Increase in 2014

Use in 2014 -69,467 -69,467

Release in 2014

Balance at 31 December 2015 416,774 0 416,774

Increase in 2015

Use in 2015 -302,123 -302,123

Release in 2015

Balance at 31 December 2015 114,651 0 114,651



TRIGLAV RE  Business Report 2015100

11.9.1	 Movements	in	reinsurance	claims	settled

This section shows a development of the settled claims since the development of claims reported to 
the Insurers by the Policyholders is not directly presented by Triglav Re as a reinsurance company. 
The tables below indicate the adequacy of gross and net provisions for 2015. Originally assessed 
provisions shown in the tables below comprise claims provisions (including IBNR provisions) and 
unearned premiums. Considering the specifics of reinsurance business, the Company cannot base 
its actuarial estimate for the outstanding claims provisions on the triangle of claims settled prepared 
on the loss occurance basis, but rather prepares data on the claims settled by an underwriting year, 
and then, by applying appropriate actuarial techniques, estimates expected liabilities by underwriting 
years in the future. For this reason, provisions for unearned premiums are also included in this 
presentation. 

The table below gives a review, in the triangle format, of the adequacy of gross and net claims 
provisions as at 31 December 2015 for the last five years.

Gross	provisions	for	outstanding	claims	and	unearned	premiums

Cumulative	gross	claims	settled

in EUR
YEAR 2010 YEAR 2011 YEAR 2012 YEAR 2013 YEAR 2014 YEAR 2015

Originally assessed 103,175,910 111,122,856 143,749,089 130,944,192 138,617,882 141,473,584

Reassessed after 1 year 103,672,331 112,761,493 127,789,537 120,148,565 122,485,851

Reassessed after 2 years 97,304,488 109,505,707 126,428,469 115,216,034

Reassessed after 3 years 98,718,705 113,078,904 122,999,657

Reassessed after 4 years 97,620,557 112,641,648

Reassessed after 5 years 96,209,560

CUMULATIVE SURPLUS 6,966,350 -1,518,791 20,749,432 15,728,158 16,132,031

in EUR

YEAR 2010 YEAR 2011 YEAR 2012 YEAR 2013 YEAR 2014 YEAR 2015

1 year later 44,587,174 44,065,502 49,102,955 37,901,345 40,089,155
2 years later 60,566,674 60,908,549 62,904,080 54,190,719
3 years later 65,914,177 66,516,298 71,507,701
4 years later 68,341,922 71,625,378
5 years later 72,037,051

in EUR

YEAR 2010 YEAR 2011 YEAR 2012 YEAR 2013 YEAR 2014 YEAR 2015

Originally assessed 74,329,479 83,747,731 86,937,968 86,345,666 89,145,652 95,299,878

Reassessed after 1 year 72,159,962 74,356,154 76,988,745 77,189,351 80,944,666

Reassessed after 2 years 64,033,880 70,913,508 71,377,294 73,152,497

Reassessed after 3 years 62,523,805 68,707,301 68,471,940

Reassessed after 4 years 61,858,282 66,466,715

Reassessed after 5 years 60,304,272

CUMULATIVE SURPLUS 14,025,207 17,281,016 18,466,028 13,193,169 8,200,986

in EUR

YEAR 2010 YEAR 2011 YEAR 2012 YEAR 2013 YEAR 2014 YEAR 2015

1 year later 31,308,735 33,523,129 31,260,310 30,885,379 33,016,077

2 years later 41,368,853 42,939,670 42,014,907 43,079,476

3 years later 44,627,642 47,677,721 47,140,658

4 years later 46,621,905 50,792,251

5 years later 48,467,643

in EUR
YEAR 2010 YEAR 2011 YEAR 2012 YEAR 2013 YEAR 2014 YEAR 2015

Originally assessed 103,175,910 111,122,856 143,749,089 130,944,192 138,617,882 141,473,584

Reassessed after 1 year 103,672,331 112,761,493 127,789,537 120,148,565 122,485,851

Reassessed after 2 years 97,304,488 109,505,707 126,428,469 115,216,034

Reassessed after 3 years 98,718,705 113,078,904 122,999,657

Reassessed after 4 years 97,620,557 112,641,648

Reassessed after 5 years 96,209,560

CUMULATIVE SURPLUS 6,966,350 -1,518,791 20,749,432 15,728,158 16,132,031

in EUR

YEAR 2010 YEAR 2011 YEAR 2012 YEAR 2013 YEAR 2014 YEAR 2015

1 year later 44,587,174 44,065,502 49,102,955 37,901,345 40,089,155
2 years later 60,566,674 60,908,549 62,904,080 54,190,719
3 years later 65,914,177 66,516,298 71,507,701
4 years later 68,341,922 71,625,378
5 years later 72,037,051

in EUR

YEAR 2010 YEAR 2011 YEAR 2012 YEAR 2013 YEAR 2014 YEAR 2015

Originally assessed 74,329,479 83,747,731 86,937,968 86,345,666 89,145,652 95,299,878

Reassessed after 1 year 72,159,962 74,356,154 76,988,745 77,189,351 80,944,666

Reassessed after 2 years 64,033,880 70,913,508 71,377,294 73,152,497

Reassessed after 3 years 62,523,805 68,707,301 68,471,940

Reassessed after 4 years 61,858,282 66,466,715

Reassessed after 5 years 60,304,272

CUMULATIVE SURPLUS 14,025,207 17,281,016 18,466,028 13,193,169 8,200,986

in EUR

YEAR 2010 YEAR 2011 YEAR 2012 YEAR 2013 YEAR 2014 YEAR 2015

1 year later 31,308,735 33,523,129 31,260,310 30,885,379 33,016,077

2 years later 41,368,853 42,939,670 42,014,907 43,079,476

3 years later 44,627,642 47,677,721 47,140,658

4 years later 46,621,905 50,792,251

5 years later 48,467,643
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Net	provisions	for	outstanding	claims	and	unearned	premiums

Cumulative	net	claims	settled

The above tables show the adequacy test of gross and net provisions for the Company’s reinsurance 
contracts, taking also into account the unearned premiums. Namely, the assessed liabilities of 
reinsurance companies are normally arranged by underwriting years and, thus, also comprise 
liabilities to be settled by unearned premiums. The first triangle in the table shows the originally 
assessed provisions by financial year and its reassessment (up to five years later). The next triangle 
shows the amount of cumulative settled and paid claims. The cumulative surplus in net provisions 
(calculated by deducting the last known assessment of provisions from the original assessment of 
provisions) amounted to EUR 8.2 million in 2015 for the year 2014.

in EUR
YEAR 2010 YEAR 2011 YEAR 2012 YEAR 2013 YEAR 2014 YEAR 2015

Originally assessed 103,175,910 111,122,856 143,749,089 130,944,192 138,617,882 141,473,584

Reassessed after 1 year 103,672,331 112,761,493 127,789,537 120,148,565 122,485,851

Reassessed after 2 years 97,304,488 109,505,707 126,428,469 115,216,034

Reassessed after 3 years 98,718,705 113,078,904 122,999,657

Reassessed after 4 years 97,620,557 112,641,648

Reassessed after 5 years 96,209,560

CUMULATIVE SURPLUS 6,966,350 -1,518,791 20,749,432 15,728,158 16,132,031
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4 years later 68,341,922 71,625,378
5 years later 72,037,051
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Reassessed after 3 years 62,523,805 68,707,301 68,471,940
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11.10   Other provisions

Other	provisions,	development	of	provisions	for	retirement	benefits	and	sensitivity	analysis	
of	the	change	in	parameters

Development	of	provisions	for	long-service	and	retirement	benefits			 	

in EUR

Initial situation at 
1 January 2015 Use Formation Release

Final situation at  
31 December 

2015 
Provision for untaken holidays of employees 95,299 0 0 -2,772 92,527
Provision for long-service benefits 14,496 -620 6,577 0 20,453

Provision for retirement benefits 53,286 0 11,823 0 65,109

Total 163,081 -620 18,400 -2,772 178,089

Initial situation at 
1 January 2014 Use Formation Release

Final situation at  
31 December 

2014
Provision for untaken holidays of employees 69,728 0 25,570 0 95,299

Provision for long-service benefits 15,123 -3,676 3,049 0 14,496

Provision for retirement benefits 47,559 0 5,727 0 53,286

Total 132,410 -3,676 34,346 0 163,081

31/12/2015

Provisions for 
personnel Change

Change in % to 
amount of 
provisions 

Interest rate
   Parallel shift of discount curve for +0,25% 82,650 -2,911 -3.4%

   Parallel shift of discount curve for -0,25% 88,632 3,071 3.6%

Expected wage growth 

   Change in annual wage growth for +0,50% 91,873 6,312 7.4%

   Change in annual wage growth for -0,50% 79,837 -5,725 -6.7%

Mortality rate
   Constant increase of mortality rate for +20% 83,744 -1,818 -2.1%

   Constant increase of mortality rate for -20% 87,441 1,880 2.2%

Early termination of employment 
   Parallel shift of curve for +20% 79,018 -6,544 -7.6%

   Parallel shift of curve for -20% 92,913 7,351 8.6%

Development of provisions for long-service and retirement benefits 

  31/12/2015 31/12/2014

UNDER 1 YEAR 18,074 15,357

BETWEEN 1 AND 5 YEARS 6,707 5,169

BETWEEN 5 AND 10 YEARS 4,522 4,424

OVER 10 YEARS 56,259 42,833

85,562 67,783

in EUR

Initial situation at 
1 January 2015 Use Formation Release

Final situation at  
31 December 

2015 
Provision for untaken holidays of employees 95,299 0 0 -2,772 92,527
Provision for long-service benefits 14,496 -620 6,577 0 20,453

Provision for retirement benefits 53,286 0 11,823 0 65,109

Total 163,081 -620 18,400 -2,772 178,089
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2014
Provision for untaken holidays of employees 69,728 0 25,570 0 95,299

Provision for long-service benefits 15,123 -3,676 3,049 0 14,496
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provisions 

Interest rate
   Parallel shift of discount curve for +0,25% 82,650 -2,911 -3.4%

   Parallel shift of discount curve for -0,25% 88,632 3,071 3.6%

Expected wage growth 

   Change in annual wage growth for +0,50% 91,873 6,312 7.4%

   Change in annual wage growth for -0,50% 79,837 -5,725 -6.7%

Mortality rate
   Constant increase of mortality rate for +20% 83,744 -1,818 -2.1%

   Constant increase of mortality rate for -20% 87,441 1,880 2.2%

Early termination of employment 
   Parallel shift of curve for +20% 79,018 -6,544 -7.6%

   Parallel shift of curve for -20% 92,913 7,351 8.6%
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85,562 67,783
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There was no significant impact on the Company’s comprehensive income in 2015

11.11		Operating	and	other	liabilities

in EUR

Initial situation at 
1 January 2015 Use Formation Release

Final situation at  
31 December 

2015 
Provision for untaken holidays of employees 95,299 0 0 -2,772 92,527
Provision for long-service benefits 14,496 -620 6,577 0 20,453

Provision for retirement benefits 53,286 0 11,823 0 65,109

Total 163,081 -620 18,400 -2,772 178,089

Initial situation at 
1 January 2014 Use Formation Release

Final situation at  
31 December 

2014
Provision for untaken holidays of employees 69,728 0 25,570 0 95,299

Provision for long-service benefits 15,123 -3,676 3,049 0 14,496

Provision for retirement benefits 47,559 0 5,727 0 53,286

Total 132,410 -3,676 34,346 0 163,081

31/12/2015

Provisions for 
personnel Change

Change in % to 
amount of 
provisions 

Interest rate
   Parallel shift of discount curve for +0,25% 82,650 -2,911 -3.4%

   Parallel shift of discount curve for -0,25% 88,632 3,071 3.6%

Expected wage growth 

   Change in annual wage growth for +0,50% 91,873 6,312 7.4%

   Change in annual wage growth for -0,50% 79,837 -5,725 -6.7%

Mortality rate
   Constant increase of mortality rate for +20% 83,744 -1,818 -2.1%

   Constant increase of mortality rate for -20% 87,441 1,880 2.2%

Early termination of employment 
   Parallel shift of curve for +20% 79,018 -6,544 -7.6%

   Parallel shift of curve for -20% 92,913 7,351 8.6%

Development of provisions for long-service and retirement benefits 

  31/12/2015 31/12/2014

UNDER 1 YEAR 18,074 15,357

BETWEEN 1 AND 5 YEARS 6,707 5,169

BETWEEN 5 AND 10 YEARS 4,522 4,424

OVER 10 YEARS 56,259 42,833

85,562 67,783

in EUR

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014

Liabilities from reinsurance operations 40,510,652 42,637,649
- of which liabilities to related companies 18,159,166 12,385,703

Tax liabilities from legal persons' income 667,256 221,230

Other liabilities 864,194 720,141
Wage liabilities 173,804 168,876
Other liabilities 243,282 161,642

- of which other liabilities to related companies 93,790 87,695

  Other accrued costs and expenses 447,107 389,623

- from which Provisions for employee benefits 431,475 373,640

TOTAL 42,042,102 43,579,020
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Liabilities from reinsurance contract are of a short-term nature. They include liabilities to insurance 
companies arising from shares in claims and commissions, and premium payment liabilities. 
Liabilities are stated at historical cost, which is equal to fair value. At 31 December 2014, the sum of 
all due liabilities from active operations amounted to EUR 18,553,727; and by 12 March 2015, the 
Company has settled due liabilities in the total amount of EUR 1,277,382. The remaining amount of 
unpaid liabilities relates to the liabilities for which the reinsurance contracts provide that they shall be 
paid only after our cedants pay their liabilities to our Company. Another category of the unpaid due 
liabilities are those that shall, upon payment, be offset against the Company’s receivables toward 
partners, but by the date of the statement of the financial position the partner has not yet settled 
the balance. This is the reason why the Company still has both outstanding receivables from and 
outstanding liabilities to individual partners recorded at the date of the statement of financial position.  

The maturity structure of liabilities and receivables for inward and outward operations is shown in the 
Item 12.4.6.
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In the beginning of the 20th century, Italian painter and sculptor Amadeo 
Modigliani created drawings and paintings of the intended stone caryatids 

for the Pillars of Tenderness. The Pillars of Tenderdness would support a 
Temple of Beauty - a project for the temple of all, which would be created 

together with English sculptour Jacob Epstein. 
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DISCLOSURES TO THE 
INCOME STATEMENT

12.1	 Net	reinsurance	premium	income
in EUR

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014

Gross reinsurance premium written 116,839,911 105,198,717
- premium ceded by Insurers to reinsurance 70,878,940 67,661,392

- premium ceded by Reinsurers to reinsurance 45,960,972 37,537,325
Reinsurance premiums ceded to retrocession -48,228,133 -47,308,333
Change in gross provisions for unearned premiums -2,840,448 444,934
Retrocessionaires' share in the change of provisions for unearned premiums 965,708 -619,062

TOTAL 66,737,038 57,716,257

in EUR

YEAR 2015
Gross 

reinsurance 
premiums

Gross earned 
premiums

Gross claims 
paid

Gross claims 
expenses

Insurance 
acquisition costs 

and other costs
Accident insurance 4,620,109 4,522,991 3,097,980 3,260,683 123,284

Health insurance 72,818 70,364 78,100 31,836 1,943

Land motor vehicle insurance 11,014,660 11,388,782 5,229,504 4,673,249 293,918

Railway insurance 537,730 536,920 0 -128,625 14,349

Aircraft insurance 1,271,073 1,052,584 33,812 469,068 33,918

Marine insurance 2,820,333 2,767,203 2,248,894 2,943,103 75,259

Cargo insurance 1,840,662 1,886,955 922,725 999,005 49,117

Fire and natural forces insurance 45,404,145 44,877,979 19,046,880 18,870,426 1,211,578

Other damage to property 
insurance 29,277,601 27,025,562 14,301,515 13,075,567 781,252

Motor TPL  insurance 9,197,479 8,802,825 7,689,339 10,176,522 245,428
Aircraft liability insurance 377,179 393,810 185,567 -1,794,533 10,065
Marine liability insurance 335,132 312,630 54,506 68,760 8,943

General liability insurance 3,646,013 3,919,129 843,377 1,384,343 97,291

Credit insurance 3,265,798 3,239,132 462,413 533,066 87,146

Suretyship insurance 530,671 561,461 380,492 127,582 14,161

Miscellaneous financial losses 
insurance 1,643,422 1,658,166 1,350,784 1,313,366 43,854

Legal expenses insurance 44,341 44,882 986 265 1,183

Assistance insurance 492,484 493,384 418,262 436,602 13,142

Life insurance 448,261 444,705 637,330 557,434 11,962

TOTAL 116,839,911 113,999,463 56,982,465 56,997,718 3,117,791

2,840,448

in EUR

YEAR 2014
Gross 

reinsurance 
premiums

Gross earned 
premiums

Gross claims 
paid

Gross claims 
expenses

Insurance 
acquisition costs 

and other costs
Accident insurance 4,147,051 3,747,548 1,453,444 2,271,281 113,071

Health insurance 19,638 16,501 96,846 -42,681 535

Land motor vehicle insurance 10,738,907 10,895,766 5,296,234 5,277,619 292,800

Railway insurance 519,889 519,076 40 1,020,040 14,175

Aircraft insurance 873,030 515,470 12,696 -5,434 23,803

Marine insurance 2,386,184 2,390,250 2,192,109 1,986,659 65,060

Cargo insurance 1,704,155 1,920,286 638,581 539,433 46,464
Fire and natural forces insurance 42,707,458 41,445,468 19,051,131 19,340,560 1,164,433

Other damage to property 
insurance 22,582,330 24,843,783 13,195,872 14,639,103 615,715

Motor TPL  insurance 8,215,386 8,506,571 4,912,837 8,062,468 223,995

Aircraft liability insurance 582,796 457,820 617,439 -874,095 15,890

Marine liability insurance 308,762 260,277 31,475 -484,090 8,419

General liability insurance 4,233,626 4,009,964 873,340 6,845,732 115,431

Credit insurance 2,758,184 2,779,359 721,774 362,060 75,203

Suretyship insurance 642,589 589,616 127,700 -110,763 17,520

Miscellaneous financial losses 
insurance 1,915,241 1,891,760 747,767 -778,197 52,220

Legal expenses insurance 41,589 42,303 400 3,989 1,134

Assistance insurance 426,023 403,939 358,996 326,304 11,616

Life insurance 395,878 407,894 197,582 264,896 10,794

TOTAL 105,198,717 105,643,651 50,526,261 58,644,885 2,868,277

012345678910111213
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012345678910111213 Breakdown	of	reinsurance	premiums,	claims	incurred	and	operating	expenses	by	classe	
of	business

The analysis of gross reinsurance premiums written and gross claims settled by classe of business 
is shown in the below table.

in EUR

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014

Gross reinsurance premium written 116,839,911 105,198,717
- premium ceded by Insurers to reinsurance 70,878,940 67,661,392

- premium ceded by Reinsurers to reinsurance 45,960,972 37,537,325
Reinsurance premiums ceded to retrocession -48,228,133 -47,308,333
Change in gross provisions for unearned premiums -2,840,448 444,934
Retrocessionaires' share in the change of provisions for unearned premiums 965,708 -619,062

TOTAL 66,737,038 57,716,257

in EUR

YEAR 2015
Gross 

reinsurance 
premiums

Gross earned 
premiums

Gross claims 
paid

Gross claims 
expenses

Insurance 
acquisition costs 

and other costs
Accident insurance 4,620,109 4,522,991 3,097,980 3,260,683 123,284

Health insurance 72,818 70,364 78,100 31,836 1,943

Land motor vehicle insurance 11,014,660 11,388,782 5,229,504 4,673,249 293,918

Railway insurance 537,730 536,920 0 -128,625 14,349

Aircraft insurance 1,271,073 1,052,584 33,812 469,068 33,918

Marine insurance 2,820,333 2,767,203 2,248,894 2,943,103 75,259

Cargo insurance 1,840,662 1,886,955 922,725 999,005 49,117

Fire and natural forces insurance 45,404,145 44,877,979 19,046,880 18,870,426 1,211,578

Other damage to property 
insurance 29,277,601 27,025,562 14,301,515 13,075,567 781,252

Motor TPL  insurance 9,197,479 8,802,825 7,689,339 10,176,522 245,428
Aircraft liability insurance 377,179 393,810 185,567 -1,794,533 10,065
Marine liability insurance 335,132 312,630 54,506 68,760 8,943

General liability insurance 3,646,013 3,919,129 843,377 1,384,343 97,291

Credit insurance 3,265,798 3,239,132 462,413 533,066 87,146

Suretyship insurance 530,671 561,461 380,492 127,582 14,161

Miscellaneous financial losses 
insurance 1,643,422 1,658,166 1,350,784 1,313,366 43,854

Legal expenses insurance 44,341 44,882 986 265 1,183

Assistance insurance 492,484 493,384 418,262 436,602 13,142

Life insurance 448,261 444,705 637,330 557,434 11,962

TOTAL 116,839,911 113,999,463 56,982,465 56,997,718 3,117,791

2,840,448

in EUR

YEAR 2014
Gross 

reinsurance 
premiums

Gross earned 
premiums

Gross claims 
paid

Gross claims 
expenses

Insurance 
acquisition costs 

and other costs
Accident insurance 4,147,051 3,747,548 1,453,444 2,271,281 113,071

Health insurance 19,638 16,501 96,846 -42,681 535

Land motor vehicle insurance 10,738,907 10,895,766 5,296,234 5,277,619 292,800

Railway insurance 519,889 519,076 40 1,020,040 14,175

Aircraft insurance 873,030 515,470 12,696 -5,434 23,803

Marine insurance 2,386,184 2,390,250 2,192,109 1,986,659 65,060

Cargo insurance 1,704,155 1,920,286 638,581 539,433 46,464
Fire and natural forces insurance 42,707,458 41,445,468 19,051,131 19,340,560 1,164,433

Other damage to property 
insurance 22,582,330 24,843,783 13,195,872 14,639,103 615,715

Motor TPL  insurance 8,215,386 8,506,571 4,912,837 8,062,468 223,995

Aircraft liability insurance 582,796 457,820 617,439 -874,095 15,890

Marine liability insurance 308,762 260,277 31,475 -484,090 8,419

General liability insurance 4,233,626 4,009,964 873,340 6,845,732 115,431

Credit insurance 2,758,184 2,779,359 721,774 362,060 75,203

Suretyship insurance 642,589 589,616 127,700 -110,763 17,520

Miscellaneous financial losses 
insurance 1,915,241 1,891,760 747,767 -778,197 52,220

Legal expenses insurance 41,589 42,303 400 3,989 1,134

Assistance insurance 426,023 403,939 358,996 326,304 11,616

Life insurance 395,878 407,894 197,582 264,896 10,794

TOTAL 105,198,717 105,643,651 50,526,261 58,644,885 2,868,277
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Profit/loss	from	retroceded	premiums,	commissions	and	claims

in EUR

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014

Gross reinsurance premium written 116,839,911 105,198,717
- premium ceded by Insurers to reinsurance 70,878,940 67,661,392

- premium ceded by Reinsurers to reinsurance 45,960,972 37,537,325
Reinsurance premiums ceded to retrocession -48,228,133 -47,308,333
Change in gross provisions for unearned premiums -2,840,448 444,934
Retrocessionaires' share in the change of provisions for unearned premiums 965,708 -619,062

TOTAL 66,737,038 57,716,257

in EUR

YEAR 2015
Gross 

reinsurance 
premiums

Gross earned 
premiums

Gross claims 
paid

Gross claims 
expenses

Insurance 
acquisition costs 

and other costs
Accident insurance 4,620,109 4,522,991 3,097,980 3,260,683 123,284

Health insurance 72,818 70,364 78,100 31,836 1,943

Land motor vehicle insurance 11,014,660 11,388,782 5,229,504 4,673,249 293,918

Railway insurance 537,730 536,920 0 -128,625 14,349

Aircraft insurance 1,271,073 1,052,584 33,812 469,068 33,918

Marine insurance 2,820,333 2,767,203 2,248,894 2,943,103 75,259

Cargo insurance 1,840,662 1,886,955 922,725 999,005 49,117

Fire and natural forces insurance 45,404,145 44,877,979 19,046,880 18,870,426 1,211,578

Other damage to property 
insurance 29,277,601 27,025,562 14,301,515 13,075,567 781,252

Motor TPL  insurance 9,197,479 8,802,825 7,689,339 10,176,522 245,428
Aircraft liability insurance 377,179 393,810 185,567 -1,794,533 10,065
Marine liability insurance 335,132 312,630 54,506 68,760 8,943

General liability insurance 3,646,013 3,919,129 843,377 1,384,343 97,291

Credit insurance 3,265,798 3,239,132 462,413 533,066 87,146

Suretyship insurance 530,671 561,461 380,492 127,582 14,161

Miscellaneous financial losses 
insurance 1,643,422 1,658,166 1,350,784 1,313,366 43,854

Legal expenses insurance 44,341 44,882 986 265 1,183

Assistance insurance 492,484 493,384 418,262 436,602 13,142

Life insurance 448,261 444,705 637,330 557,434 11,962

TOTAL 116,839,911 113,999,463 56,982,465 56,997,718 3,117,791

2,840,448

in EUR

YEAR 2014
Gross 

reinsurance 
premiums

Gross earned 
premiums

Gross claims 
paid

Gross claims 
expenses

Insurance 
acquisition costs 

and other costs
Accident insurance 4,147,051 3,747,548 1,453,444 2,271,281 113,071

Health insurance 19,638 16,501 96,846 -42,681 535

Land motor vehicle insurance 10,738,907 10,895,766 5,296,234 5,277,619 292,800

Railway insurance 519,889 519,076 40 1,020,040 14,175

Aircraft insurance 873,030 515,470 12,696 -5,434 23,803

Marine insurance 2,386,184 2,390,250 2,192,109 1,986,659 65,060

Cargo insurance 1,704,155 1,920,286 638,581 539,433 46,464
Fire and natural forces insurance 42,707,458 41,445,468 19,051,131 19,340,560 1,164,433

Other damage to property 
insurance 22,582,330 24,843,783 13,195,872 14,639,103 615,715

Motor TPL  insurance 8,215,386 8,506,571 4,912,837 8,062,468 223,995

Aircraft liability insurance 582,796 457,820 617,439 -874,095 15,890

Marine liability insurance 308,762 260,277 31,475 -484,090 8,419

General liability insurance 4,233,626 4,009,964 873,340 6,845,732 115,431

Credit insurance 2,758,184 2,779,359 721,774 362,060 75,203

Suretyship insurance 642,589 589,616 127,700 -110,763 17,520

Miscellaneous financial losses 
insurance 1,915,241 1,891,760 747,767 -778,197 52,220

Legal expenses insurance 41,589 42,303 400 3,989 1,134

Assistance insurance 426,023 403,939 358,996 326,304 11,616

Life insurance 395,878 407,894 197,582 264,896 10,794

TOTAL 105,198,717 105,643,651 50,526,261 58,644,885 2,868,277

in EUR
YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014

Reinsurance premiums ceded to retrocession 48,228,133 47,308,333

Retrocessionaires' share in the change in provisions for unearned premiums -965,708 619,062

RETROCEDED PREMIUMS EARNED 47,262,425 47,927,394

Retrocessionaires' share in claims paid 14,918,868 12,625,574

Change in retroceded provisions for claims reported but not settled -1,190,710 2,422,482

Change in retroceded provisions for claims incurred but not reported -3,073,523 3,070,284

RETROCEDED EXPENSES FOR CLAIMS 10,654,636 18,118,339

Commission income 9,973,032 10,002,303

PROFIT/LOSS FROM RETROCESSION 26,634,757 19,806,752
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The above table shows the Company’s technical result of retrocessions in 2015 and 2014. The 
retroceded premiums earned represent a written reinsurance premium ceded to retrocession 
(outward reinsurance) reduced by the retroceded unearned premium to the Reinsurers. Retroceded 
claims incurred represent the gross insurance payments (e.g. indemnities) or compensations received 
from retrocession (outward reinsurance), reduced by retroceded claims provisions to the Reinsurers. 
Earned reinsurance commission is charged for outward reinsurance operations and represents the 
Company’s income.

12.2	 Income	and	expenses	from	financial	assets

12.2.1	 Income	from	financial	assets

Upon disposal of financial assets, net realised gains from available-for-sale assets are transferred 
from the provisions for change in the fair value under equity, and are recognised in the profit or loss 
in the amount of EUR 4,320,463 (in 2014 of EUR 2,407,012). Other financial income includes foreign 
exchange gains from investments and operating receivables amounting to EUR 4,675,916 (in 2014 
to EUR 1,971,219) and other income amounting to EUR 1,560 (in 2014 to EUR 68.00).

in EUR

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014

Income from financial assets in related companies 101,782 98,258
- interest income 101,782 98,258

Interest income 3,908,380 4,139,421
- financial assets available-for-sale 3,735,084 3,979,980
- financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 323 38,248
- loans and receivables 172,973 121,193

Dividend income 47,324 49,799

- financial assets available-for-sale 47,324 49,799

Income from change in fair value 116,775 145,026

- financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 116,775 145,026

Realised gains 4,320,463 2,453,710

- financial assets available-for-sale 4,320,463 2,407,012

- financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 0 46,698

- loans and recivables 0 0

Other financial income 4,677,476 1,971,286

TOTAL 13,172,200 8,857,500
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12.2.2	 Expenses	from	financial	assets

In 2015, the Company impaired the financial assets under the item “available-for-sale” by EUR 
129.00 (there was no impairment in 2014). Other financial expenses in the amount of EUR 4,213,337 
(in 2014 of EUR 1,496,290) which account for the highest amount among expenses from financial 
assets, include negative foreign exchange losses amounting to EUR 3,599,211 (in 2014 to EUR 
738,756), other financial expenses amounting to EUR 365,699 (in 2014: EUR 327,264) and operating 
expenses related to assets management amounting to EUR 248,427 (in 2014: EUR 230,218).

in EUR

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014

Expenses from change in fair value 0 151,547

- financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 0 151,547

Losses from disposal of financial assets 732,759 36,736

- financial assets available for sale 629,974 12,025

- financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 102,785 10,039

- loans and deposits 0 14,671

Expenses from impairment of financial assets 129 0

- financial assets available for sale 129 0

- loans and deposits 0 0

Other financial expenses 4,213,337 1,496,290

TOTAL 4,946,225 1,684,574

in EUR

Assets 
 available for 

sale

Loans and 
 receivables

Financial assets  
at fair value  

through 
profit or loss

 Financial 
derivatives Total

YEAR 2015
Income from investments in related companies 101,782 0 0 0 101,782

Interest income 3,735,084 172,973 323 0 3,908,380

Income from dividends and shares 47,324 0 0 0 47,324

Income from change in fair value 0 0 116,775 0 116,775

Realized gains 4,320,463 0 0 0 4,320,463

Other financial income 4,677,476 0 0 0 4,677,476

TOTAL INCOME 12,882,129 172,973 117,098 0 13,172,200

Realised losses 629,974 0 102,785 0 732,759

Expenses from change in fair value 0 0 0 0

Impairment expenses 129 0 0 0 129

Other financial expenses 4,213,337 0 0 0 4,213,337

TOTAL EXPENSES 4,843,440 0 102,785 0 4,946,225

TOTAL NET INCOME/EXPENSES 8,038,690 172,973 14,313 0 8,225,975

YEAR 2014
Income from investments in related companies 98,258 0 0 0 98,258

Interest income 3,979,980 121,193 38,248 0 4,139,421

Income from dividends and shares 49,799 0 0 0 49,799

Income from change at fair value 0 0 145,026 0 145,026

Realized gains 2,407,012 0 46,698 0 2,453,710

Other financial income 1,971,286 0 0 0 1,971,286

TOTAL INCOME 8,506,335 121,193 229,972 0 8,857,500

Realised losses 12,025 14,671 10,039 0 36,736

Expenses from change at fair value 0 0 151,547 151,547

Impairment expenses 0 0 0 0 0

Other financial expenses 1,496,290 0 0 0 1,496,290

TOTAL EXPENSES 1,508,315 14,671 161,587 0 1,684,574

TOTAL NET INCOME/EXPENSES 6,998,020 106,522 68,386 0 7,172,926
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in EUR

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014

Expenses from change in fair value 0 151,547
- financial assets at fair value through profit or 

loss
0 151,547

Losses from disposal of financial assets 732,759 36,736

- financial assets available for sale 629,974 12,025
- financial assets at fair value through profit or 

loss
102,785 10,039

- loans and deposits 0 14,671

Expenses from impairment of financial assets 129 0

- financial assets available for sale 129 0

- loans and deposits 0 0

Other financial expenses 4,213,337 1,496,290

TOTAL 4,946,225 1,684,574

in EUR

Assets 
 available for 

sale

Loans and 
 receivables

Financial assets  
at fair value  

through 
profit or loss

 Financial 
derivatives Total

YEAR 2015
Income from investments in related companies 101,782 0 0 0 101,782

Interest income 3,735,084 172,973 323 0 3,908,380

Income from dividends and shares 47,324 0 0 0 47,324

Income from change in fair value 0 0 116,775 0 116,775

Realized gains 4,320,463 0 0 0 4,320,463

Other financial income 4,677,476 0 0 0 4,677,476

TOTAL INCOME 12,882,129 172,973 117,098 0 13,172,200

Realised losses 629,974 0 102,785 0 732,759

Expenses from change in fair value 0 0 0 0

Impairment expenses 129 0 0 0 129

Other financial expenses 4,213,337 0 0 0 4,213,337

TOTAL EXPENSES 4,843,440 0 102,785 0 4,946,225

TOTAL NET INCOME/EXPENSES 8,038,690 172,973 14,313 0 8,225,975

YEAR 2014
Income from investments in related companies 98,258 0 0 0 98,258

Interest income 3,979,980 121,193 38,248 0 4,139,421

Income from dividends and shares 49,799 0 0 0 49,799

Income from change at fair value 0 0 145,026 0 145,026

Realized gains 2,407,012 0 46,698 0 2,453,710

Other financial income 1,971,286 0 0 0 1,971,286

TOTAL INCOME 8,506,335 121,193 229,972 0 8,857,500

Realised losses 12,025 14,671 10,039 0 36,736

Expenses from change at fair value 0 0 151,547 151,547

Impairment expenses 0 0 0 0 0

Other financial expenses 1,496,290 0 0 0 1,496,290

TOTAL EXPENSES 1,508,315 14,671 161,587 0 1,684,574

TOTAL NET INCOME/EXPENSES 6,998,020 106,522 68,386 0 7,172,926
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12.3	 Commission	income	and	expenses

The reinsurance commission is charged in connection with the outward reinsurance business (i.e. 
reinsurance operations which are retroceded to other Reinsurers) and represents the Company’s 
income, while the reinsurance commission is paid in connection with the inward reinsurance business 
(i.e. reinsurance operations ceded to Triglav Re by cedants and retrocedants) and represents the 
Company’s expenses. The reinsurance commission expense exceeds the reinsurance commission 
income and, thus, has a negative impact on the result since it increases the Company’s operating 
expenses.

12.4	 Net	claims	incurred

in EUR

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014

Commission income 9,973,032 10,002,303
Commission paid -23,080,119 -22,016,606

DIFFERENCE -13,107,087 -12,014,303

in EUR

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014

Gross claims paid 56,982,465 50,526,261
Retrocessionaires' share in claims incurred -14,918,868 -12,625,574

Change in gross provisions for claims recorded but not settled -3,905,709 3,609,309
Change in retroceded provisions for claims recorded but not settled 1,190,710 -2,422,482
Change in gross provisions for claims incurred but not recorded 3,920,963 4,509,315
Change in retroceded provisions for claims incurred but not recorded 3,073,523 -3,070,284

TOTAL 46,343,082 40,526,546
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12.5 Operating expenses

The table below presents operating expenses by their nature and by functional groups.

The Company discloses the operating expenses in the income statement by functional groups. 
Asset management costs for 2015 amounted to EUR 248,427 (in 2014 to EUR 230,218) and are 
recognised in the income statement under “financial expenses”.

Total labour costs amounting to EUR 2,534,775 (in 2014 to EUR 2,316,600) also include awards to 
employees and management depending on the operating results in 2015 in a total amount of EUR 
339,524 (in 2013 of EUR 304,116). The amount includes all fees and taxes borne by the employer 
and is recognised under “other expenses.

in EUR

YEAR 2014
INSURANCE 

ACQUISITION 
EXPENSES

ASSETS 
MANAGEMENT 

EXPENSES

OTHER 
OPERATING 
EXPENSES

TOTAL

Depreciation costs 21,198 4,347 32,964 58,509
Labour costs 839,304 172,123 1,305,172 2,316,600

- gross wages 635,381 130,303 988,058 1,753,742
- social security costs 42,674 8,751 66,360 117,785
- pension insurance costs 63,456 13,013 98,678 175,147
- other labour costs 97,794 20,055 152,076 269,925

Costs of services provided by natural persons not 
involved in business activity 3,020 619 4,697 8,336

Other operating costs 259,063 53,128 402,859 715,051

TOTAL 1,122,585 230,218 1,745,692 3,098,496

in EUR

YEAR 2015
INSURANCE 

ACQUISITION 
EXPENSES

ASSETS 
MANAGEMENT 

EXPENSES

OTHER 
OPERATING 
EXPENSES

TOTAL

Depreciation costs 24,375 4,738 35,083 64,196

Labour costs 962,454 187,066 1,385,255 2,534,775

- gross wages 728,494 141,593 1,048,517 1,918,603

- social security costs 56,217 10,927 80,913 148,057

- pension insurance costs 66,503 12,926 95,718 175,147

- other labour costs 111,240 21,621 160,107 292,968

Costs of services provided by natural persons not 
involved in business activity 1,531 298 2,203 4,031

Other operating costs 289,793 56,325 417,097 763,215

TOTAL 1,278,153 248,427 1,839,638 3,366,218

in EUR

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014

Auditing of annual report 27,450 27,450

Other auditing services 1,220 0

Tax consultancy services 0 0

Other non-auditing services 0 0
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Auditing	and	consultancy	costs

12.6 Tax expenses

Deferred income tax expenses in the amount of EUR 31,355 increase the total tax expense recognised 
in the income statement, while in the past year it increased by EUR 52,924. Deferred income tax 
expense consists of deferred tax provisions for termination and jubilee benefits in the amount of 
EUR 1,511 (in 2014 of EUR 434.00) and deferred tax assets due to impairment of investments in the 
amount of EUR 40,226 (in 2014 of EUR 60,418). Income tax and deferred taxes are calculated at the 
tax rate of 17 percent which means the same as in the previous year. The effective tax rate in 2015 
amounted to 16.96 percent (in 2014 to 16,97 percent).

Reconciliation	of	accounting	profit	for	the	period	and	income	tax	expense

in EUR

YEAR 2014
INSURANCE 

ACQUISITION 
EXPENSES

ASSETS 
MANAGEMENT 

EXPENSES

OTHER 
OPERATING 
EXPENSES

TOTAL

Depreciation costs 21,198 4,347 32,964 58,509
Labour costs 839,304 172,123 1,305,172 2,316,600

- gross wages 635,381 130,303 988,058 1,753,742
- social security costs 42,674 8,751 66,360 117,785
- pension insurance costs 63,456 13,013 98,678 175,147
- other labour costs 97,794 20,055 152,076 269,925

Costs of services provided by natural persons not 
involved in business activity 3,020 619 4,697 8,336

Other operating costs 259,063 53,128 402,859 715,051

TOTAL 1,122,585 230,218 1,745,692 3,098,496

in EUR

YEAR 2015
INSURANCE 

ACQUISITION 
EXPENSES

ASSETS 
MANAGEMENT 

EXPENSES

OTHER 
OPERATING 
EXPENSES

TOTAL

Depreciation costs 24,375 4,738 35,083 64,196

Labour costs 962,454 187,066 1,385,255 2,534,775

- gross wages 728,494 141,593 1,048,517 1,918,603

- social security costs 56,217 10,927 80,913 148,057

- pension insurance costs 66,503 12,926 95,718 175,147

- other labour costs 111,240 21,621 160,107 292,968

Costs of services provided by natural persons not 
involved in business activity 1,531 298 2,203 4,031

Other operating costs 289,793 56,325 417,097 763,215

TOTAL 1,278,153 248,427 1,839,638 3,366,218

in EUR

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014

Auditing of annual report 27,450 27,450

Other auditing services 1,220 0

Tax consultancy services 0 0

Other non-auditing services 0 0

in EUR

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014

Current income tax expenses 2,032,435 1,489,285
Deferrred income tax expenses 31,355 52,924

TOTAL 2,063,789 1,542,209

in EUR

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014

Accounting profit for the year before income tax payment 12,171,865 9,086,968
Income tax at the rate of 17% 2,069,217 1,544,785

Differences:

Non-decuctible expenses 28,871 -34,711
Tax exempt income -8,045 -8,528
Income that increases tax base 402 426

Tax relief -17,710 -12,687

Change of temporary differences 31,355 52,924

Deferred tax expenses arising from writing-off of previously recognised deferred tax assets -40,300 0

TOTAL 2,063,789 1,542,209

Effective tax rate 16.96% 16.97%
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In 2015, the Company disclosed the corporate income tax in the amount of EUR 667,256 (in 2014 
of EUR 221,230).

Tax	effect	on	the	individual	lines	of	comprehensive	income

12.7	 Cash	flow	statement

Cash flow statement is prepared by using the indirect method, whereas in the investment part on 
the basis of the actual cash flows. Cash flows from operating and investing activities are prepared 
on the basis of data from the statement of financial position and adequately adjusted for non-cash 
flow items (impairments and changes in provisions for claims incurred and other provisions). Income 
and expenses related to intangible assets and property, plant and equipment are calculated on the 
basis of changes in the book value, adjusted for amortisation and depreciation, and increased or 
decreased for gains or losses upon disposal. Cash flows from financing activities are recognised on 
the basis of actual payments.

12.8	 Off-balance	sheet	records	

At the end of 2015, the Company does not report any off-balance sheet items which is the same as 
in 2014.

in EUR

Before tax Tax
Net amount  

2015 Before tax Tax
Net amount 


2014
Net profit/loss from remeasuring

available-for-sale financial assets -3,278,512 557,347 -2,721,165 9,247,825 -1,572,130 7,675,695 

Comprehensive income for the year -3,278,512 557,347 -2,721,165 9,247,825 -1,572,130 7,675,695 
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A caryatid supporting a basket on her head is called a canephora 
(“basket-bearer”), representing one of the maidens who carried 
sacred objects used at feasts of the goddesses Athena and Artemis. 
The Erectheion caryatids, in a shrine dedicated to an archaic king of 
Athens, may therefore represent priestesses of Artemis.
Within the history of fashion and the arts, the iconic architectural 
sculptures of antiquity have certainly been an inspiration of timeless 
appeal like in the photo of modern dance icone Isadora Duncan in 
the beginning of the 20th century. 

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Kanephoros
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Athena
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Artemis
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Athens
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RISK MANAGEMENT

Triglav Re aims to implement a comprehensive risk management system as a key component of 
effective corporate management. The Company is aware that the risk represents an essential part of 
business planning and functioning of individual departments.

The Company’s risk management system applies the valid regulations, good business practices, 
acceptable and quality risk assumption and the guidelines of the entire Triglav Group coordinated by 
the Risk Management Department of Zavarovalnica Triglav, d.d.

The Company is exposed to risks arising from all lines of business, such as insurance risk, credit, 
market, operational and strategic risks as well as reputational risk. Being a dynamic entity, Triglav Re 
generates new risks that are to be identified, assessed, monitored, controlled and managed. The 
Company aims to proactively identify, understand and manage risks arising from the operations of its 
departments and services and are associated with the Company’s operations, plans and business 
strategy. Triglav Re does not support uncontrolled risk exposure, but rather ensures the policy of 
conservative risk assumption with profitable results.

13.1	 Reinsurance	risk	management

Reinsurance risks are related to the uncertainty of occurrence of the insured losses. These are the 
risks that reinsurance claims can be higher than expected, and/or that premiums earned are lower 
than expected.

Triglav Re concludes outward reinsurance contracts (retrocession contracts) for a portion of the risks 
assumed in order to control its exposure and to protect its own capital resources. The Company buys 
a combination of proportionate and non-proportionate retrocession contracts to reduce its exposure 
so as to comply with the amounts in Maximum retention lines. To protect against the accumulation of 
a greater number of losses arising out of one loss occurrence (e.g. a natural disaster), the Company 
buys non-proportional catastrophe cover.

The table below shows the amount of gross reinsurance premiums, the claims ratio and the 
combined ratio in 2015 and 2014. The combined ratio includes the claims ratio and the expense 
ratio. In Triglav Re, the latter is calculated without operating expenses and, thus represents the share 
of commissions paid with regard to the actual premium or the premium earned.

012345678910111213
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Gross	reinsurance	premium,	loss	and	combined	ratio	in	2015	compared	to	2014

It is estimated that the most extensive risks arise from natural catastrophes. The risks are controlled 
by continuous monitoring the geographical risks accumulations and the assessment of probable 
maximum loss caused by a natural disaster. Based on the observation analysis, Triglav Re buys the 
retrocession cover for net claims in its own retention.

Retrocession
Triglav Re retrocedes a portion of its business through (outward) retrocession contracts in order to 
manage the reinsurance risks.

The risks retroceded to other Reinsurers can include the credit risk that occurs if a Reinsurer and/
or Retrocessionaire fails to meet the contractual obligations in full and/or timely. The Company is 
constantly monitoring the financial situation of the Reinsurers and, as a rule, enters into retrocession 
reinsurance contracts only with the Reinsurers rated at least “A -” for liability reinsurance, and with 
the Reinsurers rated at least “BBB +” for other reinsurance lines of business.

The table below shows the retroceded (outward) premium, claims ratio and combined ratio for 
outward business, i.e. retrocession. The movements of these results in comparison to the preceding 

in EUR

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014

Gross 
Premiums Loss Ratio Combined 

Ratio
Gross 

Premiums Loss Ratio Combined 
Ratio

01: Accident insurance 4,620,109 72.1% 96.0% 4,147,051 60.6% 92.3%

02: Health insurance 72,818 45.2% 45.5% 19,638 -258.7% -161.8%

03: Land motor vehicle insurance 11,014,660 41.0% 49.9% 10,738,907 48.4% 61.1%

04: Railway insurance 537,730 -24.0% -23.9% 519,889 196.5% 196.7%

05: Aircraft insurance 1,271,073 44.6% 55.7% 873,030 -1.1% 3.9%

06: Marine insurance 2,820,333 106.4% 125.8% 2,386,184 83.1% 103.3%

07: Cargo insurance 1,840,662 52.9% 67.1% 1,704,155 28.1% 46.7%

08: Fire and natural forces insurance 45,404,145 42.0% 69.0% 42,707,458 46.7% 72.8%

09: Other damage to property insurance 29,277,601 48.4% 70.2% 22,582,330 58.9% 78.7%

10: Motor TPL insurance 9,197,479 115.6% 118.3% 8,215,386 94.8% 105.1%

11: Aircraft liability insurance 377,179 -455.7% -445.4% 582,796 -190.9% -180.9%

12: Marine liability insurance 335,132 22.0% 46.7% 308,762 -186.0% -157.6%

13: General liability insurance 3,646,013 35.3% 45.7% 4,233,626 170.7% 182.7%

14: Credit insurance 3,265,798 16.5% 35.7% 2,758,184 13.0% 30.5%

15: Suretyship insurance 530,671 22.7% 43.8% 642,589 -18.8% 5.2%

16: Miscellaneous financial losses insurance 1,643,422 79.2% 105.8% 1,915,241 -41.1% -13.5%

17: Legal expenses insurance 44,341 0.6% 21.4% 41,589 9.4% 33.8%

18: Assistance insurance 492,484 88.5% 105.3% 426,023 80.8% 102.3%

19: Life insurance 448,261 125.3% 132.5% 395,878 64.9% 87.7%

TOTAL 116,839,911 50.0% 70.2% 105,198,717 55.5% 76.4%
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year neither increases nor decreases the Company’s risk exposure because the differences occur 
due to the changes in major or catastrophe claims that are retroceded to other Reinsurers. In the 
outward business, the combined ratio is the sum of the loss ratio and the expense ratio. The latter is 
calculated as a share of commission income in relation to the actual retroceded (outward) premium.
ded (outward) premium.

Outward	reinsurance	premium,	loss	ratio	and	combined	ratio	from	retrocessions	in	2015	
compared	to	2014

in EUR

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014

Outward 
Premiums

Loss Ratio 
from 

retrocession 
business 

Combined 
ratio from 

retrocession 
business

Outward 
premiums

Loss Ratio 
from 

retrocession 
business 

Combined 
ratio from 

retrocession 
business

01: Accident insurance 241,711 58.6% 65.1% 186,678 22.5% 42.6%

02: Health insurance 69,398 90.9% 90.9% 8,655 100.2% 100.2%

03: Land motor vehicle insurance 4,936,295 6.6% 13.3% 4,488,423 17.7% 25.3%

04:Railway insurance 514,363 -25.1% -25.3% 512,104 199.5% 199.5%

05: Aircraft insurance 423,661 0.0% 7.5% 782,191 0.0% 5.7%

06: Marine insurance 74,761 20.4% 39.6% 86,263 17.3% 22.3%

07: Cargo insurance 742,572 0.5% 15.5% 947,786 -0.1% 22.0%

08: Fire and natural forces insurance 22,448,262 24.6% 52.2% 22,835,698 21.4% 49.6%

09: Other damage to property insurance 10,217,475 -3.8% 18.4% 8,352,608 29.0% 44.8%

10: Motor TPL insurance 1,834,329 193.0% 194.1% 1,821,002 229.9% 236.8%

11: Aircraft liability insurance 351,363 -480.2% -466.2% 567,188 -209.4% -194.5%

12: Marine liability insurance 24,795 0.7% 9.7% 15,168 -3447.0% -3442.0%

13: General liability insurance 2,272,331 42.2% 50.8% 2,611,054 252.5% 261.7%

14: Credit insurance 1,921,171 22.6% 48.7% 1,698,107 14.3% 35.0%

15: Suretyship insurance 404,935 5.8% 30.3% 424,691 -46.9% -21.3%

16: Miscellaneous financial losses insurance 1,295,443 83.6% 113.9% 1,599,280 -47.0% -15.6%

17: Legal expenses insurance 987 8.1% -25.3% 0 0.0% 0.0%

18: Assistance insurance 11,273 9.1% -24.2% 0 0.0% 0.0%

19: Life insurance 443,009 121.5% 128.2% 371,437 69.1% 100.5%

TOTAL 48,228,133 22.5% 43.6% 47,308,333 37.8% 58.7%
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13.2	 Technical	provision	risk

Technical provision risk is the risk that the provisions for reinsurance contracts are lower than 
required. Triglav Re manages such risk with consistent compliance to all laws, regulations and 
resolutions regarding the liabilities from reinsurance contracts, and, in addition, by applying actuarial 
methods in annual provisioning for incurred but not reported claims (IBNR provision). Considering the 
specifics of reinsurance business, the Company cannot base its actuarial estimate for outstanding 
claims provisions on the triangle of settled claims prepared on the loss occurrence basis, but rather 
prepares data on the settled claims by underwriting years, and then, by applying appropriate actuarial 
techniques, estimates potential liabilities by underwriting years in the future. Provisions for claims 
outstanding are not discounted. The cumulative excess in the provisions for all underwriting years 
is positive, which also proves that the risk of insufficient technical provisions was well managed in 
2015 as well.

As at 31 December 2015, the Company recorded the total balance of net technical provisions in the 
amount of EUR 95,414,529. Net technical provisions of Triglav Re on the last day of the financial year 
2015 comprise the following provisions:

Considering the balance as at 1 January 2015, the net technical provisions increased by 6.5 percent 
and were in total covered by investments of assets backing liabilities at 31 December 2015. The 
equalisation provisions for credit insurance amounting to EUR 1,977,010 were again recognised 
in the statement of financial position under equity, and are for that reason not separately disclosed 
under technical provisions.

13.3	 Capital	adequacy	and	solvency	risk

Solvency	I

In compliance with the Insurance Act and other regulations, Triglav Re is obliged to ensure the capital 
adequacy with regard to the volume and type of its reinsurance operations.

The prescribed methodology for computing of minimum capital requirement for 2015 remained the 
same as in 2014. The minimum capital for 2015 was calculated pursuant to Article 110 (2), first 
indent, (3), first indent and Paragraph 12, and Article 112, Paragraph 4 of the Insurance Act, which 
provides that the sum of insurance premiums earned in the previous financial year up to the total 

in EUR

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014

Net provisions for unearned premium 15,479,803 13,605,063
Net provisions for bonuses, rebates and cancellations 9,026 12,278

Net provisions for outstanding claims 79,820,075 75,540,589
Provisions for unexpired risks 105,626 404,496

TOTAL 95,414,529 89,562,426
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amount of EUR 50 million shall be multiplied by 0.18, while the sum of insurance premiums earned 
exceeding EUR 50 million shall be multiplied by 0.16. In addition, the annual sum of claims for 
payment of indemnities up to the total amount of EUR 35 million shall be multiplied by 0.26, while 
the amount of such claims exceeding EUR 35 million shall be multiplied by 0.23. The decision on 
the changed amount of the guarantee fund for the reinsurance companies (Official Gazette of the 
Republic of Slovenia No. 92/2014, 19 December 2014) further prescribes that the guarantee fund of 
a reinsurance company shall never fall below EUR 3.6 million.

Capital	adequacy

As at 31 December 2015, the required minimum capital of Triglav Re amounted to EUR 14,984,185 
(in 2014 to EUR 13,745,673), while the available capital to EUR 56,208,511 (in 2014 to EUR 
48,819,621). The capital surplus over the required minimum capital is rather high amounting to EUR 
41,224,326 as at 31 December 2015 (EUR 35,073,948 as at 31 December 2015) and, therefore, it 
is realistic to state that the Company’s risk of capital inadequacy is negligible.

As at 31 December 2015, the required minimum capital of Triglav Re amounted to EUR 14,984,185 
(in 2014 to EUR 13,745,673), while the available capital to EUR 56,208,511 (in 2014 to EUR 
48,819,621). The capital surplus over the required minimum capital is rather high amounting to EUR 
41,224,326 as at 31 December 2015 (EUR 35,073,948 as at 31 December 2015) and, therefore, it 
is realistic to state that the Company’s risk of capital inadequacy is negligible.

It is evident that the capital surplus has further increased over the required minimum capital in 
2015, predominantly due to the increased level of retained net profit from the previous years by 
approximately EUR 7.4 million. The available capital exceeds the required minimum capital by more 
than 275.0 percent, which proves that Triglav Re adequately manages the capital adequacy risk.

The Company complied with the requirements under the capital adequacy throughout the year 2015.

Solvency	II

The year 2015 was marked by the implementation of the requirements of the Solvency II regime, 
particularly in the management system, risk management system and compliance of operations. The 
Solvency II regime entered into force on 1 January 2016.

The Company carried out the required qualitative and quantitative reporting, own risk and solvency 
assessment (ORSA), implemented additional procedures in the risk management and prepared the 
internal regulations related to the corporative management, risk management and compliance of the 
Company’s operations.

The Company verified its capital adequacy under Solvency II by the calculation on the cut-off date 
31 December 2015, and the unaudited results showed that the highest risk is still in the non-life 
reinsurance business, followed by market risk, operational risk, default risk and health insurance risk.

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014 Index

Required solvency margin 14,984,185 13,745,673 109.0
Available capital 56,208,511 48,819,621 115.1

Surplus of available capital 41,224,326 35,073,948 117.5
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In 2016, the Company will continue to improve the risk management system in compliance with all 
the requirements of the Solvency II which is important for the Company’s safe and stable operations 
in the future.

13.4	 Financial	risk	management

Transactions in financial instruments are always accompanied by various financial risks, e.g. market 
risk, credit risk, interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk, liquidity risk, operational risketc. Each of the 
mentioned risks are described below, including how the Company manages those risks.

13.4.1	 Liquidity	risk	management

Liquidity risk arises from a mismatch between the earned assets and liabilities. It occurs due to a lack 
of assets to settle the due liabilities and also includes the risk that the Company would not be able to 
provide sufficient assets at maturity and at reasonable interest rates. On the other hand, it represents 
the risk that the Company would not be able to sell its assets at a reasonable price and time frame. 
The maturity structure of financial assets and liabilities is presented in the table below.

Triglav Re holds a portfolio of highly liquid assets as a part of its liquidity risk management strategy, 
to ensure continuous operations and compliance with the legal requirements. The Company’s 
exposure to liquidity risk is managed by regular monitoring of the planned cash flows under assets 
and liabilities.

The liquidity position of Triglav Re is stable and all contractual obligations were met in time. The 
Company calculates weekly the liquidity ratios and submits the report to the Risk Management Board, 
which decides on the current measures to provide liquidity and capital adequacy, as appropriate. 
Liquidity ratios are also included in the reports examined at each meeting of the Supervisory Board 
of the Company.

The table below shows the structure of undiscounted expected cash flows of assets and liabilities.

31/12/2015 in EUR

FINANCIAL ASSETS AND   
LIABILITIES TO REINSURERS

NOT 
DEFINED

LESS THAN  
1 YEAR

1 TO 5    
YEARS

5 TO 10   
YEARS

OVER 10 
YEARS TOTAL Book value

Total financial assets 2,051,869 30,246,310 83,353,918 43,140,533 13,098,742 171,891,372 159,924,382

 Debt securities 0 21,896,949 83,353,918 43,140,533 13,098,742 161,490,142 149,523,152

- held to maturity 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

- at fair value through profit or loss 0 8,084 502,657 0 0 510,741 0

- available-for-sale 0 21,888,865 82,851,261 43,140,533 13,098,742 160,979,401 149,523,152

- loans and receivables 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

 Equity securities 2,041,869 0 0 0 0 2,041,869 2,041,869

- at fair value through profit or loss 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

- available-for-sale 2,041,869 0 0 0 0 2,041,869 2,041,869

 Financial derivatives 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

 Loans and receivables 10,000 8,349,361 0 0 0 8,359,361 8,359,361

Technical provisions ceded to 
Reinsurers 0 21,286,027 13,945,153 7,353,539 3,588,986 46,173,706 46,173,706

Operating receivables 0 54,020,553 0 0 0 54,020,552 54,020,552

Cash and cash equivalents 0 107,220 0 0 0 107,220 107,220
TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS AND   
LIABILITIES TO REINSURERS 2,051,869 105,660,110 97,299,071 50,494,072 16,687,728 272,192,850 260,225,860

FINANCIAL ASSETS AND   
PROVISIONS

NOT 
DEFINED

LESS THAN  
1 YEAR

1 TO 5    
YEARS

5 TO 10  
YEARS

OVER 10 
YEARS TOTAL Book value

Technical provisions 0 83,996,092 39,057,495 13,097,114 5,437,535 141,588,235 141,588,235

Other provisions 0 110,601 6,707 4,522 56,259 178,089 178,089

Operating liabilities 0 41,177,909 0 0 0 41,177,909 41,177,909

Other liabilities 0 864,143 51 0 0 864,194 864,194
TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS AND   
PROVISIONS 0 126,148,745 39,064,252 13,101,636 5,493,794 183,808,427 183,808,427

31/12/2014 in EUR

FINANCIAL ASSETS AND   
LIABILITIES TO REINSURERS

NOT 
DEFINED

LESS THAN 1 
YEAR

1 TO 5    
YEARS

5 TO 10  
YEARS

OVER 10 
YEARS TOTAL Book vlaue

Total financial assets 2,504,290 16,811,992 40,436,521 71,572,621 32,693,453 164,018,877 147,728,260
 Debt securities 0 12,103,732 40,436,521 71,572,621 32,693,453 156,806,327 140,515,709

- held to maturity 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

- at fair value through profit or loss 0 13,777 533,344 43,800 363,840 954,761 127,302

- available-for-sale 0 12,089,955 39,903,177 71,528,821 32,329,613 155,851,566 140,388,407

- loans and receivables 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

 Equity securities 2,494,290 0 0 0 0 2,494,290 2,494,290

- at fair value through profit or loss 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

- available-for-sale 2,494,290 0 0 0 2,494,290 2,494,290

 Financial derivatives 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
 Loans and receivables 10,000 4,708,260 0 0 0 4,718,260 4,718,260

Technical provisions ceded to 
Reinsurers 0 25,911,255 15,434,539 5,839,531 2,286,905 49,472,230 49,472,230

Operating receivables 0 55,208,962 0 0 0 55,208,961 55,208,962

Cash and cash equivalents 0 4,816 0 0 0 4,816 4,816
TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS AND   
LIABILITIES TO REINSURERS 2,504,290 97,937,025 55,871,060 77,412,152 34,980,358 268,704,884 252,414,268

FINANCIAL ASSETS AND   
PROVISIONS

NOT 
DEFINED

LESS THAN 1 
YEAR

1 TO 5    
YEARS

5 TO 10  
YEARS

OVER 10 
YEARS TOTAL Book value

Technical provisions 0 74,742,190 36,617,914 15,818,789 11,855,763 139,034,656 139,034,656
Other provisions 110,654 5,169 4,424 42,833 163,081 163,081

Operating liabilities 0 42,858,879 0 0 0 42,858,879 42,858,879

Other liabilities 0 720,141 0 0 0 720,141 720,141
TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS AND   
PROVISIONS 0 118,431,864 36,623,083 15,823,213 11,898,596 182,776,756 182,776,756
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The	table	below	shows	the	structure	of	undiscounted	expected	cash	flows	of	assets	and	liabilities.

31.12.2013 in EUR

FINANCIAL ASSETS AND  
LIABILITIES TO REINSURERS

NOT 
DEFINED

LESS THAN  
1 YEAR

1 TO 5 
YEARS

5 TO 10 
YEARS

MORE 
THAN 

10 YEARS
TOTAL Book	value

Total financial assets 2,171,707 25,485,373 39,079,967 56,388,029 26,436,687 149,561,763 127,535,415
 Debt securities 0 16,708,999 39,034,990 56,343,052 26,231,704 138,318,745 116,601,712
- held to maturity 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
- at fair value through profit or loss 0 80,550 16,800 40,680 374,160 512,190 207,417
- available-for-sale 0 16,084,699 38,615,690 56,302,372 25,857,544 136,860,305 115,874,465
- loans and receivables 0 543,750 402,500 0 0 946,250 519,830
 Equity securities 2,161,707 0 0 0 0 2,161,707 2,161,707
- at fair value through profit or loss 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
- available-for-sale 2,161,707 0 0 0 0 2,161,707 2,161,707
 Financial derivatives 0 0 8,376 44,977 204,983 258,336 3,623
 Loans and receivables 10,000 8,767,998 0 0 0 8,777,998 8,768,373
Technical provisions ceded to 
reinsurers 0 24,383,313 14,571,370 4,314,968 1,328,875 44,598,526 44,598,526

Operating receivables 0 56,887,158 0 0 0 56,887,157 56,887,158
Cash and cash equivalents 0 11,584 0 0 0 11,584 11,584
TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS AND  
LIABILITIES TO REINSURERS 2,171,707 106,767,428 53,651,337 60,702,997 27,765,562 251,059,030 235,610,125

FINANCIAL ASSETS AND  
LIABILITIES TO REINSURERS

NOT 
DEFINED

LESS THAN  
1 YEAR

1 TO 5 
YEARS

5 TO 10 
YEARS

MORE THAN 
10 YEARS TOTAL Book value

Technical provisions 0 72,967,994 34,036,648 14,540,207 9,885,585 131,430,434 131,430,434
Other provisions 0 72,264 16,380 5,167 38,599 132,410 132,410
Operating liabilities 0 44,060,574 0 0 0 44,060,574 44,060,574
Other liabilities 0 627,424 0 0 0 627,424 627,424
TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS AND  
LIABILITIES TO REINSURERS 0 117,728,256 34,053,028 14,545,374 9,924,184 176,250,842 189,125,778

31.12.2014 in EUR

FINANCIAL ASSETS AND  
LIABILITIES TO REINSURERS

NOT 
DEFINED

LESS THAN  
1 YEAR

1 TO 5 
YEARS

5 TO 10 
YEARS

MORE 
THAN 

10 YEARS
TOTAL Book	value

Total financial assets 2,504,290 16,811,992 40,436,521 71,572,621 32,693,453 164,018,877 147,728,260
 Debt securities 0 12,103,732 40,436,521 71,572,621 32,693,453 156,806,327 140,515,709
- held to maturity 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
- at fair value through profit or loss 0 13,777 533,344 43,800 363,840 954,761 127,302
- available-for-sale 0 12,089,955 39,903,177 71,528,821 32,329,613 155,851,566 140,388,407
- loans and receivables 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
 Equity securities 2,494,290 0 0 0 0 2,494,290 2,494,290
- at fair value through profit or loss 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
- available-for-sale 2,494,290 0 0 0 2,494,290 2,494,290
 Financial derivatives 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
 Loans and receivables 10,000 4,708,260 0 0 0 4,718,260 4,718,260
Technical provisions ceded to 
reinsurers 0 25,911,255 15,434,539 5,839,531 2,286,905 49,472,230 49,472,230

Operating receivables 0 55,208,962 0 0 0 55,208,961 55,208,962
Cash and cash equivalents 0 4,816 0 0 0 4,816 4,816
TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS AND  
LIABILITIES TO REINSURERS 2,504,290 97,937,025 55,871,060 77,412,152 34,980,358 268,704,884 235,610,125

31/12/2015 in EUR

FINANCIAL ASSETS AND   
LIABILITIES TO REINSURERS

NOT 
DEFINED

LESS THAN  
1 YEAR

1 TO 5    
YEARS

5 TO 10   
YEARS

OVER 10 
YEARS TOTAL Book value

Total financial assets 2,051,869 30,246,310 83,353,918 43,140,533 13,098,742 171,891,372 159,924,382

 Debt securities 0 21,896,949 83,353,918 43,140,533 13,098,742 161,490,142 149,523,152

- held to maturity 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

- at fair value through profit or loss 0 8,084 502,657 0 0 510,741 0

- available-for-sale 0 21,888,865 82,851,261 43,140,533 13,098,742 160,979,401 149,523,152

- loans and receivables 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

 Equity securities 2,041,869 0 0 0 0 2,041,869 2,041,869

- at fair value through profit or loss 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

- available-for-sale 2,041,869 0 0 0 0 2,041,869 2,041,869

 Financial derivatives 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

 Loans and receivables 10,000 8,349,361 0 0 0 8,359,361 8,359,361

Technical provisions ceded to 
Reinsurers 0 21,286,027 13,945,153 7,353,539 3,588,986 46,173,706 46,173,706

Operating receivables 0 54,020,553 0 0 0 54,020,552 54,020,552

Cash and cash equivalents 0 107,220 0 0 0 107,220 107,220
TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS AND   
LIABILITIES TO REINSURERS 2,051,869 105,660,110 97,299,071 50,494,072 16,687,728 272,192,850 260,225,860

FINANCIAL ASSETS AND   
PROVISIONS

NOT 
DEFINED

LESS THAN  
1 YEAR

1 TO 5    
YEARS

5 TO 10  
YEARS

OVER 10 
YEARS TOTAL Book value

Technical provisions 0 83,996,092 39,057,495 13,097,114 5,437,535 141,588,235 141,588,235

Other provisions 0 110,601 6,707 4,522 56,259 178,089 178,089

Operating liabilities 0 41,177,909 0 0 0 41,177,909 41,177,909

Other liabilities 0 864,143 51 0 0 864,194 864,194
TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS AND   
PROVISIONS 0 126,148,745 39,064,252 13,101,636 5,493,794 183,808,427 183,808,427

31/12/2014 in EUR

FINANCIAL ASSETS AND   
LIABILITIES TO REINSURERS

NOT 
DEFINED

LESS THAN 1 
YEAR

1 TO 5    
YEARS

5 TO 10  
YEARS

OVER 10 
YEARS TOTAL Book vlaue

Total financial assets 2,504,290 16,811,992 40,436,521 71,572,621 32,693,453 164,018,877 147,728,260
 Debt securities 0 12,103,732 40,436,521 71,572,621 32,693,453 156,806,327 140,515,709

- held to maturity 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

- at fair value through profit or loss 0 13,777 533,344 43,800 363,840 954,761 127,302

- available-for-sale 0 12,089,955 39,903,177 71,528,821 32,329,613 155,851,566 140,388,407

- loans and receivables 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

 Equity securities 2,494,290 0 0 0 0 2,494,290 2,494,290

- at fair value through profit or loss 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

- available-for-sale 2,494,290 0 0 0 2,494,290 2,494,290

 Financial derivatives 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
 Loans and receivables 10,000 4,708,260 0 0 0 4,718,260 4,718,260

Technical provisions ceded to 
Reinsurers 0 25,911,255 15,434,539 5,839,531 2,286,905 49,472,230 49,472,230

Operating receivables 0 55,208,962 0 0 0 55,208,961 55,208,962

Cash and cash equivalents 0 4,816 0 0 0 4,816 4,816
TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS AND   
LIABILITIES TO REINSURERS 2,504,290 97,937,025 55,871,060 77,412,152 34,980,358 268,704,884 252,414,268

FINANCIAL ASSETS AND   
PROVISIONS

NOT 
DEFINED

LESS THAN 1 
YEAR

1 TO 5    
YEARS

5 TO 10  
YEARS

OVER 10 
YEARS TOTAL Book value

Technical provisions 0 74,742,190 36,617,914 15,818,789 11,855,763 139,034,656 139,034,656
Other provisions 110,654 5,169 4,424 42,833 163,081 163,081

Operating liabilities 0 42,858,879 0 0 0 42,858,879 42,858,879

Other liabilities 0 720,141 0 0 0 720,141 720,141
TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS AND   
PROVISIONS 0 118,431,864 36,623,083 15,823,213 11,898,596 182,776,756 182,776,756
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Financial assets and liabilities are not discounted; they are estimated as the sum of the expected 
future cash flows. Equalisation provisions amounting to EUR 1,977,010 are not disclosed under 
the technical provisions because in the statement of financial position they are not recorded under 
liabilities from reinsurance contracts, but constitute a part of equity. Gross provisions for reinsurance 
contracts taking into account also the equalisation provisions would amount the to EUR 143,565,245.

The Company retains a partial mismatch between the maturity of assets and liabilities, and thereby a 
part of the return is generating. Current (short-term) liabilities are settled by the current income, and 
there is still a possibility of selling some financial instruments.

Taking into account all securities, fourteen debt securities are redeemable prior to maturity and their 
total book value at the reporting date amounts to EUR 4,966,488 (in 2014 to EUR 5,449,776).

13.4.2	 Market	risk

The investment portfolio is exposed to market variables on which the Company has no influence. 
These market variables are market interest rates and related prices of debt instruments, prices of 
equity securities and investment funds, foreign currency exchange rates, and other factors which 
have a direct or indirect impact on the valuation of investments in the portfolio.

The Company actively manages its assets using an approach that controls and adjusts the quality, 
diversification, asset/liability matching, liquidity and return on investments. The goal of the investment 
process is to optimise the risk-adjusted investment income after tax and risk-adjusted total return, 
whilst ensuring that the assets and liabilities are managed on a cash-flow and duration basis. Due 
attention is given to compliance with the legally binding rules.

13.4.3	 Interest	rate	risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that a change in market interest rates affects the value of interest-sensitive 
assets and those sensitive financial assets and liabilities fall due at different times and in different 
amounts. In the case of interest-sensitive assets that pay coupons until maturity, the Company 
is also exposed to reinvestment risk, which depends on the structure of each instrument. Within 

in EUR

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014
 +100bp  -100bp  +100bp  -100bp 

Government securities -4,464,714 4,464,714 -4,826,258 4,826,258
Securities of financial institutions -1,141,554 1,141,554 -1,165,769 1,165,769

Corporate securities -835,739 835,739 -1,106,856 1,106,856

Compound securities 0 0 0 0

Other 0 0 0 0

TOTAL -6,442,007 6,442,007 -7,098,883 7,098,883

Impact on equity -6,442,007 6,442,007 -7,084,649 7,084,649

Impact on profit or loss 0 0 -14,235 14,235

in EUR

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014
+10% -10% +10% -10%

Shares in  EU 135,310 -135,310 189,260 -189,260

Shares in USA 0 0 0 0

Shares in emerging markets 68,869 -68,869 0 0

Global shares* 5 -5 60,167 -60,167

TOTAL 204,185 -204,185 249,427 -249,427

Impact on equity 204,185 -204,185 249,427 -249,427

Impact on profit or loss 0 0 0 0

in EUR

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014

Debt securities 149,523,152 140,515,709

Government securities 90,270,939 85,124,895

Securities of financial institutions 27,733,864 27,661,214

Corporate securities 31,518,349 27,729,600

Compound securities 0 0

Financial derivatives 0 0

TOTAL EXPOSED ASSETS 149,523,152 140,515,709

OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 10,401,230 7,212,551

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS 159,924,382 147,728,260

in EUR

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014

Equity securities and investment funds 2,041,868 2,494,290

Shares in EU 1,353,127 1,892,624

Shares in USA 0 0

Shares in Asia 0 0

Shares in emerging markets 688,691 0

Global shares* 50 601,666

TOTAL EXPOSED ASSETS 2,041,868 2,494,290

OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 157,882,514 145,233,970

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS 159,924,382 147,728,260
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the balance sheet management, the Company maintains partial mismatch between the duration of 
assets and liabilities and thereof a part of the income is generated.

Interest rate risk is the risk that a change in market interest rates affects the value of interest-sensitive 
assets and that sensitive financial assets and liabilities fall due at different times and in different 
amounts. In the case of interest-sensitive assets that pay coupons until maturity, the Company is 
also exposed to the reinvestment risk, which is particularly topical in the period of low interest rates. 
The Company maintains partial mismatch between the duration of assets and liabilities and thereof 
a part of the income is generated.

Interest rate risk is defined as a sensitivity of an investment value to changes in interest rates. 
Duration of an investment is the measure of risk. The interest rate risk is managed on a global level 
by strategic diversification of investments into fixed-return investments (debt securities), variable-
return investments (shares and other investments) and provisions covered by such investments. The 
Company partly adjusts its interest rate risk with derivatives, but in 2015 there were no such financial 
instruments created.

The exposure of Triglav Re to market risk due to the changes in interest rates is concentrated in 
its investment portfolio presented in the table above. The operations of the Company are exposed 
to the risk of interest rate fluctuation to the extent that interest-earning assets and interest-bearing 
liabilities mature or they are newly evaluated at different times or in differing amounts. In 2015, Triglav 
Re deposited cash at the interest rates ranging from 0.01 percent to 0.15 percent. All deposits 
carried a fixed interest rate.

The Company is also exposed to the risk of changes in future cash flows arising from the changes 
in market interest rates. The Company does not have any debt obligations and the interest rate 
changes do influence the level of non-life provisions. 

Triglav Re monitors this exposure through periodic reviews of its asset and liability positions. In 
addition, the Company regularly estimates cash flows, as well as the impact of interest rate fluctuations 
relating to the investment portfolio and insurance provisions. The overall objective of these strategies 
is to limit net changes in the value of assets and liabilities arising from interest rate movements.

Sensitivity	analysis	of	financial	assets	to	interest	rate	risk

The sensitivity of financial assets to interest rates is expressed as an effect of parallel shift of the 
interest rate curve by +/- 100 base points on the fair value of all interest-sensitive financial assets that 
are not valued by the amortised cost method, i.e. the debt instruments classified as available-for-sale 
and at fair value through profit or loss.

The table shows that the positive and negative changes in interest rates have the greatest impact on 
the securities which represent the largest share in the Company’s portfolio.
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13.4.4	 Share	price	risk

The Company’s portfolio of marketable equity securities carried in the balance sheet at fair value 
gives exposure to price risk. Price risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
as a result of changes in market prices, whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the 
individual instrument or its issuer or factors affecting all instruments traded in the market. 

The objective of Triglav Re is to earn competitive returns by investing in a diverse portfolio of high 
quality liquid securities. Portfolio characteristics are analysed regularly. The Company’s holdings 
in securities are diversified across different industries, while the concentrations in one company 
or industry are limited by parameters established by the Management, as well as by statutory 
requirements. Consequently, the Company’s exposure to share price risk remained at the low level 
also in 2015.

in EUR

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014
 +100bp  -100bp  +100bp  -100bp 

Government securities -4,464,714 4,464,714 -4,826,258 4,826,258
Securities of financial institutions -1,141,554 1,141,554 -1,165,769 1,165,769

Corporate securities -835,739 835,739 -1,106,856 1,106,856

Compound securities 0 0 0 0

Other 0 0 0 0

TOTAL -6,442,007 6,442,007 -7,098,883 7,098,883

Impact on equity -6,442,007 6,442,007 -7,084,649 7,084,649

Impact on profit or loss 0 0 -14,235 14,235

in EUR

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014
+10% -10% +10% -10%

Shares in  EU 135,310 -135,310 189,260 -189,260

Shares in USA 0 0 0 0

Shares in emerging markets 68,869 -68,869 0 0

Global shares* 5 -5 60,167 -60,167

TOTAL 204,185 -204,185 249,427 -249,427

Impact on equity 204,185 -204,185 249,427 -249,427

Impact on profit or loss 0 0 0 0

in EUR

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014

Debt securities 149,523,152 140,515,709

Government securities 90,270,939 85,124,895

Securities of financial institutions 27,733,864 27,661,214

Corporate securities 31,518,349 27,729,600

Compound securities 0 0

Financial derivatives 0 0

TOTAL EXPOSED ASSETS 149,523,152 140,515,709

OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 10,401,230 7,212,551

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS 159,924,382 147,728,260

in EUR

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014

Equity securities and investment funds 2,041,868 2,494,290

Shares in EU 1,353,127 1,892,624

Shares in USA 0 0

Shares in Asia 0 0

Shares in emerging markets 688,691 0

Global shares* 50 601,666

TOTAL EXPOSED ASSETS 2,041,868 2,494,290

OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 157,882,514 145,233,970

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS 159,924,382 147,728,260

in EUR

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014
 +100bp  -100bp  +100bp  -100bp 

Government securities -4,464,714 4,464,714 -4,826,258 4,826,258
Securities of financial institutions -1,141,554 1,141,554 -1,165,769 1,165,769

Corporate securities -835,739 835,739 -1,106,856 1,106,856

Compound securities 0 0 0 0

Other 0 0 0 0

TOTAL -6,442,007 6,442,007 -7,098,883 7,098,883

Impact on equity -6,442,007 6,442,007 -7,084,649 7,084,649

Impact on profit or loss 0 0 -14,235 14,235

in EUR

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014
+10% -10% +10% -10%

Shares in  EU 135,310 -135,310 189,260 -189,260

Shares in USA 0 0 0 0

Shares in emerging markets 68,869 -68,869 0 0

Global shares* 5 -5 60,167 -60,167

TOTAL 204,185 -204,185 249,427 -249,427

Impact on equity 204,185 -204,185 249,427 -249,427

Impact on profit or loss 0 0 0 0

in EUR

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014

Debt securities 149,523,152 140,515,709

Government securities 90,270,939 85,124,895

Securities of financial institutions 27,733,864 27,661,214

Corporate securities 31,518,349 27,729,600

Compound securities 0 0

Financial derivatives 0 0

TOTAL EXPOSED ASSETS 149,523,152 140,515,709

OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 10,401,230 7,212,551

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS 159,924,382 147,728,260

in EUR

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014

Equity securities and investment funds 2,041,868 2,494,290

Shares in EU 1,353,127 1,892,624

Shares in USA 0 0

Shares in Asia 0 0

Shares in emerging markets 688,691 0

Global shares* 50 601,666

TOTAL EXPOSED ASSETS 2,041,868 2,494,290

OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 157,882,514 145,233,970

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS 159,924,382 147,728,260
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Sensitivity	analysis	of	financial	assets	to	the	share	price	risk

* Equity investments with the global diversification of investments

13.4.5	 Foreign	exchange	risk

Business transactions in foreign currencies are expressed in EUR at exchange rates of the Bank 
of Slovenia published on the NLB’s web sites, effective on the date of settlement. Monetary assets 
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are translated to EUR at the 
exchange rate at that date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference 
between amortised cost in the functional currency at the beginning of the period, adjusted for effective 
interest and payments during the period, and the amortised cost in foreign currency translated at the 
exchange rate at the end of the period. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies that are measured at fair value are translated to euros at the exchange rate on the date 
that the fair value was determined. Foreign currency differences arising on translation are recognised 
in profit or loss or in equity depending on the classification of the separate non-monetary asset. 

Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument can fluctuate because of 
changes in foreign exchange rates. Foreign currency exposure arises mainly from investment activities. 
The Company manages foreign currency risk by trying to ensure the matching of investments and 
liabilities or technical provisions linked to foreign currency. The structure of investments as at 31 
December 2015 reflects the matching of investments and liabilities within the statutory limitations. 
Due to the floating of foreign currency exchange rates, the Company is exposed to currency risk in 
both liabilities and receivables, particularly those arising from reinsurance abroad. Foreign currency 
exposure arising from receivables and liabilities is reduced by ensuring currency matching of 
receivables and liabilities to the same partners.

The currency structure of invested financial assets presented below comprises all investments, 
including the financial investments of Triglav Re under reinsurance contracts with cedants.

in EUR

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014
 +100bp  -100bp  +100bp  -100bp 

Government securities -4,464,714 4,464,714 -4,826,258 4,826,258
Securities of financial institutions -1,141,554 1,141,554 -1,165,769 1,165,769

Corporate securities -835,739 835,739 -1,106,856 1,106,856

Compound securities 0 0 0 0

Other 0 0 0 0

TOTAL -6,442,007 6,442,007 -7,098,883 7,098,883

Impact on equity -6,442,007 6,442,007 -7,084,649 7,084,649

Impact on profit or loss 0 0 -14,235 14,235

in EUR

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014
+10% -10% +10% -10%

Shares in  EU 135,310 -135,310 189,260 -189,260

Shares in USA 0 0 0 0

Shares in emerging markets 68,869 -68,869 0 0

Global shares* 5 -5 60,167 -60,167

TOTAL 204,185 -204,185 249,427 -249,427

Impact on equity 204,185 -204,185 249,427 -249,427

Impact on profit or loss 0 0 0 0

in EUR

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014

Debt securities 149,523,152 140,515,709

Government securities 90,270,939 85,124,895

Securities of financial institutions 27,733,864 27,661,214

Corporate securities 31,518,349 27,729,600

Compound securities 0 0

Financial derivatives 0 0

TOTAL EXPOSED ASSETS 149,523,152 140,515,709

OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 10,401,230 7,212,551

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS 159,924,382 147,728,260

in EUR

YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014

Equity securities and investment funds 2,041,868 2,494,290

Shares in EU 1,353,127 1,892,624

Shares in USA 0 0

Shares in Asia 0 0

Shares in emerging markets 688,691 0

Global shares* 50 601,666

TOTAL EXPOSED ASSETS 2,041,868 2,494,290

OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 157,882,514 145,233,970

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS 159,924,382 147,728,260
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The currency structure of net technical provisions comprises all net technical provisions, including 
equalisation provisions.

in EUR

Currency Net technical 
provisions 2014 in % Net technical 

provisions 2013 in %

EUR 74,495,124 81.5% 74,550,930 83.6%

USD 5,570,175 6.1% 4,944,044 5.5%

KRW 2,013,079 2.2% 1,540,287 1.7%

TRY 1,535,961 1.7% 1,027,192 1.2%

INR 1,710,936 1.9% 1,187,162 1.3%

Other 6,052,806 6.6% 5,043,713 5.7%

TOTAL 91,378,081 100.0% 89,170,656 99.0%

Technical provisions 89,562,426 98.0% 87,609,801 98.2%

Equalisation 
provisions 1,815,655 2.0% 1,560,855 1.8%

12.4.6	 Credit	risk

The	currency	structure	of	net	technical	provisions	comprises	all	net	technical	provisions,	
including	equalisation	provisions

in EUR

YEAR 2015
FINANCIAL 

INVESTMENTS in %

TECHNICAL 
PROVISIONS CEDED 

TO REINSURANCE in %

EUR 146,482,101 91.6% 44,268,802 95.9%
USD 9,333,081 5.8% 870,412 1.9%

RSD 1,212 0.0% 0 0.0%
BAM 188,068 0.1% 0 0.0%
CZK 0 0.0% 41,733 0.1%
OTHER 3,919,920 2.5% 992,759 2.2%

TOTAL 159,924,382 100.0% 46,173,706 100.0%

in EUR

YEAR 2014
FINANCIAL 

INVESTMENTS in %

TECHNICAL 
PROVISIONS CEDED 

TO REINSURANCE in %

EUR 136,005,780 92.1% 48,702,232 98.4%

USD 10,648,210 7.2% 720,769 1.5%

RSD 1,224 0.0% 0 0.0%

BAM 179,496 0.1% 0 0.0%

CZK 0 0.0% 48,634 0.1%

OTHER 893,549 0.6% 595 0.0%

TOTAL 147,728,260 100.0% 49,472,230 100.0%

in EUR

Currency
Net technical 

provisions 2015 in %
Net technical 

provisions 2014 in %
EUR 77,985,583 80.1% 74,495,124 81.5%

USD 6,642,343 6.8% 5,570,175 6.1%
KRW 2,580,582 2.6% 2,013,079 2.2%

TRY 1,624,413 1.7% 1,535,961 1.7%

INR 2,464,848 2.5% 1,710,936 1.9%

Other 6,093,772 6.3% 6,052,806 6.6%
TOTAL 97,391,539 100.0% 91,378,081 100.0%

Technical provisions 95,414,529 98.0% 89,562,426 98.0%

Equalisation provisions 1,977,010 2.0% 1,815,655 2.0%
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13.4.6	 Credit	risk

The credit risk is the risk that a contractual party, i.e. debtor fails to fulfil his obligation in time and in full, 
and thus causes a financial loss to the Company. Credit risk arises in connection with investments in 
equity securities, debt securities, loans and deposits and receivables. The credit risk shall be managed 
by suitable diversification of the investment portfolio and other receivables and target credit rating.

Structure	of	assets	exposed	to	credit	risk

Credit	risk	of	debt	portfolio	(the	book	value	of	bonds	is	taken	as	the	base	value)

The Company manages its credit risk in accordance with the principle of diversification of investments. 
The highest total investment in a single financial organisation as at 31 December 2015 amounts to 
EUR 2,386,428. At the year end, the investments in foreign securities amounted to EUR 93,906,874. 
In the international markets, Triglav Re mainly invests in securities having the “BBB” rating. At the 
end of 2015, Triglav Re held investments from the PIIGS country issuers in the amount of EUR 
17,590,843 of which the government bonds accounted for EUR 11,167,053 and the rest were debt 
securities invested in the financial and corporate sectors.

Domestic securities are largely guaranteed by the Republic of Slovenia which at 31 December 
2015 held a “Baa1” rating by the Fitch rating agency. Investments in the government securities of 
the Republic of Slovenia and securities guaranteed by the Republic of Slovenia amounted to EUR 
43,042,695 at the end of 2015, which constitutes 27 percent of all Company’s financial investments.

in EUR in EUR

CREDIT RATING YEAR 2015 in % YEAR 2014 in % CREDIT RATING YEAR 2015 in % YEAR 2014 in %

AAA 31,035,233 21% 27,713,466 20% AA 268,655 3% 227,931 5%
AA 4,226,370 3% 2,556,222 2% A 4,851,106 58% 1,441,776 31%

A 17,806,751 12% 17,031,354 12% BBB 1,673,198 20% 750,066 16%
BBB 79,970,393 53% 81,752,332 58% BB 212 0% 363,431 8%
BB 8,988,926 6% 8,031,297 6% without rating 1,556,189 19% 1,925,057 41%
B 2,825,845 2% 127,302 0% TOTAL 8,349,360 100% 4,708,261 100%
without rating 4,669,635 3% 3,303,737 2%

TOTAL 149,523,152 100% 140,515,709 100%

in EUR

ASSETS YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014

Equity securities 2,041,710 1,311,878

Debt securities 149,523,152 140,515,709

Investment funds 159 1,182,412

Loans and receivables 8,349,361 4,708,260

Financial derivatives 0 0

Receivables 54,020,554 55,208,962

TOTAL EXPOSED ASSETS 213,934,936 202,927,221

in EUR in EUR

CREDIT RATING YEAR 2015 in % YEAR 2014 in % CREDIT RATING YEAR 2015 in % YEAR 2014 in %

AAA 31,035,233 21% 27,713,466 20% AA 268,655 3% 227,931 5%
AA 4,226,370 3% 2,556,222 2% A 4,851,106 58% 1,441,776 31%

A 17,806,751 12% 17,031,354 12% BBB 1,673,198 20% 750,066 16%
BBB 79,970,393 53% 81,752,332 58% BB 212 0% 363,431 8%
BB 8,988,926 6% 8,031,297 6% without rating 1,556,189 19% 1,925,057 41%
B 2,825,845 2% 127,302 0% TOTAL 8,349,360 100% 4,708,261 100%
without rating 4,669,635 3% 3,303,737 2%

TOTAL 149,523,152 100% 140,515,709 100%

in EUR

ASSETS YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014

Equity securities 2,041,710 1,311,878

Debt securities 149,523,152 140,515,709

Investment funds 159 1,182,412

Loans and receivables 8,349,361 4,708,260

Financial derivatives 0 0

Receivables 54,020,554 55,208,962

TOTAL EXPOSED ASSETS 213,934,936 202,927,221



TRIGLAV RE  Business Report 2015130

For determining the credit rating, the method of the “second-best” assessment for each security is 
taken into account, which means that between three ratings at least, the second best is used. In the 
event that there are only two credit assessments for a single issuer, the worse of the two is used, but 
if there is only one credit rating, that rating shall apply. The table shows that the Company also owns 
debt securities without a credit rating, and they are mostly issued by the Slovenian financial and 
corporate sector. The largest portion of bonds with the credit rating “BBB” represents the Slovenian 
government bonds.

Receivables and liabilities are also exposed to the credit risk. Credit risk considerably reduces the 
characteristic of reinsurance contracts, and the Company manages this risk by mutual offset of 
receivables and liabilities relating to the same Reinsurer (offset of receivables for premiums and liabilities 
for claims and commission payable in inwards reinsurance, and offset of receivables for claims and 
commission and liabilities for premiums payable in outwards reinsurance). The table below shows 
the age structure of offsetting receivables and liabilities from the outward and inward transactions, 
which shows the actual dynamics of payments and collecting of liabilities and receivables.

in EUR in EUR

CREDIT RATING YEAR 2015 in % YEAR 2014 in % CREDIT RATING YEAR 2015 in % YEAR 2014 in %

AAA 31,035,233 21% 27,713,466 20% AA 268,655 3% 227,931 5%
AA 4,226,370 3% 2,556,222 2% A 4,851,106 58% 1,441,776 31%

A 17,806,751 12% 17,031,354 12% BBB 1,673,198 20% 750,066 16%
BBB 79,970,393 53% 81,752,332 58% BB 212 0% 363,431 8%
BB 8,988,926 6% 8,031,297 6% without rating 1,556,189 19% 1,925,057 41%
B 2,825,845 2% 127,302 0% TOTAL 8,349,360 100% 4,708,261 100%
without rating 4,669,635 3% 3,303,737 2%

TOTAL 149,523,152 100% 140,515,709 100%

in EUR

ASSETS YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014

Equity securities 2,041,710 1,311,878

Debt securities 149,523,152 140,515,709

Investment funds 159 1,182,412

Loans and receivables 8,349,361 4,708,260

Financial derivatives 0 0

Receivables 54,020,554 55,208,962

TOTAL EXPOSED ASSETS 213,934,936 202,927,221
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Maturity	structure	of	receivables	and	liabilities	based	on	the	inward/outward	business

Maturity	structure	of	receivables

in EUR

YEAR 2015
NOT MATURED 

YET
MATURITY UP 
TO 180 DAYS

MATURITY OVER 
180 DAYS TOTAL

Receivables from co-insurance and reinsurance 40,670,023 5,274,299 8,070,570 54,014,892

- receivables for premium from reinsurance assumed 31,321,885 4,501,041 6,627,293 42,450,219

- receivables for Reinsurers' shares in claims 7,232,112 699,418 1,439,424 9,370,954

- other receivables from co-insurance and reinsurance 2,116,026 73,840 3,853 2,193,719

Other receivables 5,661 0 0 5,661

TOTAL 40,675,684 5,274,299 8,070,570 54,020,553

in EUR

YEAR 2014
NOT MATURED 

YET
MATURITY UP 
TO 180 DAYS

MATURITY OVER 
180 DAYS TOTAL

Receivables from co-insurance and reinsurance 32,991,213 5,259,336 16,954,708 55,205,257

- receivables for premium from reinsurance assumed 28,754,142 4,404,995 15,426,115 48,585,251

- receivables for Reinsurers' shares in claims 2,020,392 670,335 1,513,540 4,204,267

- other receivables from co-insurance and reinsurance 2,216,679 184,007 15,053 2,415,739

Other receivables 3,705 0 0 3,705

TOTAL 32,994,918 5,259,336 16,954,708 55,208,962

in EUR

YEAR 2015
NOT MATURED 

YET
MATURITY UP 
TO 180 DAYS

MATURITY OVER 
180 DAYS TOTAL

Inward operations 10,065,060 1,237,343 -453,840 10,848,564

- receivables for premium from reinsurance assumed 31,321,885 4,501,041 6,627,293 42,450,219

- liabilities to Reinsurers for share in claims -14,040,072 -2,185,611 -5,753,539 -21,979,221

- other liabilities from co-insurance and reinsurance -7,216,753 -1,078,087 -1,327,594 -9,622,434

Outward operations 1,149,291 68,521 1,437,865 2,655,676

   - liabilities to retrocession premium -8,198,847 -704,737 -5,412 -8,908,997

- receivables for Reinsurers' share in claims 7,232,112 699,418 1,439,424 9,370,954

- other receivables from coinsurance and reinsurance 2,116,026 73,840 3,853 2,193,719

TOTAL 11,214,351 1,305,864 984,025 13,504,240

in EUR

YEAR 2014
NOT MATURED 

YET
MATURITY UP 
TO 180 DAYS

MATURITY OVER 
180 DAYS TOTAL

Inward operations 14,421,789 1,087,516 189,866 15,699,171

- receivables for premium from reinsurance assumed 28,754,142 4,404,995 15,426,115 48,585,251

- liabilities to Reinsurers for share in claims -7,155,712 -1,995,793 -10,871,336 -20,022,840

- other liabilities from coinsurance and reinsurance -7,176,642 -1,321,685 -4,364,913 -12,863,240

Outward operations -4,738,185 111,705 1,494,917 -3,131,563

   - liabilities to retrocession premium -8,975,256 -742,636 -33,677 -9,751,569

- receivables for Reinsurers' share in claims 2,020,392 670,335 1,513,540 4,204,267

- other receivables from coinsurance and reinsurance 2,216,679 184,007 15,053 2,415,739

TOTAL 9,683,604 1,199,222 1,684,783 12,567,608

in EUR

YEAR 2015
NOT MATURED 

YET
MATURITY UP 
TO 180 DAYS

MATURITY OVER 
180 DAYS TOTAL

Receivables from co-insurance and reinsurance 40,670,023 5,274,299 8,070,570 54,014,892

- receivables for premium from reinsurance assumed 31,321,885 4,501,041 6,627,293 42,450,219

- receivables for Reinsurers' shares in claims 7,232,112 699,418 1,439,424 9,370,954

- other receivables from co-insurance and reinsurance 2,116,026 73,840 3,853 2,193,719

Other receivables 5,661 0 0 5,661

TOTAL 40,675,684 5,274,299 8,070,570 54,020,553

in EUR

YEAR 2014
NOT MATURED 

YET
MATURITY UP 
TO 180 DAYS

MATURITY OVER 
180 DAYS TOTAL

Receivables from co-insurance and reinsurance 32,991,213 5,259,336 16,954,708 55,205,257

- receivables for premium from reinsurance assumed 28,754,142 4,404,995 15,426,115 48,585,251

- receivables for Reinsurers' shares in claims 2,020,392 670,335 1,513,540 4,204,267

- other receivables from co-insurance and reinsurance 2,216,679 184,007 15,053 2,415,739

Other receivables 3,705 0 0 3,705

TOTAL 32,994,918 5,259,336 16,954,708 55,208,962

in EUR

YEAR 2015
NOT MATURED 

YET
MATURITY UP 
TO 180 DAYS

MATURITY OVER 
180 DAYS TOTAL

Inward operations 10,065,060 1,237,343 -453,840 10,848,564

- receivables for premium from reinsurance assumed 31,321,885 4,501,041 6,627,293 42,450,219

- liabilities to Reinsurers for share in claims -14,040,072 -2,185,611 -5,753,539 -21,979,221

- other liabilities from co-insurance and reinsurance -7,216,753 -1,078,087 -1,327,594 -9,622,434

Outward operations 1,149,291 68,521 1,437,865 2,655,676

   - liabilities to retrocession premium -8,198,847 -704,737 -5,412 -8,908,997

- receivables for Reinsurers' share in claims 7,232,112 699,418 1,439,424 9,370,954

- other receivables from coinsurance and reinsurance 2,116,026 73,840 3,853 2,193,719

TOTAL 11,214,351 1,305,864 984,025 13,504,240

in EUR

YEAR 2014
NOT MATURED 

YET
MATURITY UP 
TO 180 DAYS

MATURITY OVER 
180 DAYS TOTAL

Inward operations 14,421,789 1,087,516 189,866 15,699,171

- receivables for premium from reinsurance assumed 28,754,142 4,404,995 15,426,115 48,585,251

- liabilities to Reinsurers for share in claims -7,155,712 -1,995,793 -10,871,336 -20,022,840

- other liabilities from coinsurance and reinsurance -7,176,642 -1,321,685 -4,364,913 -12,863,240

Outward operations -4,738,185 111,705 1,494,917 -3,131,563

   - liabilities to retrocession premium -8,975,256 -742,636 -33,677 -9,751,569

- receivables for Reinsurers' share in claims 2,020,392 670,335 1,513,540 4,204,267

- other receivables from coinsurance and reinsurance 2,216,679 184,007 15,053 2,415,739

TOTAL 9,683,604 1,199,222 1,684,783 12,567,608
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in EUR

Reinsurer's Credit Rating (S&P's) YEAR 2015 YEAR 2014

AAA 0 0

AA 19,553,592 20,409,723

A 24,659,932 25,607,466

BBB 289,096 937,287

BB 83,831 0

without rating 1,587,255 2,517,754

TOTAL 46,173,706 49,472,230

The risks retroceded to other Reinsurers/Retrocessionaires also include the credit risk that occurs if 
a Reinsurer/Retrocessionaire fails to meet his contractual obligations in full and in time. To mitigate 
the risk in the case that contracting partners would fail to pay the due amounts, the Company 
established business and financial standards for the Reinsurers, including the ratings by major rating 
agencies and considering current market information. The Company also monitors the financial 
conditions of the Reinsurers and, as a rule, enters into retrocession reinsurance contracts only with 
the Reinsurers rated at least “A -” for liability reinsurance, and with the Reinsurers rated “BBB +” for 
other reinsurance classes.

The table below shows the structure of retroceded technical provisions by the Retrocedants’ credit 
rating as at 31 December 2015, compared to the preceding year.

13.5	 Significant	events	after	the	accounting	period

There were no significant events after the reporting date that could have a material impact on the 
financial statements of the Company.
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